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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK
EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE
"STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate
small and mid-sized companies to which a higher investment risk
may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock
Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of the potential
risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision
to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and
mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM
may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities
traded on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and no assurance
is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded
on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange
take no responsibility for the contents of this report, make no
representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly
disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or
in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of F8 Enterprises
(Holdings) Group Limited (the “Company”) collectively and individually
accept full responsibilities, includes particulars given in compliance
with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM (the “"GEM
Listing Rules”) of the Stock Exchange for the purpose of giving
information with regard to the Company and its subsidiaries (together
the “Group”). The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries,
confirm that, to the best of their knowledge and belief, the information
contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material
respects and not misleading or deceptive, there are no other matters
the omission of which would make any statement herein or this report
misleading.
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Corporate Information
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Chairman’s Statement
FEHRESE

To our Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of Directors (the “Board”) of F8 Enterprises
(Holdings) Group Limited (the “Company”), | am pleased to present
the annual audited financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries (together referred to as the “"Group”) for the year ended
31 March 2025 (the “"Reporting Period”).

The Group's revenue increased by approximately 19.2% from
approximately HK$290.0 million for the year ended 31 March 2024 to
approximately HK$345.8 million for the year ended 31 March 2025. The
Group recorded a net loss of approximately HK$0.8 million for the year
ended 31 March 2025, as compared with a net loss of approximately
HK$8.6 million for the year ended 31 March 2024, representing
decrease in net loss of approximately HK$7.8 million. The decrease in
net loss of the Group was mainly attributable to (i) increase in sale and
transportation of diesel oil business; (ii) reversal of allowance for
expected credit loss on financial assets; (iii) decrease in other losses;
and (iv) decrease in finance costs for the year ended 31 March 2025.
The effect was partially offset by decrease in other income. The
increase in gross profit was mainly due to increase in revenue for the
year ended 31 March 2025.

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had a fleet of eight diesel tank wagons
of various capacity, a marine oil barge, a vessel and a tug to meet
customers’ requirement.

Besides, the Group had carried out marketing and promotional
activities and negotiated with potential customers to secure purchase
orders for marine diesel oil.

In the first quarter of 2025, the Hong Kong economy experienced solid
growth, primarily driven by significant increases in exports of goods
and services, along with a return to moderate growth in overall
investment expenditure. This leads us to be optimistic about the
market trend for diesel oil and marine diesel oil sales in Hong Kong.
Consequently, the average selling prices and sales volumes of
petroleum products showed an upward trend, resulting in an overall
increase in the Group's total turnover.
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Chairman’s Statement

TEHRES

Looking ahead, we are optimistic about the market trend for the sale
of diesel oil and marine diesel oil in Hong Kong. This optimism is
primarily due to the stable and high levels of investment in public
infrastructure projects, such as the railway network expansion and
marine construction initiatives like the Hong Kong International
Airport’s third runway project. However, the Directors will continue to
closely monitor and manage any associated risks. To this end, the
Group will deploy more resources towards talent recruitment and
strengthening its business development and marketing strategy for the
diesel oil segment. Furthermore, the Group will proactively seek out
potential business opportunities that can broaden its sources of
income and enhance value for its Shareholders.

The Board would like to extend its sincere thanks to our shareholders
(the “Shareholders”), business partners and customers for their utmost
support to the Group. We would also like to take this opportunity to
thank all management members and staff for their hard work and
dedication throughout the year.

FONG Chun Man
Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 June 2025
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWR DN

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group principally carries on the business of sale and transportation
of diesel oil and related products and other products in Hong Kong.
The Group also supplies marine diesel oil used for construction vessels
and lubricant oil used for construction machinery and vehicles. Most
of the Group's customers are construction companies which require
diesel oil to operate their construction machinery and vehicles. The
Group had a fleet of eight diesel tank wagons of various capacity, a
marine oil barge, a vessel and a tug as at 31 March 2025.

The Group's strategic objective is to strengthen its established market
position in the Hong Kong diesel oil and marine diesel oil industry. This
will enable the Group to generate profits and investment returns for
the Company'’s shareholders, as well as drive sustainable growth in the
future. To achieve this objective, the Group will deploy more resources
towards talent recruitment and strengthening its business development
and marketing strategy for the diesel oil segment.

Sale and transportation of diesel oil and related products
business

The Group’s revenue increased by approximately 19.2% from
approximately HK$290.0 million for the year ended 31 March 2024 to
approximately HK$345.8 million for the year ended 31 March 2025, with
the revenue from the sale of diesel oil, marine diesel oil and lubricant
oil representing approximately 98.5%, 1.0% and 0.5% of the Group's
total revenue, respectively.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWR DN

BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

The Group recorded a net loss of approximately HK$0.8 million
for the year ended 31 March 2025, as compared with a net loss of
approximately HK$8.6 million for the year ended 31 March 2024,
representing decrease in net loss of approximately HK$7.8 million.
The decrease in net loss of the Group was mainly attributable to (i)
increase in sale and transportation of diesel oil business; (ii) reversal of
allowance for expected credit loss on financial assets; (iii) decrease in
other losses; and (iv) decrease in finance costs for the year ended 31
March 2025. The effect was partially offset by decrease in other income.
The increase in gross profit was mainly due to increase in revenue for
the year ended 31 March 2025.

INDUSTRY REVIEW AND PROSPECTS

In the first quarter of 2025, the Hong Kong economy experienced
solid growth, primarily driven by significant increases in exports
of goods and services, along with a return to moderate growth in
overall investment expenditure. This leads us to be optimistic about
the market trend for diesel oil and marine diesel oil sales in Hong
Kong. Consequently, the average selling prices and sales volumes of
petroleum products showed an upward trend, resulting in an overall
increase in the Group's total turnover.

Looking ahead, we are optimistic about the market trend for the
sale of diesel oil and marine diesel oil in Hong Kong. This optimism
is primarily due to the stable and high levels of investment in public
infrastructure projects, such as the railway network expansion and
marine construction initiatives like the Hong Kong International
Airport’s third runway project. However, the Directors will continue
to closely monitor and manage any associated risks. To this end, the
Group will deploy more resources towards talent recruitment and
strengthening its business development and marketing strategy for
the diesel oil segment. Furthermore, the Group will proactively seek
out potential business opportunities that can broaden its sources of
income and enhance value for its Shareholders.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWR DN

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The Group's revenue increased by approximately HK$55.8 million or
approximately 19.2% from approximately HK$290.0 million for the year
ended 31 March 2024 to approximately HK$345.8 million for the year
ended 31 March 2025.

For the year ended 31 March 2025, revenue from the sale of diesel
oil, marine diesel oil and lubricant oil amounted to approximately
HK$340.6 million, HK$3.4 million and HK$1.8 million, representing
approximately 98.5%, 1.0% and 0.5%, respectively, of the Group's total
revenue for the year ended 31 March 2025. For the year ended 31
March 2024, the revenue from the sale of diesel oil, marine diesel oil
and lubricant oil accounted for approximately HK$284.9 million, HK$3.7
million and HK$1.4 million, representing approximately 98.2%, 1.3%
and 0.5%, respectively, of the Group’s total revenue for the year ended
31 March 2024.

The increase in the Group's revenue was primarily due to increase
in demand from construction customers and logistic customers and
higher volume sold during the year ended 31 March 2025.

Cost of sales

Cost of the sale and transportation of diesel oil and related products
business primarily consists of diesel oil costs, marine diesel oil costs,
lubricant oil costs, direct labour costs and depreciation. The purchase
cost for the diesel oil, marine diesel oil costs and lubricant oil costs
depends on the domestic purchase price offered by the Group's oil
suppliers, with reference to the price indices such as Europe Brent spot
crude price. For the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group's cost of
sales was approximately HK$328.4 million, representing an increase of
approximately 19.1% from approximately HK$275.7 million for the year
ended 31 March 2024, which was in line with the increase in revenue.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

The gross profit represented the Group's revenue less cost of sales.
The Group's gross profit increased by approximately HK$3.1 million
from approximately HK$14.3 million for the year ended 31 March 2024
to approximately HK$17.4 million for the year ended 31 March 2025.
The Group's gross profit margins were stable at 4.9% and 5.0% for the
years ended 31 March 2024 and 2025, respectively.
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Management Discussion
EEENWR DN

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Other income and other gains or losses

Other income decreased from approximately HK$5.5 million for the
year ended 31 March 2024 to approximately HK$2.0 million for the year
ended 31 March 2025. The decrease in other income was mainly due to
the decrease in transportation services fee income and rental income
from diesel vehicle.

The Group recognized a net loss on other gains or losses of
approximately HK$2.6 million for the year ended 31 March 2025, as
compared with a net loss of approximately HK$5.3 million for the year
ended 31 March 2024, which was mainly due to decrease in loss arising
on change in fair value on investment property during the year ended
31 March 2025.

Administration expenses

Administrative expenses were stable at approximately HK$14.3 million
and HK$14.9 million for the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2025,
respectively.

Other operating expenses

Other operating expenses decreased from approximately HK$5.3
million for the year ended 31 March 2024 to approximately HK$4.0
million for the year ended 31 March 2025. The decrease in other
operating expenses was mainly due to the decrease in running
expenses of motor vehicle and marine barge.

Loss for the year

As a result of the foregoing, the Group recognised a loss of
approximately HK$0.8 million for the year ended 31 March 2025, as
compared with a net loss of approximately HK$8.6 million for the
year ended 31 March 2024. The Group recorded a negative net profit
margin of approximately 0.2% for the year ended 31 March 2025 as
compared to negative net profit margin of approximately 3.0% for the
year ended 31 March 2024. The decrease in net loss and negative net
profit margin for the year ended 31 March 2025 was mainly due to ()
increase in sale and transportation of diesel oil business; (ii) reversal of
allowance for expected credit loss on financial assets; (iii) decrease in
other losses; and (iv) decrease in finance costs. The effect was partially
offset by decrease in other income for the year ended 31 March 2025.

and Analysis
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWR DN

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Financial Resources and Liquidity

The Group finances its operations through cash generated from
operating activities and interest-bearing bank borrowings. The Group
recorded net current assets of approximately HK$46.7 million as at 31
March 2025 (as at 31 March 2024: approximately HK$43.8 million).

As at 31 March 2025, the Group's current assets amounted to
approximately HK$92.3 million (as at 31 March 2024: approximately
HK$114.9 million) and the Group’s current liabilities amounted to
approximately HK$45.6 million (as at 31 March 2024: approximately
HK$71.1 million). Current ratio was approximately 2.0 as at 31 March
2025 (as at 31 March 2024: approximately 1.6). Current ratio is
calculated based on total current assets as at the year ended date
divided by total current liabilities as at the year ended date.

GEARING RATIO

As at 31 March 2025, the interest-bearing borrowing facilities of the
Group amounted to approximately HK$14.6 million (as at 31 March
2024: HK$37.2 million) and approximately HK$28.5 million (as at 31
March 2024: HK$17.8 million) of the revolving borrowing facilities
available to the Group was unutilised.

The bank and other borrowings were denominated in Hong Kong
dollars at interest rates of the range from 3.0% to 6.75% per annum
for the year ended 31 March 2025 (as at 31 March 2024: ranging from
2.00% to 7.38% per annum). As at 31 March 2025, the bank and other
borrowings of the Group were secured by a corporate guarantee, fixed
deposits, investment property and personal guarantee from Mr. Fong
Chun Man.

Gearing ratio was approximately 16.0% as at 31 March 2025 which was
calculated based on the total debt at the end of the year divided by
total equity at the end of the year (as at 31 March 2024: 40.6%).
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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CAPITAL STRUCTURE

For the year ended 31 March 2025, the capital structure of the Group
consisted of equity attributable to the owners of the Company of
approximately HK$90.7 million (2024: approximately HK$91.7 million).
The share capital of the Group only comprises of ordinary shares.

There has been no material change in the share capital structure of the
Company during the year ended 31 March 2025.

FOREIGN CURRENCY EXPOSURE RISKS

The Group operates mainly in Hong Kong and is exposed to foreign
exchange risk arising from various currency exposures, primarily
with respect to the distribution of lubricant oil transactions settled
in Renminbi. Foreign exchange risk arises when future commercial
transactions, recognised assets and liabilities are denominated in a
currency that is not the group entities’ functional currency. The Group
however did not engage in any derivatives agreements and did not
commit to any financial instrument to hedge its foreign exchange
exposure during the year ended 31 March 2025.

N

HZE2025F3A3MBULFE  AEBHER
EEBEALNAEAEAENERARNTA
BT (2024 F : KN TEEBTT) c AEED
BAEBE LR -

HE2025F3A3THIEFE  AA A A&
BT E KEE) -

S BEE R B

AEBEFEEEBLE VTEARSESER
B FTol fRAINERE EBEUARBELEE
MEBHIERG BEARBERS  C#
REERBEBEUIEEEEREEEER
Blg HIRINER B - AT - &L= 2025F 3 A
NNALEFE  AEBEYRPREMITETR
e RBEEET A AS B T A R INER RS -

Fe % (R EEERAR/ —E-_RFFRK 11



Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWR DN

TREASURY POLICIES

The Group has adopted a prudent financial management approach
towards its treasury policies and thus maintained a healthy liquidity
position throughout the year ended 31 March 2025. The Group
strives to reduce exposure to credit risk by performing ongoing credit
assessments and evaluations of the financial status of its customers. To
manage liquidity risk, the Board closely monitors the Group's liquidity
position to ensure that the liquidity structure of the Group's assets,
liabilities and other commitments can meet its funding requirements
from time to time.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

The Group did not have significant investments held, material
acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures
during the year ended 31 March 2025.

FINANCIAL ASSETS THROUGH PROFIT AND
LOSS

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had approximately HK$5.6 million of
key management personnel life insurance with an insurance company
(2024: approximately HK$5.4 million).

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT
LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2025, save as disclosed below in the section headed
"Use of Unutilised Proceeds From the Listing” and elsewhere in this
report, the Group did not have any other material capital commitments
or any material contingent liabilities.

DIVIDENDS

The Directors do not recommend a payment of any dividend for the
year ended 31 March 2025 (2024: Nil).
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PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 March 2025, the Group’s pledged bank deposits in the amount
of approximately HK$6.2 million (as at 31 March 2024: approximately
HK$6.1 million), investment property in the amount of approximately
HK$12.0 million (as at 31 March 2024: HK$14.6 million), life insurance
policy in the amount of HK$4.7 million (as at 31 March 2024:
approximately HK$4.6 million), oil barges in the amount of HK$9.0
million (as at 31 March 2024: approximately HK$10.8 million) and motor
vehicles in the amount of Nil (as at 31 March 2024: approximately
HK$0.2 million) were pledged as security for the Group’s banking
facilities.

COMPARISON OF IMPLEMENTATION PLANS
FOR BUSINESS STRATEGIES WITH ACTUAL
IMPLEMENTATION PROGRESS

The following is a comparison of the Group's implementation plans
for its business strategies up to 31 March 2025 as set out in the section
headed "Future Plans and Use of Proceeds” in the prospectus of the
Company dated 29 March 2017 (the “Prospectus”) with the Group
actual implementation progress:

Implementation plan
Business strategy
2017 4HA1HZE2025%3H31H

3 B HEAT 5T B

from 1 April 2017 to 31 March 2025

EEERR

R2025F3H3NE  AEBEWEEKFRITHE
RE62E BB (FR2024F3A318 : #16.1
BEBT) KBEMEDH120BEE T (R
20243 A31H : 4146 BBEBT) - ASR
BATABEBITT (R2024F3A310 - 89468
B8 SEHEBMA0E BB T (52024
F3A318 :H108BEEL) RAEAZT (R
20243 A31H 028 & Bm) B E
LMEAREBIRITRIEMNIKER -

EE R HEAT
E R

g
(B

BB HEITE

i

TR AKNLT HEA2017E38298 9B K
EZR((BRERDIAKERMAEHERE]
— ST A E B H E2025F 3831 B ERK
RIS TR E A S B ERHITEEANLE

Actual implementation
progress up to 31 March 2025
BHZE2025%3A318K
BERETEE

Expansion and enhancement Purchase three new diesel tank

of our fleet of diesel tank wagons
wagons J Replace three existing diesel tank
wagons
. Continue to evaluate the

effectiveness and operating
efficiency of new diesel tank

J Three new diesel tank wagons had
been purchased and two existing
diesel tank wagons had been
replaced. The delivery of the rest
of new diesel tank wagon will be
completed at the end of March
2026.

17 M Bl E S AT T EE X

wagons and assess our need for
additional diesel tank wagons in
view of our business development
BE - sOmiTES
BR=BHRANRBTEE
BT A SOmM T EN AR R
BITAE - WA PR E R
REEZHATEINTR

J The effectiveness and operating

efficiency of new diesel tank
wagons has been closely evaluated.
EBE=AHOnirEERERK
MERIR A S AT IE S - R T BT
S A7 18 G 0 2026 5F 3 B IE ST
LA o

B &I RF A HTSOm i B A A At
NOEITRR -
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COMPARISON OF IMPLEMENTATION PLANS
FOR BUSINESS STRATEGIES WITH ACTUAL

IMPLEMENTATION PROGRESS (Continued)

Implementation plan

Business strategy

from 1 April 2017 to 31 March 2025

2017418 ZE2025%3H31H

3

I 73t B

EZ
B

L8 (&)

i
EI‘E

TR EBRIETE

g

Actual implementation
progress up to 31 March 2025
HEZE20253A31HW
BERETEE

Development and expansion e
of our marine bunkering
business

R MBS R RS .

Upgrading our information o
technology and systems

RABMBERE RS .

Commence trial and full operation
of the marine diesel oil barge

Carry out marketing and promotional
activities and negotiate with potential
customers to secure purchase orders
for marine diesel oil

Evaluate the effectiveness and
operating efficiency of the marine
diesel oil barge

5 & A PR S B A ) 2 T SUE AT

HEITTSHERSELE  WEE
ERFETER NSRS hD
BRI E

AT fr PR SR B A Y B U R E AT
Purchase and upgrade new

office administrative information
technology systems

Continue to review and maintain
the performance of the information
technology systems
BEREFAHAEITBEENE
RES

BEFEMRESEARRREGNE
iz}
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The Group had obtained all the
licences and permits and commenced
trial operation of the marine diesel ol
barge in April 2018 and commenced
full operation in July 2018.

The Group had carried out marketing
and promotional activities and
negotiated with potential customers
to secure purchase orders for marine
diesel oil.

The effectiveness and operating
efficiency of the marine diesel oil
barge had been evaluated from
time to time.
REBEIISAAE MR EEFAE
I 722018 4F 4 7 5 = i A 5tk B A
MEEITIE R 2018F7 ARKB2E
BT
REBEETTSHERSEE
B WEEBERFPETERMNES
fi RSV ERIBAT & -

B NI ATl e AR S0 B 0 B R
MABITRE -

Minor upgrade of information
technology systems had been
done. The Group was still in
negotiation with the potential
suppliers on the requirements

and specification of the new

office administrative information
technology systems.

The Group closely monitors and
maintains the performance of the
information technology systems.
ETEKE MR RARRETR
REBIBF PR EITHE AR
R BRI B RS
TTRER ©
REBTY G M ERFEARRR
BHIRIR o
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COMPARISON OF IMPLEMENTATION PLANS
FOR BUSINESS STRATEGIES WITH ACTUAL

IMPLEMENTATION PROGRESS (Continued)

Implementation plan

Business strategy

from 1 April 2017 to 31 March 2025

2017418 ZE2025%3H31H

3

I 73t B

R RBEHET

ENLL& 4w

I'

af BB BB HEITE

Actual implementation
progress up to 31 March 2025
HEZE20253A31HW
BERETEE

Strengthening our manpower ~ ®

msg I AF .

Recruit three drivers and three
logistics assistants to strengthen
our workforce required for our fleet
of diesel tank wagons

Recruit one safety supervisor to
enhance our occupational safety
management

Recruit (i) seafarers including two
coxswains, two technical operators,
four sailors, (i) one administration
staff, (iii) one operation manager
and (iv) one independent
consultant to cope with our marine
bunkering business

Evaluate the performance of the
newly recruited staff and assess our
need to recruit additional staff in
view of our business development
Provide training to our existing

and newly recruited staff and/or
sponsor our staff to attend training
courses on occupational health and

safety

EE AR R =R YRENE - N
MBI R BB HEKMEHA
qE

EE R RET NG BER
eI
ARRAE L HEBMEENE

8 BREMANRTF - MARIiigE
8 WAKTF () —BITBAR
(i) —RRIELE  K(v—RBBL
Fam

AHEFT BB THRER - WA
PMREXGERYBREEZETH
RIRAE P AB B THRHEE
R/HEHET2MBEREERY
2HFIIRE

One logistics assistant was hired, it
is expected that the rest of staff will
be hired around March 2026.

Safety supervisor was hired through
job reallocation.

The Group contracted with a
service company to operate the
marine bunkering business.

The Group evaluates and assesses
the performance of our manpower
continuously so as to facilitate the
Group's business development.
Training courses and on-the-job
training have been provided to
staff.
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T 2026 5 3 A BTEHRES ©
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USE OF UNUTILISED PROCEEDS FROM THE
LISTING

As disclosed in the last year annual report of the Company issued on
23 June 2023, the actual net proceeds (the “Net Proceeds”) from
the share offer (after deduction of the underwriting commission and
listing related expenses) (the “Share Offer”) were approximately
HK$45.1 million, which was less than the estimated Net Proceeds
of approximately HK$50.9 million as set out in the prospectus (the
"Prospectus”) and the allotment results announcement of the
Company dated 11 April 2017.

Set out below is the actual use of the Net Proceeds up to 31 March
2025:

ABRAETHAERERR

BN A A AR 2023F 6 A 23 B T EFHE
WMATHE  BMHOBEERMEHREFE (A
BREFHE]) (KK eEfAek ETHEEA
TE)((ROBBEDHEISIEEET  BR
BRERZ((BRER] EAAE A AE2017
FLAVMEHMEEERAMATSEHTBER
TEFREEHS09AEBTT

VAN &1 51 B % 20254 3 A 31 H 8 P 15 58 %
BENERAR

Expected
Actual use Unused timeframe for
Approximate of Net total Net the remaining
Planned use percentage of Proceedsup Proceeds up utilising
of total Net total Net to 31 March to 31 March net proceeds
Proceeds Proceeds 2025 2025 (Note 6)
BEE2025F
BEZ2025% 3A31HK MNeTHA
BB @S 3A31HM tef K8 PR FERERE
HIERE NEFE FENRRE BRE RMRER
GtEAR BRESL ERAZ MIRFE (KizEo6)
HK$ million HK$ million  HK$ million
BB % EEBT  EEER
Purchase of diesel tank wagons BELMRES 7.8 17.3% 50 28 By 31 March 2026
(Note 1) (M) M2026%3/31 A
Z Bl
Purchase of marine diesel oil barge & & fis FE 5 i Bl 14.0 31.0% 14.0 - -
Further strengthen our manpower ~ #E—F B AF 6.1 13.5% 6.1 - -
Upgrade of our information RAGAMERZSR 36 8.0% 1.1 25 By 31 March 2026
technology systems (Note 2) (Fi5E2) 202653 A31H
Z Bl
Working capital necessary for the BENEAFEER 9.1 20.2% 9.1 -
operation of the new diesel tank B EBHRED
wagons and marine bunkering HEES
business
Working capital LEER 45 10.0% 45 -
Total &t 45.1 100.0% 398 5.3
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USE OF UNUTILISED PROCEEDS FROM THE
LISTING (Continued)

Notes:

1 Three new diesel tank wagons had been purchased and two existing diesel tank
wagons had been replaced up to 31 March 2025.

2 The Group was still in negotiation with the potential suppliers on the requirements
and specification of the new office administrative information technology systems.

3 The expected timeline for utilising the remaining proceeds is based on the best
estimation of the future market condition made by the Group. It will be subject to
change based on current and future development of market conditions.

Save as disclosed above, the Group will apply the net proceeds
received from the Share Offer in the manners consistent with the
proposed applications set out in the section headed “Future Plans
and Use of Proceeds” in the Prospectus. The implantation plans for
business strategies and use of net proceeds as stated in the Prospectus
were based on the best estimation and assumption of future market
conditions made by the Group at the time of preparing the Prospectus.
The Group will continue to implement its business strategies and apply
the net proceeds based on the actual development of the Group's
business and industry, as well as market conditions. In addition, in
view of the situation of the recent Hong Kong economy situation,
the Directors consider that it was not a good timing to expand our
business by acquiring diesel tank wagons and diesel oil barge and
upgrade of our information technology systems during the year ended
31 March 2025. Accordingly, the unutilised Net Proceeds could not be
fully utilised during the year ended 31 March 2025. The Group intends
to utilise the unutilised Net Proceeds as soon as practicable by 31
March 2026.
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EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had a total of 26 employees (as
at 31 March 2024: 28 employees) including the Directors. The
remuneration package the Group offered to the employees
includes salary, bonuses and other cash subsidies. In general, the
Group determines employees’ salaries based on each employee’s
qualifications, position and seniority. The Group has designed an
annual review system to assess the performance of our employees,
which forms the basis of the Group’s decisions with respect to salary
raises, bonuses and promotions. For the year ended 31 March 2025,
total staff costs amounted to approximately HK$12.1 million (year
ended 31 March 2024: approximately HK$11.0 million).

The Remuneration Policy of Directors

Quality and committed staff are valuable assets contributing to the
Group's success. To ensure the ability to attract and retain talents, the
Group’s remuneration policy of Directors is built upon the principles
of providing equitable and market-competitive remuneration package
that support the performance culture and enable the achievement of
strategic business goals. The Group's remuneration policy of Directors
is, therefore, aiming at providing competitive but not excessive
remuneration package to the Directors.

The Directors’ remuneration comprises fixed salary or service fee
and variable components (such as bonus and share options), which is
benchmarked against companies of comparable business or scale with
reference to a mix of factors such as the prevailing market condition,
the Company’s performance and the qualifications, skills, experience
and educational background of the Directors.

The Directors’ remuneration is reviewed annually and are subject to
shareholders’ approval.

The Remuneration Policy of Employees

In order to attract and retain high quality staff and to enable smooth
operations within the Group, the remuneration policy and package of
the Group's employees are periodically reviewed. Employees’ salary
and relevant benefits are determined on the basis of performance,
qualification, experience, positions and the Group's business
performance.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed in note 39 to the consolidated financial statements
of this report, the Directors are not aware of any significant event
requiring disclosure that has taken place subsequent to the date of this
report.
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Corporate Governance Report
TEERKE

CORPORATE CULTURE AND STRATEGY

Corporate strategy defines the Group’s long-term goals, while
corporate culture drives the behaviors and decisions that enable their
achievement. For a company engaged in the sale and transportation
of diesel oil and related products in Hong Kong, a strong culture is
essential to ensure safety, reliability, and operational excellence.

The Group’s mission is to deliver safe, efficient, and dependable
products and services while maintaining high standards of
environmental responsibility and customer service. To realize this, the
Board promotes the following core cultural values:

Safety First: A proactive safety culture is embedded across all
operations, supported by rigorous protocols, continuous training, and
risk management.

Operational Excellence: The Group encourages innovation and
efficiency in logistics, quality control, and customer service, ensuring
cost-effective and reliable delivery.

Customer Commitment: The Group prioritizes long-term relationships
through consistent service and clear communication.

These values are implemented through leadership engagement,
structured training, and performance metrics. Progress is assessed
through key indicators such as incident rates, delivery efficiency, and
client satisfaction. Regular reviews by the Board ensure alignment with
strategic goals and continuous improvement.

The Board believes that these core cultural values are aligned with the
Group's vision, fostering resilience in a dynamic market, and are the
cornerstones of the Group's sustainable growth.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICE

The Board is committed to establish and ensure high standards
of corporate governance and adopt sound corporate governance
practices so as to achieve effective accountability. The Company’s
corporate governance practices are based on the Corporate
Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report (the “CG
Code") as set out in Appendix C1 to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”).
The Directors strongly believe that reasonable and sound corporate
governance practices are essential for the growth of the Group and for
safeguarding and enhancing shareholders’ interests.

The Directors consider that the Company has complied with all the
applicable code provisions set out in the CG Code.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The key responsibilities of the Board include formulation of the
Group's overall strategies, the setting of management targets and
supervision of management performance. The management is
delegated with the authority and responsibility by the Board for the
management and administration of the Group. In addition, the Board
has also delegated various responsibilities to the board committees of
the Company. All the board committees of the Company are provided
with sufficient resources to perform their duties. Further details of the
board committees of the Company are set out below in this report.

The Board is entrusted with the overall responsibility for promoting the
success of the Group by the direction and supervision of the Group's
business and affairs and the ultimate responsibility for day to day
management of the Group which is delegated to the management. To
this end, monthly financial and operational information are provided
to the Board for assessing the performance of the Company and its
subsidiaries. For significant matters that are specifically delegated
by the Board, the management must report back to and obtain prior
approval from the Board before making decisions or entering into any
commitments on behalf of the Company.

The Board is responsible for, among others, performing the corporate
governance duties as set out in the code provision A.2.1 of the CG
Code, which include:

(@) to develop and review the Group's policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations;

to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of the Directors and senior management;

(c) to review and monitor the Group's policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to the Directors and
employees; and

(e) to review the Group's compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the corporate governance report.

All Directors are committed to devote sufficient time and attention to
the affairs of the Company.
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Board Composition

Details of the composition of the Directors of the Company during the
year and up to the date of this report by category are as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Fong Chun Man (Chairman)
Ms. Lo Pui Yee
Mr. Chan Chi Fai

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chui Chi Yun, Robert
Dr. Luk Che Chung, JP (Appointed with effect from 10 October 2024)

Mr. Wang Anyuan
Mr. Kwong Yuk Lap (Resigned with effect from 10 October 2024)

All Directors have appropriate professional qualification or substantive
experience and industry knowledge. The Board as a whole has
achieved an appropriate balance of skills and experience. The
composition of the Board is in accordance with the requirements
of Rules 5.05 and 5.05A of the GEM Listing Rules. There are three
independent non-executive Directors and one of them has account
professional qualification. The Company has mechanisms in place
to ensure independent views are available to the Board. The Board
endeavours for having a balanced composition of executive Directors
and independent non-executive Directors to maintain a strong
independent element on the Board and to bring independent view and
inputs from the Directors. The majority of the members of the Audit,
Remuneration and Nomination Committees are independent non-
executive Directors and each committee is chaired by an independent
non-executive Director. More than one-third of the members of the
Board are independent non-executive Directors, which brings a fairly
strong independence element in its composition. The Board and the
board committees are authorised to obtain outside legal or other
independent professional advice in performing their duties at the
Company'’s expense, where necessary.

The participation of independent non-executive Directors in the Board
brings a diverse range of expertise, skills and independent judgment
on issues relating to the Group's strategies, performance, conflicts of
interests and management process to ensure that the interests of all
Shareholders of the Company have been duly considered.

The details of Directors are set out in the section headed “Biographies
of Board of Directors and Senior Management” on pages 89 to 95 of
this report. Other than that Ms. Lo Pui Yee who is the wife of Mr. Fong
Chun Man, there are no family or other material relationships among
members of the Board.
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The Company is governed by the Board which has the responsibility
for leadership and monitoring of the Company. The Directors are
collectively responsible for promoting the success of the Group by
directing and supervising the Group's affairs.

The Board sets strategies and directions for the Group’s activities
with a view to developing its business and enhancing shareholders’
value. The Board has delegated the daily operation and day-to-
day management of the Group as well as the implementation of
the Board’s policies and strategies to the executive Directors and
management of the Group.

Number of Meetings and Directors’ Attendance

The Board has established three committees, including the audit
committee (the “Audit Committee”), remuneration committee
(the "Remuneration Committee”) and nomination committee (the
“Nomination Committee”), on 23 March 2017 with delegated powers
for overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s affair. Each of the
committees of the Board has been established with written terms of
reference, in which the terms of reference of the Audit Committee and
the Nomination Committee were amended and restated with effect
from 1 January 2019 and the terms of reference of the Remuneration
Committee were amended on 3 January 2023.

The Board will conduct at least four regular meetings a year. The
Directors can attend meetings in person or through other means of
electronic communication in accordance with the Company’s articles
of association (the "“Articles”). The Chairman also meets with the
independent non-executive Directors at least once a year without the
presence of other executive Directors. Notices and agendas of regular
Board meetings are served to all Directors at least 14 days before
convening the Board meeting. For all other Board and committee
meetings, reasonable notice is generally given. All other schedules and
the relevant information of each Board and committee meeting are
generally made available to Directors or committee members at least
three days in advance. The Board and each Director also have separate
and independent access to the management whenever necessary.
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The attendance of each of the Directors at the Annual General
Meeting, Board Meeting and meetings of the Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee held during the
year is set out below:

BREFENFRABTZIERBEFAS EF

EeR ERZECER FMHZEETER

UERAZEEEHR ILFEREAT ¢

Attendance/Number of meetings

HEAB ERETAY
General Board Audit Remuneration ~ Nomination
Name of Directors Meeting Meeting  Committee = Committee =~ Committee
Espg RRAE EZE88 ENZEET FMEREE RELZ8E
Executive Directors: HOTES:
Mr. Fong Chun Man (Chairman) HEXERE(FE) 1/1 4/4 - 22 22
Ms. Lo Pui Yee Bzt 171 4/4 - - -
Mr. Chan Chi Fai REEEE 71 3/3 - - -
Independent Non-executive Directors: BIFHTES .
Mr. Chui Chi Yun, Robert EECEE ”n 4/4 3/3 212 2/2
Dr. Luk Che Chung, Jp (Appointed with ~ BESERE 4 + 7@+
effect from 10 October 2024) (R2024F
10510 B EZ(E) - 212 11 - -
Mr. Wang Anyuan FrnksE 1 4/4 3/3 212 -
Mr. Kwong Yuk Lap (Resigned with BB A
effect from 10 October 2024) (K 2024 %
104 10 H&1E) 171 4/4 212 - 2/2
In addition to abovementioned regular board meetings, the Chairman [ Fii FEHIE Ee @0 R E 220254

also held a meeting with the independent non-executive Directors in
the absence of the executive Directors and management during the
year ended 31 March 2025.

The company secretary of the Company (the “Company Secretary”)
attended all the scheduled Board meetings to report matters arising
from corporate governance, risk management, statutory compliance,
accounting and finance.

Practice and Conduct of Meetings

Annual meeting schedules and draft agenda of each meeting are
normally made available to Directors in advance. At least 14 days’
notice should be given for a regular Board meeting. For other Board
and committee meetings, reasonable notices are generally given.

Minutes of all Board meetings recording sufficient details of matters
considered and decisions reached are duly kept by the Company
Secretary at the meetings and open for inspection by the Directors.

The Articles contain provisions requiring Directors to abstain from
voting and not to be counted in the quorum at meetings for approving
transactions in which such Directors or any of their associates have a
material interest.
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Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable
information are sent to all Directors at least three days before each
Board meeting or Audit Committee meeting to keep the Directors
apprised of the latest developments and financial position of the
Company and to enable them to make informed decisions.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

The Articles provide that at each annual general meeting, one-third of
the Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple
of three (3), the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall
retire from office by rotation and that every Director shall be subject
to retirement at an annual general meeting at least once every three
years.

The independent non-executive Directors should be appointed for
a specific term and subject to re-election. Each of the independent
non-executive Directors has entered into an appointment letter with
the Company. The appointment letter of each of the independent
non-executive Directors is for a term of three years, which may be
terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing served
by either party on the other. The aforesaid appointment letters are
subject to termination provisions therein and the retirement and re-
election provisions in the Articles. Details of the appointment letters
are summarised in the Report of the Board of Directors on pages 74 to
88 of this report.

DIRECTORS’ CONTINUOUS TRAINING AND
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

To assist Directors’ continuing professional development, the Company
recommends Directors to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. This
is to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed and
relevant. During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report,
all Directors have participated in continuous professional development
by attending training course or reading relevant materials on the
topics related to corporate governance and regulations in compliance
with code provision C.1.4 if of the CG Code. Records of the training
received by the respective Directors are kept and updated by the
Company Secretary of the Company.
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The record of continuous professional development relating to
directors’ duties and regulatory and business development that have
been received by the Directors during the year ended 31 March 2025
are summarised as follows:

EEREE2055F3ANHIFEESNE
ERENREMESRRENBEETERRE
EEENT

Type of training

EIEE
(Note)
Directors = (PEE)
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Fong Chun Man (Chairman) FEXTE (FE) A B
Ms. Lo Pui Yee S iE L A B
Mr. Chan Chi Fai PREIE A A B
Independent Non-executive Directors BIFHITES
Mr. Chui Chi Yun, Robert ERCEE A B
Dr. Luk Che Chung, JP (Appointed with effect from PEEIREE A - ATat
10 October 2024) (R20244F 10 A 10 HEZ(F) A, B
Mr. Wang Anyuan FLTiEAE A B
Mr. Kwong Yuk Lap (Resigned with effect from BB o4 (2024 4F 10 A 10 H & 1F)
10 October 2024) A, B
Notes: feE -
Types of training BB

A: Attending training sessions, including but not limited to, briefing, seminars,
conferences, forums and workshops

B: Reading relevant news alerts, newspapers, journals, magazines and relevant
publications relating to the latest development of the GEM Listing Rules, other
applicable regulatory requirements and directors’ duties and responsibilities

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chui Chi Yun, Robert and Mr. Wang Anyuan were appointed as
the independent non-executive Directors with effect from 23 March
2017. Dr. Luk Che Chung, Jp was appointed as the independent non-
executive Director with effect from 10 October 2024. Dr. Luk Che
Chung, Jp confirmed that he had obtained the legal advice as referred
to under Rule 5.02D of the GEM Listing Rules on 9 October 2024 and
also understood his obligation, duties and responsibilities of a director
of a company listed on the Stock Exchange under the GEM Listing
Rules.

The independent non-executive Directors are experienced professionals
with expertise in respective areas of accounting, finance, industry
knowledge and expertise. With their professional knowledge and
experience, the independent non-executive Directors serve an important
function of advising the senior management on strategy development
and ensure that the Board maintains high standards in financial and other
mandatory reporting as well as providing adequate checks and balances
for safeguarding the interests of the Shareholders and the Company as
a whole; and participate in the Company'’s various committees including
Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee.
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The Company has received from each of its independent non-executive
Directors the written confirmation of his independence. The Company
considers the independent non-executive Directors to be independent
in accordance with Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Mr. Fong Chun Man was appointed as the Chairman of the Board and
an executive Director of the Company on 23 March 2017. Mr. Chan
Chi Fai was appointed as the Chief Executive Officer and an executive
Director of the Company on 23 March 2017.

The Chairman of the Board provides leadership to the Board and is also
responsible for the effective functioning of the Board in accordance
with good corporate governance practice and is responsible for
the overall corporate management of the business development
strategies of the Group. The Chief Executive Officer is responsible for
the implementation of the business strategies, policies and objectives
set out by the Board and is accountable to the Board for the overall
operations of the Group. These functions and responsibilities are
current being shared by the management team.

BOARD COMMITTEE

Audit Committee

The Company has established the Audit Committee on 23 March 2017
in compliance with Rules 5.28 to 5.29 of the GEM Listing Rules and
with written terms of reference amended and restated with effect from
1 January 2019 in compliance with Appendix C1 of the GEM Listing
Rules. The full terms of reference setting out details of the authority,
duties and responsibilities of the Audit Committee is available on both
the GEM website and the Company’s website.

The Audit Committee comprises three independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Chui Chi Yun, Robert, Dr. Luk Che Chung, JP
and Mr. Wang Anyuan meanwhile Mr. Chui Chi Yun, Robert, is the
Chairman of the Audit Committee.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to assist the Board by
providing an independent view of the effectiveness of the Company's
internal control and risk management system, overseeing the balance,
transparency and integrity of the Company’s financial statements
and the application of financial reporting principles, reviewing the
relationship with the external auditor and its independence assessment
and the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of the
Company'’s accounting staff, their training programs and budget.
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The Audit Committee is satisfied with their review of the auditors’
remuneration, the independence of the auditors, HLB Hodgson Impey
Cheng Limited (the “HLB"), and recommended the Board to reappoint
HLB as the Company's auditors, which is subject to the approval of
Shareholders at the forthcoming AGM. The Audit Committee has
reviewed the Group’s consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 March 2025.

According to the current terms of reference, meetings of the Audit
Committee shall be held not less than twice a year and the external
auditor may request a meeting if they consider that one is necessary.

Details of the number of Audit Committee meetings held and Directors
attendance are set out in the section headed “Number of Meetings
and Directors’ Attendance” on pages 22 to 23 in this report.

Remuneration Committee

The Company established a remuneration committee (the
“Remuneration Committee”) on 23 March 2017 in compliance
with Appendix C1 of the GEM Listing Rules, which comprised two
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Wang Anyuan and
Mr. Chui Chi Yun, Robert together with Mr. Fong Chun Man. Mr. Wang
Anyuan is the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to make
recommendation to the Board on the overall remuneration policy and
structure relating to all Directors and senior management of the Group,
review and approve the management’s remuneration proposals, and
ensure none of the Directors determine their own remuneration.

The full terms of reference setting out details of duties of the
Remuneration Committee is available on both the GEM website and
the Company's website.

The Remuneration Committee determines Directors’ remuneration
by reference to the benchmarking of the market. The Company also
looks into individual Director's competence, duties, responsibilities,
performance and the results of the Group in determining the exact
level of remuneration for each Director.

Pursuant to the terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee,
meeting shall be held at least once a year and additional meetings
should be held if the committee shall so request.

Details of the number of Remuneration Committee meeting held and
Directors attendance are set out in the section headed “Number of
Meetings and Directors’ Attendance” on pages 21 to 22 in this report.
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Senior Management’s remuneration SREEE N H M
HK$ Number of individuals
BT A
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 78 7T = 1,500,000 7 7T 1

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and the five highest paid
individuals are set out in notes 13 and 14 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Remuneration policy

The remuneration policy of the Group for the Directors and senior
management members was based on their experience, level of
responsibility and general market conditions. Any discretionary
bonus and other merit payments are linked to the performance of
the Group and the individual performance of the Directors and senior

management members.

Nomination Committee

The Company established a nomination committee (the “Nomination
Committee”) on 23 March 2017 which comprised Mr. Fong Chun
Man and two independent non-executive Directors, namely Dr. Luk
Che Chung, Jp and Mr. Chui Chi Yun, Robert. Dr. Luk Che Chung, Jp
is the Chairman of the Nomination Committee. The written terms of
reference are amended and restated with effect from 1 January 2019.

The primary function of the Nomination Committee is to review the
policy concerning diversity of board members and the structure, size
and composition of the Board on regular basis and disclose such
policy, including any measurable objectives that the Committee has
set for implementing the policy and progress on achieving those
objectives, pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules (including disclosure
in the Company’s corporate governance report as appropriate);
identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members;
assess the independence of independent non-executive Directors;
and make recommendations to the Board on relevant matters relating
to the appointment or re-appointment of Directors. The full terms of
reference setting out details of the authority, duties and responsibilities
of the Nomination Committee is available on both the GEM website
and the Company's website.
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The Nomination Committee will recommend to the Board for the
appointment of a Director in accordance with the following key
procedures and process:

The Nomination Committee will, giving due consideration to
the current composition and size of the Board, develop a list
of desirable skills, perspectives and experience at the outset to
focus the search effort;

ii.  The Nomination Committee may adopt any process it considers
appropriate in evaluating the suitability of the candidates, such
as interviews, background checks, presentations and third party
reference checks;

iii.  Upon considering a candidate suitable for the directorship, the
Nomination Committee will hold a meeting and/or by way of
written resolutions to, if thought fit, approve the recommendation
to the Board for appointment; and

iv.. The Nomination Committee will thereafter make the
recommendation to the Board in relation to the proposed
appointment.

Pursuant to the terms of reference of the Nomination Committee,
meeting shall be held at least once a year and additional meetings
should be held if the committee shall so request.

The Nomination Committee has reviewed the structure, size and
composition of the Board and the Policy as well as discussing matters
regarding the retirement and re-election of Directors.

Details of the number of Nomination Committee meeting held and
Directors attendance are set out in the section headed “Number of
Meetings and Directors’ Attendance” on pages 22 to 23 in this report.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Directors’ and auditor’s responsibilities for the consolidated
financial statements

All Directors understand and acknowledge their responsibility for
ensuring that the Group's consolidated financial statements for each
financial year are prepared to give a true and fair view of the state of
affairs, the financial results and cash flows of the Group in accordance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. In preparing the consolidated financial statements for
the year ended 31 March 2025, the Board has adopted appropriate
and consistent accounting policies and made prudent, fair and
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reasonable judgments and estimates. The Directors are responsible for
maintaining proper accounting records which reflect with reasonable
accuracy the state of affairs, operating results, cash flows and equity
movement of the Group at any time. The Directors confirm that the
preparation of the financial statements of the Group is in accordance
with statutory requirements and applicable accounting standards.

The Directors also confirm that, to the best of their knowledge,
information and belief, having made all reasonable enquiries, they are
not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue
as a going concern.

The Directors are responsible for taking all reasonable and necessary
steps to safeguard the assets of the Group and to prevent and detect
fraud and other irregularities. The statement of auditors about their
reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements is
set out in the Independent Auditors’ Report.

The reporting responsibilities of the Company’s auditors, are set out in
the Independent Auditors’ Report on pages 96 to 102 of this report.

AUDITORS' REMUNERATION

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the remuneration for the audit
and non-audit services provided by the Company’s auditor to the
Group was as follows:
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Services rendered HK$'000
RAR THET
Annual audit service for the year B ZE2025F 331 HILFEH 500

ended 31 March 2025
Non-audit service for the year
ended 31 March 2025
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

No corporate governance committee has been established and
the Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
functions such as developing and reviewing the Company’s policies,
practices on corporate governance, training and continuous
professional development of the directors and senior management,
the Company's policies and practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements, etc.
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The Directors will review the Group’s corporate governance policies
and compliance with the CG Code each financial year and comply with
the “comply or explain” principle in the corporate governance report
which will be included in the annual reports upon the Listing.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy in accordance with
the requirement as set out in the CG Code, which is summarised as
below:

The policy of the Company specifies that in designing the composition
the Board, Board diversity shall be considered from a number of
aspects, including but not limited to age, cultural and educational
background, professional experience, skills and knowledge. All Board
members’ appointment will be based on meritocracy, and candidates
will be considered against objective criteria, having due regard for the
benefits of diversity including gender diversity of the Board. Selection
of candidates for the Board will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, culture,
ethnicity and educational background, professional experience,
knowledge and skills. It also sets out the Board’s commitment to
gender diversity and other diversity aspects, with the ultimate goal of
achieving gender parity on the Board.

The Nomination Committee will disclose the composition of the
Board in Corporate Governance Report every year and supervise the
implementation of the Policy. The Nomination Committee will discuss
any revision that may be required, and recommend any such revision
to the Board for consideration and approval.

As at 31 March 2025, the gender ratio in the workforce (including
senior management) of the Group was 81% male and 19% female. The
Group will continue to take gender diversity into consideration during
recruitment and increase the female proportion at all levels over time
with the ultimate goal of achieving gender diversity, such that there is a
pipeline of female senior management and potential successors to the
Board in the future.

In addition, as of 31 March 2025, female representation on the Board is
approximately 17%. The Board targets to maintain at least the current
level of female representation and this target, along with other matters
related to diversity, which will be reviewed on an annual basis by the
Board.
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SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules
as its own code of conduct (“Code of Conduct”) regarding securities
transactions by the Directors. The Company has confirmed, having
made specific enquiry of the Directors, that all the Directors have
complied with the Code of Conduct throughout the year ended 31
March 2025 and up to the date of this report.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

During the Reporting Period, the Company has adopted a
Shareholders’ communication policy, which has helped the Company
to ensure that the Shareholders will have equal and timely access to the
information about the Company in order to enable the Shareholders to
exercise their rights in an informed manner and allow them to engage
actively with the Company. The Company has reviewed and considered
the Shareholders’ communication policy and its implementation
effective.

The Company endeavors to maintain an on-going dialogue with the
shareholders and in particular, through annual general meetings or
other general meetings to communicate with the shareholders and
encourage their participation.

The Company will ensure that there are separate resolutions for
separate issues proposed at the general meetings. All resolutions put
forward at shareholder meetings will be voted on by poll pursuant to
the GEM Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on the websites
of the Company and the Stock Exchange in a timely manner after each
shareholder meeting.

The Company will continue to maintain an open and effective investor
communication policy and to update investors on relevant information
on the Group’s business in a timely manner, subject to relevant
regulatory requirements.

Significant Changes in the Constitutional Documents

The Company adopted by a special resolution the second amended
and restated memorandum and articles of association on 16
September 2022. For further details, please refer to the announcement
of the Company dated 27 July 2022 and the circular of the Company
dated 29 July 2022. Saved as disclosed, during the Reporting Period
and up to the date of this report, there has been no significant changes
in the constitutional documents of the Company. The Articles are
available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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General Meetings with Shareholders

The Company’s annual general meeting will be held on Monday, 11
August 2025.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

(a) Convening of an extraordinary general meeting on
requisition by shareholders

Pursuant to Articles, any one or more shareholders holding at
the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of
the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting
at general meetings of the Company shall at all times have
the right, by written requisition to the Board or the Company
Secretary, to require an extraordinary general meeting to be
called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified
in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two
months after the deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-
one days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene
such meeting the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do
so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by
the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company. Shareholders
also have the right to propose a person for election as a Director,
the procedures are available on the websites of the Company
and the Stock Exchange.

(b) Procedures for putting forward proposals at
shareholders’ meetings

Shareholders are welcomed to put forward proposals relating to
the operations and management of the Group to be discussed
at shareholders’ meetings. The proposals shall be sent to the
company secretary of the Company by a written requisition.
Shareholders who wish to put forward a proposal should convene
an extraordinary general meeting by following the procedures
set out in “Convening of an extraordinary general meeting on
requisition by shareholders” above.

(c) Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may put forward enquiries to the Board to the
extent such information is publicly available to the Company
Secretary who is responsible for forwarding communications
relating to matters within the Board and communication relating
to ordinary business matters, such as suggestions, inquiries and
consumer complaints, to the Chief Executive Officer, in writing
to the principal office of the Company in Hong Kong or, in the
event the Company ceases to have such a principal office, the
registered office specifying the objects of the enquiries.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company believes that maintaining a high level of transparency
is a key to enhancing investor relations. It is committed to a policy of
open and timely disclosure of corporate information to its shareholders
and investment public. The Company updates its shareholders on
its latest business developments and financial performance through
its annual, interim and quarterly reports. The corporate website
of the Company (http://www.f8.com.hk) has provided an effective
communication platform to the public and the shareholders.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company engages an external service provider, Ms. Leung Yin Fai,
as its Company Secretary, Mr. Cheung Lee Kwok, the chief operation
officer of the Group, is the primary contact person who Ms. Leung Yin
Fai can contact.

Ms. Leung Yin Fai, the Company Secretary, is responsible for advising
the Board on corporate governance matters and ensuring that the
Board policy and procedures, and the applicable laws, rules and
regulations are followed. All Directors have access to the advice and
services of the Company Secretary to ensure that the Board procedures
and all applicable laws are followed. Moreover, the Company Secretary
is responsible for facilitating communications among Directors as well
as with management.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Company Secretary has
undertaken more than 15 hours of relevant professional training in
compliance with Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy on 31 December 2018
which sets out the principles and measures on how the Company may
propose a dividend.

The Board will take into account the following factors when considering
the payment of dividends:

The general financial condition of the Group;

ii The actual and future operations and liquidity positions of the
Group;

iii The future cash requirements and availability;

iv. Any restrictions on payments of dividends that may be imposed
by the Group's lenders;

v The general market conditions; and
vi  Any other factor that the Board deems appropriate.

Any declaration and payment of future dividends under the dividend
policy will be subject to the Board's determination that the same
would be in the best interests of the Group and the Shareholders of
the Company as a whole. In addition, the declaration and payment of
dividends may be subject to legal restrictions or any applicable laws,
rules and regulations and the Articles.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has overall responsibilities for establishing and maintaining
appropriate and effective risk management and internal control
systems of the Group. The Group’s systems of risk management
and internal control include a defined management structure with
limits of authority, is designed to help achieve business objectives,
safeguard assets against unauthorised use or disposition, ensure the
maintenance of proper accounting records for the provision of reliable
financial information for internal use or for publication, and ensure
compliance with relevant legislation and regulations. The systems are
designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against
material misstatement or loss and to manage rather than eliminate
risks of failure in operational systems and achievement of the Group's
objectives.

An organisational structure with operating policies and procedures,
lines of responsibility and delegated authority has been established.
The division/department head of each core business segment is
accountable for the conduct and performance of such segment within
the agreed strategies, which are set by themselves and the Board
together, and reports directly to the Board.

In the course of conducting the business of the Group, it is exposed
to various types of risks. During the year ended 31 March 2025, the
following principal risks of the Group were identified and classified into
strategic risks, operational risks, financial risks and compliance risks.

Risk Areas
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Strategic Risks
market competition risk, reputation risk
BB S L

Operational Risks
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Financial Risks
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Compliance Risks

Sensitivity to government policies; keeping up with new technologies and customers’ taste;
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Insufficient labour supply; workplace injury; disruption of IT system

Liquidity risk, credit risk, interest rate risk, foreign exchange risk, inflation risk
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Risk related to occupation safety and health; risk of non-compliance with ordinances related to

employment; change of GEM Listing Rules and relevant company regulations and ordinances
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The Board is ultimately responsible for the risk management of the
Group and it has delegated to executive management to carry out
the risk identification and monitoring procedures. The objectives of
the risk management are to enhance the governance and corporate
management processes as well as to safeguard the Group against
unacceptable levels of risks and losses.
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The risk management process of the Group will involve, among
others, (i) an annual risk identification and analysis exercise which
involves assessment of the consequence and likelihood of risks and the
development of risk management plans for mitigating such risks; and (ii)
an annual review of the implementation of the risk management plans
and fine tuning of the implementation plan when necessary.

During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report, the
Board, through the Audit Committee, has conducted review of both
design and implementation effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group, covering all material controls,
including financial, operational and compliance controls, with a view
to ensuring that resources, staff qualifications and experience, training
programmes and budget of the Group’s accounting, internal audit and
financial reporting functions are adequate. In this respect, the Audit
Committee communicates any material issues to the Board.

Up to the date of this report, the Group has engaged an experienced
personnel to maintain an internal audit function, the Board has overall
responsibility for the risk management and internal control systems and
for reviewing its effectiveness.

Also, the Company has engaged external independent professionals
to review the Group's system of internal controls and risk management
annually and further enhance the Group's internal control and risk
management systems as appropriate.

During the Reporting Period, the scope of review of the internal control
from the external independent professional covered the following
aspects: (1) control environment and risk management, (2) fixed asset
management cycle, (3) human resources management cycle and (4)
sales and collection management cycle. The internal control review
has been completed and certain internal control deficiencies were
identified. Up to the date of this report, the Company has agreed to
adopt the remedial measures (as below mentioned) recommended by
the external independent professional. For instance,

(@)  Strengthen credit management for accounts receivable from new
customers by increasing the limits on the credit terms offered to
them.

Improve the asset acquisition process by requiring more detailed
information and additional approvals during the acquisition.

() Enforce existing policy requirements for terminating employment
contracts, ensuring that the termination includes reason for
termination and signature from management.
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Overall, the Company has complied with the risk management and
internal control code provisions of the CG Code during the Reporting
Period.

The Company has also established a whistleblowing policy as well as
anti-corruption policy and systems, details of which are set out in the
Environmental, Social and Governance Report below.

Internal control on connected transaction

As a general control, the Group maintained a list of connected persons
and entities for the monitoring and identification of connected
transaction. The risk management and internal control of the Group
were reviewed by the Board and the Audit Committee for the year
ended 31 March 2025.

The Board and the Audit Committee considered that (i) the risk
management and internal control system of the Company was
adequate and efficient; and (ii) the resources allocated, staff
qualifications and experience in respect of the accounting, internal
auditing and financial reporting functions of the Company as well as
training programs and budget were adequate and sufficient.

Independent non-executive Directors’ view on internal
control for connected transactions

The management and independent non-executive Directors will
continue to monitor connected transactions of the Company. The
management and independent non-executive Directors consider
that information provided by the Company’s management to assist
independent non-executive Directors in their annual review of
connected transaction are fair and sufficient. The independent non-
executive Directors also made regular enquiries upon whether there
is any continuing connected transaction exceeding the proposed
annual caps to ensure that continuing connected transaction was
identified timely. The independent non-executive Directors have not
encountered any challenges or difficulties in their annual review of
connected transaction of the Company save as disclosed in this report.

LOOKING FORWARD

The Group will keep on reviewing its corporate governance standards
on a timely basis and the Board endeavors to take the necessary
actions to ensure compliance with the required practices and standards
including the provisions of the CG Code.
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INTRODUCTION, ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL
AND GOVERNANCE POLICIES

F8 Enterprises (Holdings) Group Limited ("F8 Enterprises”,

“Company”,
“"Group”), was principally engaged in the provision of the business of

we” and "our”), with its subsidiaries (collectively, the

sale and transportation of diesel oil and related products in Hong Kong
during the year ended on 31 March 2025.

This Environmental, Social and Governance ("ESG") Report
summarizes the environmental, social and governance initiatives, plans
and performances of the Group and demonstrates its commitment to
sustainable development.

Our Business

F8 Enterprise was listed on the GEM Board of the Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited with the stock code of 8347. The principal
operating activity of the Group is sale and transportation of diesel oil
and related products in Hong Kong, and also supply of marine diesel
oil for construction vessels and lubricant oil for construction machinery
and vehicles. With the competitive advantage of economies of scale,
with our experienced management, our own diesel tank wagons and
marine diesel oil barge, the Group enjoys a competitive edge in the
diesel oil industry in Hong Kong.

Our Vision

To maintain the leading position in the industry in order to provide
high quality products and services in Hong Kong.

Our Mission

To provide the best quality and safe products and services to meet
customers’ demands and create value to the shareholders and
investors.
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Board of Directors =3
Executive Directors Independent Non-executive Directors
HITES BYFHTES
Mr. Fong Chun Man (Chairman) Mr. Chui Chi Yun, Robert
FTEX KA (£/F) EECKE
Ms. Lo Pui Yee Mr. Wang Anyuan
LimmEat EFRTELE
Mr. Chan Chi Fai Dr. Luk Che Chung, Jp
REBRLE PEEHEEL - AF@L

The ESG Governance Structure

The Group has set up an ESG working taskforce (the “Taskforce”),
composed of staff from relevant departments, in which, full-time staff
has been assigned to collect the data relevant to ESG and compile the
ESG Report. The Taskforce would periodically report to the board of
directors of the Company (the "Board”), assisting in the assessment
and identification of risk management of the Group on ESG aspects
and whether its internal control system is appropriate and effective.
The Taskforce reviews the ESG performance of the Group, including
environmental, labour practices, and other ESG aspects. The Board
sets the tone at the top for its ESG strategies and is responsible for
ensuring effective risk management and internal controls. The detail of
the ESG strategy is stated below.
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Detail of the ESG Strategy

We established an ESG management system with clarified

management functions and responsibilities at all levels. We carry out

specific work through the Taskforce and help the Board understand

our ESG risks and performance in a timely manner, and so a better

incorporate ESG factor into company planning and daily operations.

40

The Board is responsible for:

assessing and determining the Group's ESG risks

ensuring the establishment of appropriate and effective
ESG risk management and internal control system

developing ESG strategies, action plans and objectives

monitoring the progress and performance of ESG work

reviewing and approving annual ESG reports

The management is responsible for:

reporting ESG-related risks and opportunities to the Board
implementing ESG risk management and internal control
systems

informing the Board of the effectiveness of ESG risk
management and internal control systems

arranging work in accordance with the ESG strategies,
action plans and objectives developed by the Board
reporting to the Board on the progress and performance of

ESG work

reviewing and submitting annual ESG report to the Board
for approval
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o The Taskforce is responsible for:
—  carrying out specific ESG work
—  reporting to the management on the progress of the work
—  collecting information and data

— preparing annual ESG reports and reporting to the
management

SCOPE OF REPORTING

This ESG Report covers the Group's business activities of offices in
Hong Kong and mainland China, which represent the Group's major
sources of revenue. The ESG key performance indicator ("KP1")
data is gathered and included subsidiaries under the Group's direct
control. The Group will extend the scope of disclosures when and
where applicable. The KPIs are shown in the ESG Report as well as
supplemented by explanatory notes to establish benchmarks.

REPORTING FRAMEWORK

The ESG Report has been prepared in accordance with the
"Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide” (the
"ESG Reporting Guide") as set out in the Appendix C2 of the GEM
Listing Rules of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. The ESG
Report has complied with the “mandatory disclosure requirements”
and the “comply or explain” provisions in the ESG Reporting Guide.
Information relating to the corporate governance practices of the
Group has been set out in the Corporate Governance Report on p.19
to p.37 of Annual Report for the year ended 31 March 2025.

REPORTING PERIOD

The ESG Report describes the ESG activities, challenges and measures
taken by the Group from 1 April 2024 to 31 March 2025 (the “"Reporting
Period”).

The year ended 31 March 2024 is used as the baseline year for the ESG
Report in the Reporting Period. The baseline year of 2024 was selected
as it reflects the most recent reporting period in which the Group's
ESG management structure and processes remained consistent
with the current framework, ensuring comparability and continuity in
tracking performance improvements.
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

We value our stakeholders and their feedback regarding our

businesses and ESG aspects. In order to understand and address their

key concerns, we have maintained close communication with our key

stakeholders, including but not limited to Hong Kong Stock Exchange,

government, suppliers, investors, media & public, customers,

employees, as well as society.

We take stakeholders’ expectations into consideration in formulating

our businesses and ESG strategies by utilizing diversified engagement

methods and communication channels, shown as below.

Stakeholders
ERA

Expectations and Requirements

HMERER

EEASH

BHEGRRS AAREHRFESERERE
HERERTHENREER 57T B MEE
HIZBHIFEE R BERIBRDEAR
SEYER - BREETRNE B M K
fFHER REE BREAIFKAL - F
F-EEUREE -

BN HERBIANIRE 48 REIRKER
B BBMATXARERTENZ2ET N
KB mRER NS AL -

Means of Communication

BEARX

Hong Kong Stock Exchange
EBBR T

Government

B

Suppliers

HER

Shareholders/Investors

R HEE

Media & Public

BRENR
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e Compliance with GEM Listing Rules

E~FGEM LT 43 Al

o BS

e Observance of laws and disciplines
and payment of tax according to laws

AR R RAFERT

o BS

e Fair competition/quality and price
e Stable payment terms

e RNEHBFE HENME
b %E?&W\gﬁ

¢ Financial performance
e Corporate governance
e Market image

o BIFSEAE
° ﬁé%ﬁ/ﬁ\
° ?ﬁiﬁﬁ/%

® Routine meetings, website updates
and announcements

o PliITEH  WUEHEASE

e Compliance checks in cooperation
with government and regulatory
authorities

e Periodic filings workshops/seminars

s BABNEBEERBATIEAR
*A

s THRR2HTHEE Mile

e Business communication/procurement
contract/e-mail and telephone contact

e Fair competition

. %i‘%ﬁ B RBEN/EFHHERE

. ’Aﬁﬁﬁ%

¢ Information published on websites
of the Company/Hong Kong Stock
Exchange (e.g. announcements,
circulars, quarterly results reports,
interim reports, annual reports, etc.)

o MNARR]/ BB Z I AMES
(@IJZZD’“‘E K FEEERSE
FHIRE - FHREF)

e Corporate governance, environmental e Explanation on key issues/press

protection, and human rights

o NEER  RIBERENMAE

releases

o BYIERRBBHAXME FER
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Stakeholders Expectations and Requirements Means of Communication
A HERER BESR
Customers e Product quality e Setting up a variety of communication
e Prohibited/restricted substance channels to understand customers’
management needs by email, phone call and client
e Environmental, safety and health guestionnaire
management performance ¢ Audit feedback/self-managed
¢ Implementation performance of the performance feedback
code of conduct (labour relations/
labour rights/compliance with laws
and regulations)
e Transparency and reliability of
information disclosure
ENS o EmmE s BURBERBRE BAEH TF
s XR/BRAMEERE REFHERTHREPFEL
o RIF - RENFEEREN o HERZMEE/AEXERBEMOE
o TRERIMITEX (BEBR ST
RER,EERROERE)
o EIEFAREENEE
Employees e Good salary and benefits e The Company's internal website/
e Fair promotion and career e-mail/employee suggestion box/
development Discussion between employees and
¢ Good and safe working environment executives/surveys (irregular)

e Strengthening communications with
employees to provide fair promotion
and establishing training system to
equip employees with adequate
working skills

(== o RIFEVEEN R AEF o RARAE@U, EFEHH EEE
o REMEFRBEER RfE/EEBBEK MERAE (T
o RIFREMIIERE EH)

o MREE TER - RREATFTETH
SRNRBIBIGE HFEIABER
B T 1EkEE

Society e Environmental issues/compliance with @ Sponsoring community public welfare
laws activities/community visits/corporate
e Transportation website
e Employment opportunities/ e Environmental protection
community/public welfare
e Corporate Responsibility
te o RINEH HETERE s BRHEARED MERHMH, AT
o Ef e
o BEME MEABREF o RIFR#E
o BEAME

We aim to collaborate with our stakeholders to improve our ESG
performance and create greater value for the wider community on a

continuous basis.
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

The management and staff of the Group's respective major operations
have participated in the preparation of the ESG Report to assist the
Group in reviewing our operations and identifying relevant ESG issues
and assess the importance of related matters to our businesses and
stakeholders. Based on the assessed significant ESG issues, a data
collection questionnaire was prepared to collect information from
relevant departments and business units of the Group.

The following is a summary of the Group’s material ESG issues
included in this ESG Report:

EEMME

AEERIEXBNERENREIHES2H
ARE -HERERBENHEREINE - UK
By SR B et 2 E R AR MBI AR R IR IR A
ghERHEE UHEHEBEEFEHASER
BRERANEEZE -ZMERBLETHE
REE - HEREREE  REBBEWER
% AASEMEASBFIEREHEMCREEM -

UTRARE HE8MEREMHAEH
ERRE HEREARENHE

Subject Areas Aspects Materiality
FREEE B EEM
Environmental A1. Emissions %
R A1.BER
A2. Use of Resources 4
A2 ERAER
A3. Environment and Natural Resources 4
A RFHERAER
A4. Climate Change
A4 RIREAL
Social B1. Employment v
e B1. 12 1%
B2. Health and Safety v
B2.f@REZ %
B3. Development and Training v
B3.# & K &l
B4. Labour Standards v
B4.45 T8
Operating Practices B5. Supply Chain Management v
TER A #0 BS. R EE
Bé. Product Responsibility v
B6. EmAIE
B7. Anti-corruption 4
B7.RE5
Community B8. Community Investment 4
a2 B8.tt[@ % &
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Reporting principles
HERA

Interpretation

B=

Application of reporting principles
FE A s & R A

Materiality

B2

Quantitative

21t

Balance

&

Consistency

The Group should focus on reporting
the ESG issues that have an important
impact on the investors and its
stakeholders.

AEEREHMEHREEREED
ANEEZFENRE  HENEAREE -

The KPIs must be measurable and
clearly state the calculation criteria and
methods. The Group should set targets
to reduce a particular impact.

MRS L AR TR - 5
HEBLORE EIRR R Tk - AR EER

EROBFEFENRZ -

The Group should objectively and
truthfully report on its ESG performance
and avoid selections, omissions,

or presentation formats that may
inappropriately influence a decision or
judgment by the report reader.
AEFEREHATBMREERE #
GRERBEN  BREE  BRIIKA
AR T B EBMEFE ELIRK LA
25 -

The Group should use consistent
disclosure and statistical methods to
help stakeholders analyze and evaluate
the organization’s past and current
performance. The Group should also
explain any changes to the method.

R L — B B B R AR 0%
B DR A D 1T BT AR B R
B BT RAE AR - 7o B 7 AR TR 2
B E B -

The Group determines the impact of various
ESG issues on the Group's operations through
the materiality assessment. Based on the
results of the assessment, the Group identifies
material ESG issues and makes key disclosures
in this ESG Report.
AEBBEEZUNERESRRE 18
MERZEHAEELENTE - IRIBFVAE
BRAEERTERARE HERELRHES
WERRRE HEREGMEPHERE -

This ESG Report is prepared in accordance
with the ESG Reporting Guide and discloses
KPls in a quantitative manner. The KPls

are supplemented by explanatory notes to
establish benchmarks where feasible.

ARR - HEREGHRERERE HELE
SRR EEEET - A BB ARER
BIZ - EAIITIER T - BRGNS IAMRE
TEMRE - AR EE o

This ESG Report is based on an objective
and impartial manner to ensure that the
information disclosed faithfully reflects the
overall performance of the Group in ESG
aspects.

ARG - HEREABREERNTBRALENR
A BERMABRENENNE RRAEEAR
BoHgRkERSTENEBEEY

Unless otherwise stated, the Group's disclosure
and statistical methods are consistent with

the past such as the year ended 31 March
2024 for meaningful comparison. If there are
any changes that may affect comparison with
previous reports, explanations will be provided
in this ESG Report.

BREEHAEN  NEBOEKE LG TTE
BB E (IR 2024 F3 A3 BIEFE) — B
AEETAEERNLLE - B E(E AT /L
FEEBERENLE  BREBE HERE
SBERE R T A -
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During the Reporting Period, the Group confirmed that it has
established appropriate and effective management policies and
internal control systems for ESG issues and confirmed that the
disclosed contents are in compliance with the requirements of the “ESG
Reporting Guide”.

The Board reviews progress made against ESG-related goals and
targets. The Group fully understands that ESG policies and practices
may change over time to reflect the changes in business operations,
structures, technologies, laws and regulations, and the environment
and continuously reviews from time to time for the performance and
implementation progress of the ESG-related goals and targets. If the
progress falls short of expectations or changes in business operations,
it may be necessary to make changes and communicate about the
goals and targets with key stakeholders. The Group thus continues
to invest substantial resources to monitor ESG issues, policies and
practices and performance on an ongoing basis. In order to contribute
to the sustainable development on the environment and society, whilst
maximising the benefits to our employees and the stakeholders, the
Group has continued to exercise due responsibility in maintaining the
highest level of ethical standards when conducting its business and
upholds strict compliance with all relevant laws, rules and regulations
in all ESG matters.

CONTACT US

We welcome stakeholders to provide their opinions and suggestions.
You can provide valuable advices in respect of the ESG Report or our
performances in sustainable development by sending your feedback
and enquires to our Customer Service Manager at cs@f8.com.hk.
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CARING FOR THE ENVIRONMENT AND NATURAL
RESOURCES

A. ENVIRONMENTAL

A1 Emissions

Governance on Air Pollutants, GHG Emissions and Waste
Management

The Group is strongly committed to the long-term sustainability of the
environment and communities in which we operate. As such, the Group
has established relevant procedures to detect and prevent any possible
pollution incidents which affect the surrounding environment that
may occur in the course of our business operations. During the year
ended 31 March 2025, we measured and managed our environmental
performance in several aspects throughout our operations.

In terms of the Group's sale, supply and transportation of diesel oil
and related products businesses in Hong Kong, we understand there
are environmental emissions such as air emissions, GHG emissions,
waste-water discharges, general waste, and hazardous waste disposals.
During the Reporting Period, the emissions and waste produced from
the operations of 8 diesel oil tank wagons. By integrating environmental
consideration into our decision-making processes, we embrace our
responsibilities to create an environmentally sustainable business. We
are also committed to raising our employees’ environmental awareness
and complying with relevant environmental laws and regulations.

To enhance our environmental governance practice and mitigate
the environmental impacts produced by our operations, we have
implemented relevant environmental protection policies and
communicated such policies to our employees. These policies
encourage our staff to contribute towards sustainability by adopting
environmentally friendly operation methods. In the long run, we will
continue to enhance our environmental management strategies in
monitoring and minimizing the environmental impacts brought by our
businesses regularly in the coming years.

BAERRERAER

A. BiIE

A1EEH

ERERY - BERBHERREEYEES
HHER
AEBEBRFAREREGHNAERRE TR
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Air Pollutants Emissions

During the Reporting Period, the total air emission produced by the
Group amounted to approximately 4,102.74 kg, which decreased by
approximately 29.40% compared to last year. The emission intensity
was approximately 512.84 kg per vehicles (2024: 726.44 kg per
vehicles). The Group strives to save energy and reduce waste as much
as possible in its daily work, thereby reducing air pollutants emissions.
Through different environmental protection measures, employees’
awareness of reducing exhaust gas emissions has been raised. The
Group's air emissions during the Reporting Period were as follows:

RSP

RIFERE AEEEENERERDEE
W AE410274F 5% B EEBBRFEER DD
29.40% - BT B R PENE E 4 £512.84F
7 (20244F : B ET72644F %) - AEH
BORBETEPZE8 S0 RMERE
M =R EMBEN - BB TRMRR
Bit - BB YR BRI E SRS AR -
MRS - AEBMZE RS AR T

Air Pollutants Emission Unit 2023/2024  2024/2025 % Change
RIS BEK B 2023/2024 % 2024/2025 F Elalrd-X)
Nitrogen oxidex (“NOx") KG 5,417.01 3,824.24 -29.40%
ARatm((a|tyw)) )

Sulphur oxidex (“SOx") KG 5.00 3.53 -29.40%
maty ((maEty)) A

Particulate matters (“PM") KG 389.50 274.97 -29.40%
AR A SRZ 0N ([ AT R A BRZ SR ]) )

Total 5,811.51 4,102.74 -29.40%
wE

GHG Emissions and Energy Conservation

The GHG emissions generated by the Group are summarized below in
direct and indirect section. The direct emissions are from the Group's
vehicles’ consumption of fuels while the indirect emissions are via using
energy and paper disposal at landfills.

During the Reporting Period, the total GHG were approximately 595.20
tonnes. Our GHG emissions were mainly classified into three scopes:

Scope 1: Direct emission from the usage of fuels by our vehicles;
Scope 2: Energy indirect emissions; and

Scope 3: Indirect emissions of paper disposal at landfills.

48 F8 ENTERPRISES (HOLDINGS) GROUP LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2025

R PEIA R B I BER
AEBAEARNAEREHF RO BIN TXE
ERREZEAS L ERHEBRBEAKER
BEREMAME - MRS B EAER
R HEREEE AR -

RS HE - BERBEEL S595.20M o
HPNEEREBREIZSR=(A8HE :

BE: UEERMBEKRHERFR:
BE2: BEREEHENR: R
#E3: MNEEREEEFEKNEEIR -



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RiE -dHEREREHE

The following table showed the figures of the Group’s GHG emissions

during the Reporting Period.

GHG emissions Unit
B2 B

TRETAEENRE HRE AR EREHEN -

2023/2024  2024/2025 Change (%)
2023/2024 % 2024/2025%F #E(HoHL)

Direct emissions of GHG from the usage of Emissions tonnes

fuels by vehicles 815.62 575.80 -29.40%
AEBE AR ER AR E RS Bk pUsE
I=RE37191)'
Indirect emissions of GHG from the energy Emissions tonnes 12.95 13.37 3.28%
BERAE B B R = R BE R R BERL HE RE
Indirect emissions of GHG from the paper Emissions tonnes
disposal at landfills 2.84 6.03 112.04%
MRHEE R B B R EKARE R BE A
I HER
Total 831.41 595.20 -28.41%
In line with our policies to minimize air pollutants and GHG emissions, A ARKMEBEERLER/ 2R AERE
The Group has set a target to reduce the air pollutants emission and  BFMBIEER - ASEEEREE R =R
the annual GHG emission intensity per unit of production volume by 3%. Z¥HHMEEBEEEMNNF R EEREHN
The Group's offices air conditioning is set and maintained at a fixed ZHEEE3% o AEBPAZTH AR E LR

temperature and requiring employees to turn off all the lights and
switch off the desktops after work.

Employees are also encouraged turn off the lights at lunch time and
using power saving appliances all the time.

Waste Management

Hazardous waste handling method

Despite the Group did not generate hazardous wastes during the
Reporting Period, we have established guidelines in governing the
management and disposal of hazardous wastes. In case there is any
hazardous waste produced, we must engage a qualified chemical
waste collector to handle such waste, which is complied with the

relevant environmental regulations and rules.

FREEAE YEXRESTMRELMA
BRLEMEK -

BATEEREERFRERBE AR EM
BRI FHERRE EE 25 o

BERYEHE

e EYEIET A
BEAKBRREPELEELCRED -
BAEHERERREYEIEREEMNES -

WEEEEFAEREY RMALEBFEEE
R BRI ERRIT LAY - 8T
MERFEERLRA
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Non-hazardous waste handling method

During the Reporting Period, the non-hazardous waste produced
by the Group was mainly paper waste, which amount to 628.00 kg
(2024: 592.33 kg) with a rise compared to last year. The paper wastes
produced per employee was 24.15 kg per employee (2024: 22.78 kg
per employee). The paper consumption increased when comparing
with last year. We strive for reducing paper consumption in the coming
year.

The Group has set a goal of reducing the intensity per employee in
respect of hazardous and non-hazardous waste by 3% in the coming
year. With the aim of minimizing the environmental impacts from non-
hazardous wastes generated from our business operations, the Group
have implemented measures to handle such wastes and launched
different reduction initiatives. The Group have disposed the waste
generated by business operation into three categories, which are
general waste, recyclable waste and special waste. Recyclable waste
includes papers, bottles, cans, etc. Special waste includes toner,
battery, etc. The three categories are handled in different ways based
on their nature.

We have implemented the following procedures to encourage

employees to share responsibilities in waste management and

minimize waste generations:

J Receiving faxes electronically as much as possible, using
electronic systems for filing documents and distributing

messages by electronic channels

o Purchasing environmentally friendly by checking item
consumption to avoid overbuying

o Using recycled toner/inkjet cartridges
J Using double-sided printing or photocopying wherever possible
J Avoiding unnecessary paper using in the office

o Recycling one-sided printed paper

o Reusable tableware is provided in the pantry

o Recycling bins are placed in the office

o A food waste decomposer machine is in place for handling food
waste
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During the Reporting Period, the Group did not have any material
non-compliance with the relevant environmental laws and regulations
in Hong Kong and mainland China, including but not limited to the
“Waste Disposal Ordinance”, “Air Pollution Control Ordinance”,
“Noise Control Ordinance” of Hong Kong and “Environmental
Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China” of mainland China
that had a significant influence on the Group’s operations.

A2 Use of Resources

The Group strives to optimise resource usage in our business
operations and take initiatives to introduce measures on promoting
resource efficiency and adopting eco-friendly approaches in our
operations. The Group’s major resource consumption contributes
to energy consumption. We have established related policies and
initiatives related to energy consumption management, which will be
mentioned in this section.

Energy Consumption

The major energy consumption of the Group was electricity
consumption in the daily operation. The Group aims to minimize
environmental impacts in our operations by identifying and adopting
appropriate measures. We continuously explore the use of new energy
in our business operation and how to optimize, integrate and use the
resources in a highly efficient manner with the support of the latest
information science and technology, thereby achieving sustainable
development. Related policies and initiatives on energy conservation
have been developed to show our concern on energy efficiency.
All employees must implement the adopted policies and measures
in resource utilization. Regular review is conducted on our energy
objectives and targets to seek continuous improvement in the Group's
energy performance.

Monthly monitoring on the usage of electricity was implemented.
Unexpected high electricity consumption would be investigated to find
out the root cause and preventive measures would be taken. During
the Reporting Period, the Group has implemented the following
measures relating to mitigating emissions:

o Switching off unnecessary lightings and electrical appliances
when not in use

o Don't use the high power incandescent lamps
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J The air-conditioning of the meeting room should not be
turned on until 15 minutes before anyone uses it, and the air-
conditioning should be turned off immediately when leaving the
meeting room

o Lower the curtains before leaving the office to reduce the amount
of direct sunlight in the office the following day

o Initiating the standby or hibernate mode of the computer in
order to make sure to turn off their computers before leaving the
office

o Turning off unnecessary servers at night and on public holidays

o Implementing “no light policy” during lunch time

J Using appliances and devices which are eco-friendly or energy-
saving

J Setting all printers, photocopiers and computers to energy saving
mode

During the Reporting Period, the total electricity consumption amount
of the Group was approximately 36.14 MWh (2024: 34.99 MWh) and
the electricity consumption intensity was approximately 1.39 MWh per
employee (2024: 1.35 MWh per employee). After carefully reviewing
current business operations, the Group has set the consumption
target of energy as reducing 3% the electricity consumption intensity
in the coming year. The Group will adopt measures in promoting the
employee’s awareness of energy conservation.

Water Consumption

As our principal business was focusing on sale and transportation of
diesel oil products, we did not consume significant amounts of water
through our business activities. In respect of water sourcing for office
use, since the water source is from the government department, there
was no water sourcing issue during the Reporting Period.

Use of Packaging Material

Due to the nature of the Group's business, the Group has no industrial
production and no factory facilities. Therefore, no significant amount of
packaging materials is used for packaging products.
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A3 The Environment and Natural Resources
Protecting the Environmental Impact and Natural Resources

The business activities of the Group have no direct/significant impact
on environment and natural resources. The Group nonetheless
commits to using natural resources wisely and efficiently while we
encourage the reuse and recycling of materials within our operations.
We spent efforts in mitigating our potential environmental impacts
through adopting industry best practices targeted at reducing natural
resources consumption and developing effective environmental
management. We regularly assess the environmental risks of our
businesses, adopt preventive measures to reduce potential risks and
ensure compliance with relevant laws and regulations.

Due to the decreased usage of vehicles for transportation of diesel oil
and related products and the expansion in our business, our carbon
emissions, paper consumption and electricity consumption decreased
when compared with the emission from last year. Nonetheless, the
awareness of environmental protection and sustainability has been
raised among our employees.

In addition, in order to prevent any diesel oil leakage during both land
and water transport, the oil tank wagons, and barge are inspected
frequently and are closely monitored. Instant repairs and maintenance
are carried out in case any unusual conditions are found in our vehicles.
Besides, we have enough space vehicles for backup when needed.
For the oil tank barge, we have contracted with a crew of experienced
sailors to monitor the daily operations of the water transportation.

Paperless Office

In order to reduce paper usage, the Group strongly advocated
paperless office operations. All offices are operated in the electronic
system as far as possible to reduce the use and consumption of office
paper in order to save forest resources. We also encouraged electronic
medium for communications within the office and with suppliers.

As a socially responsible enterprise, protecting nature and the
environment has become an integral part of the Group's corporate
culture and important value, the Group constantly looks for ways
to maximize benefits with minimal resource consumption and
environmental impact, and continue to strive for sustainable
development.
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A4 Climate Change

During the Reporting Period, the Group has not been significantly
impacted by climate-related issues while the Group understands
climate-related issues are harmful to the environment and have been
rigorously regulated by the United Nations’ Framework Convention.
The Group recognises the importance of identifying climate change
risk to mitigate the associated impacts on its business operations by
minimizing its GHG emission. However, typhoon, sandstorms, haze
and other natural disaster, all of which, would directly affect the daily
operating of the Group. As a result, the Group has continuously
evaluated for any impact arising from natural disaster and has taken
measures to mitigate its impacts.

CARING FOR THE PEOPLE AND SOCIETY
B. SOCIAL

B1 Employment and Labor Practices
Equal Employment Practices

The Group puts significant emphasis on the welfare of employees
whom they are considered as the Group’s most valuable assets. Hence,
the Group strives to attract and retain talents and reconcile economical
imperatives with well-beings, aiming at reinforcing satisfaction, loyalty
and commitment of human capital.

The Group has adopted comprehensive human resources manual
which includes policies and procedures applicable to staff. All
employees are treated fairly regarding recruitment, training and
development, appraisal of work performance, promotions, rest
periods, remuneration and benefits. Staff dismissals are based on the
Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57 of Laws of Hong Kong) or relevant
local laws and regulations, as well as the requirements stipulated in
the employment contracts. The Group is committed to providing
equal opportunity for all employees and applicants without regard
to race, color, religion, national origin, sex, age, marital status, sexual
orientation, disability, political affiliation, personal appearance, family
responsibilities, matriculation or any other characteristic protected
under local law.

Throughout the F8 Enterprises’ operation, the Group strives to provide
an excellent and comfortable working environment. Based on the
features of the principal business, the Group understands that taking
a break by its staff from time to time is necessary for accomplishing
the long-term goals of the Group, and so, it strikes a proper work life
balance of its employees, providing them 6-day work per week with 8
working hours per weekday and 3 working hours every Saturday. We
appreciate the efforts of employees during their working hours, and
advocate a no over time working culture, to allow sufficient rest time
for employees. In case overtime is needed, overtime compensation is
paid to employees according to the actual additional working hours.
The Group provides paid annual leave, maternity leave, paternity leave
and funeral leave in addition to statutory holidays for the employees.
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In addition, we contribute to the Mandatory Provident Fund and
employee’s compensation insurance with reference to the relevant
regulations and laws. Medical allowance is also provided by the Group
to employees covering their clinic consultation, traditional Chinese
medicine, dentistry, as a basic benefit for employees.

As at 31 March 2025, the Group employed 26 staffs in total. As an
illustration, the workforce statistic by gender and age group are
illustrated in pie graphs while the employment type and employment

category are disclosed as bar charts:
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The Group is committed to complying with relevant labour standards
and employment laws and regulations which are applicable to our
business. During the Reporting Period, no material and significant
disputes between the Group and the employees were occurred.

B2 Health and Safety
Promoting Health and Safety

The Group considers health and safety of its employees as one of its
primary responsibilities. As such, the Group is committed to providing
a workplace free from injury and illness through effective procedures
and practice on occupational health and safety.

Regarding workplace health and safety, first aid boxes are available at
readily accessible locations in the Group's offices. Treatment for minor
injuries can be obtained on request to the supervisor in charge at the
site of the first aid box nearest to the scene of the accident. The Group
purchased medical insurance for all employees to cover any medical,
dental, hospital and surgical expenses and conducted health check
from time to time to ensure the health of employees. Employees who
suffer from injury arising out of and in the course of employment are
entitled to compensation in accordance with the related regulations.
During the Reporting Period, there were no fatal cases reported, in
which we successfully achieved a 0% rate of fatality.

The measures for emergency situations in respect of fire occurring
in certain buildings or installations are also regulated in terms of
guidelines assisting employees to take sensible immediate action
when discovering a fire. The Group provides fire drill for the employees
to ensure they can evacuate quickly and safely from the premises and
assembled in the designated area away from the building in the event
of a fire.

During the Reporting Period, the Group has ensured full compliance
with relevant occupational health and safety legislations of Hong Kong,
the PRC, and other relevant legislations. No severe injury or fatality was
reported and the number of days lost due to work-related injuries is O
throughout the Reporting Period.
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B3 Development and Training
Talent Management

The Group recognizes the valuable contribution of our talents for the
continuous success of the Group. Nurturing talents and polishing the
skills of our human capital is crucial in leading us to excellence. This
is achieved through development of training strategy that focuses on
creating values and serving the needs of our customers, talents and
society. Therefore, we encourage our employees to attend trainings
and obtain professional qualifications.

We notice the importance of training and development for our staff
to keep abreast of the latest trend in the industry and the dynamic
pace in current market. During the Reporting Period, the Group mainly
provided informal on-the-job training to employees. The Group also
provided regular formal safety trainings for all its drivers and Excel
programming updated for its office staff. The training time hours for
the male staff is 267.5 and for the female is 22.5. The Group determine
the company’s vision and be willing to share it with employee. The
Group also motivate employees by asking employees for their opinions
and sharing ideas, so as to improve the cohesion and attraction of
the team. In this way, employees feel that they are part of the team
and an important participant in the success of the team. the Group
has established relevant policies in the Staff Handbook stating that its
employees are welcome to participate in the external training sessions
organized by government agencies on occupational safety and
environmental awareness.
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During the Reporting Period, the development and training statistic R ¥ &8 - L ER RERENE SN EE
by gender and employment category are disclosed in following bar  RIFIFHFTEIEE R R A T KEE :

graphs:
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B4 Labor Standards
Prohibiting Child and Forced Labor

The Group prohibits the use of child labor and forced or compulsory
labor at all its units and suppliers. No employee is made to work
against his/her will or work as forced labor, or subject to corporal
punishment or coercion of any type related to work.

Personal data are collected during the process to assist in the selection
of suitable candidates and to verify candidates’ personal data to ensure
no child labor will be recruited. The human resources department
also ensures identity documents are carefully checked. Overtime
working is on a voluntary basis. Also, compensation is provided
for overtime working with prior approval obtained from respective
supervisor. If violation is involved, it will be dealt with in the light of the
circumstances.

Also, the Group has zero-tolerance to employment of child labor and
forced labor and the Group is not aware of any non-compliance with
relevant rules and regulations, including but not limited to Employment
Ordinance on preventing child or forced labor.

B5 Supply Chain Management
Upholding High Procurement Standards

The Group highly values our relationship with suppliers and regards
them as important business partners. All suppliers are evaluated
carefully and subjected to regular monitoring and assessment. The
Group has formulated related procurement policies and procedures
to manage its suppliers and the policies and procedures are reviewed
annually.

As at 31 March 2025, the Group engaged 23 qualified oil suppliers in
Hong Kong, including 4 major suppliers: Mobil, Caltex, Sinopec, SHELL.
The Group has set clear requirements on selection and management
of suppliers to ensure standardized management and proper selection
of suppliers and effective control over operational risks resulting from
improper selection, unreasonable method or fraudulent practice of
suppliers. The Group's policies regarding the purchase from suppliers
focused on quality, environment protection, price, and reputation, etc.
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The Group have a set of criteria to choose suppliers. The basic criteria
for selecting suppliers are the "Q, C, D, S” principle, which is the
principle of quality, cost, delivery and service. Among the four, the
quality factor is the most important. First, it is necessary to confirm
whether the supplier has established a stable and effective quality
assurance system including whether the products and/or services are
environmentally preferable, and then confirm whether the supplier
has the equipment and process capabilities to produce the specific
products required. The second is cost, it is necessary to use value
engineering methods to analyze the cost of the products involved,
and to achieve cost savings through price negotiations. In terms of
delivery, it is necessary to determine whether the supplier has sufficient
production capacity, whether human resources are sufficient, and
whether there is potential for production capacity. The last point is the
supplier’s pre-sales and after-sales service records.

In order to manage the progress and quality of work conducted by our
suppliers, we have set up standards for the tender and purchase from
suppliers. We have also established a database of suppliers, which
includes the basic information of suppliers, the types of products or
services providers, the types of suppliers and the supply prices for the
Group's long-term follow-up assessment of suppliers. Our managers
and project coordinators conduct regular review with the appointed
suppliers.

Related policies are formulated by the Group to ensure that the
suppliers could participate in competitions in an open and fair way.
The Group should not have differentiated or discriminated treatment
on certain suppliers; it would strictly monitor and prevent all kinds
of business bribery; and employees or personnel having any interest
relationship with the supplier should not be involved in the related
business activity.
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B6 Product Responsibility
Delivering Unmatched Product Quality

The Group’s business led by its experienced management team is
committed to offering higher-value services to customers, in order
to enhance the Group's competitiveness and achieve mutual success
between the Group and customers. In order to ensure product quality,
careful supply quality inspection is performed as mentioned above.
Moreover, to ensure the service quality, regular training is provided
to all drivers for the job-related skills and knowledge. During the
Reporting Period, there was no case of product recalls for safety and
health reason, nor was there any complaint received.

Intellectual Property Right

The Group is committed to safeguarding intangible assets and
confidential information of its customers. The Group has strict
guidelines on the handling of intellectual property related products,
including patents, copyrights, trademarks, technology and trade
secrets. Any employee found to improperly handling intellectual
property rights will be subject to disciplinary action.

Customer Data Protection

The Group takes serious protection of our members’ confidential
information. The Group seeks to protect our members’ information
and accounts by employing data security measures such as encryption,
passwords and firewalls, etc. The Group has hired specific employees
to handle the storage and access of our customers’ information. Our
employees are prohibited to use the personal information of our
customers for purposes which are not related to the maintenance of
their accounts, unless their prior consent is obtained. If our employees
would like to access the information of our customers, they will need to
apply for approval. We do not sell, rent or otherwise share the personal
information of clients with any third parties without their prior consent.
Stipulated in our privacy policy, we make sure that the processing
of personal data for marketing purposes, fulfil the requirements of
applicable law.
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RiE -dHEREREHE

Complaint Mechanism

To provide a pleasant user experience for our customers, the Group
has long established a set of procedures to handle customers’ feedback
or complaints in a professional manner. Customers’ information will
be recorded, and enquiries or complaints cases received will be
transferred to the related departments or further handling. Reviews
on feedback or complaints is conducted, and action plans are in place
promptly to address the identified issues. The Group will collect the
information on the complaint cases, such as the occasion, reason, and
the contact of the client, etc. Customers’ satisfaction is evaluated after
the cases are settled, and feedback or complaints may be circulated to
management if necessary.

During the Reporting Period, there was no case of non-compliance
with laws and regulations in relation to product responsibility within the
offices of the Group.

B7 Anti-Corruption
Commitment to Anti-Corruption

The Group commits to maintaining a high standard of integrity when
doing business as we strongly believe that it is essential to meeting the
expectations of our stakeholders.

The Group promotes integrity and prevents unethical pursuits. Anti-
corruption policy has been formulated to comply with the Prevention
of Bribery Ordinance. The Group has also implemented an effective
whistle-blowing policy for reporting fraud, corruption, bribery,
extortion and money laundering. The Group has provided anti-
corruption education and training for its directors and staff at least
on an annual basis through case studies and internal training to stress
the importance of tackling corruption. We encourage the reporting of
suspected business irregularities and provide clear channels specifically
for this purpose. When suspected wrongdoings are identified, such as
breach of duty, abuse of power, receiving bribes, staff are trained to
report to the Board for investigation and verification, and report to the
regulator and/or to law enforcement authority when necessary.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, there are no concluded legal
cases regarding corruption brought against the Group or its employees
during the Reporting Period.
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Contributing to the Welfare of Society A EREE M

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group has not established R & Z2025F 3831 B IEFE © A EE &K
standalone community investment initiatives. We fully recognize the R BYV ML RIEEEE RO RE T
significance of corporate contributions to community developmentand ¥ ¥t REREBOEZ N TEGHTE
are actively developing a structured community engagement strategy. R AL [ 2 HE KR  2RF - HIFFEIHE D
In the coming year, we plan to launch targeted programs aligned with Y1 & &t & F Z M E4EFTE  WHE X
local societal needs, such as educational support, care for vulnerable 1% - BRI 2 BB IREME L EBEES -
groups, or preservation of regional cultural heritage and at the same R AEETITEEMELERNE LE
time, the Group will intend to invest more resources into volunteering & * LAE Bt & ©

initiatives to contribute to the society.
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INDEX FOR ESG REPORTING GUIDE
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FREES  EBE -

—RXBERBRE

BER it 5, & 8

KPI'A1.5 Description of reduction initiatives and results achieved. Emissions — Air Pollutants
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KPI'A1.6

FRERAE IR IR AL
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Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes
are handled, reduction initiatives and results achieved.
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Aspect A2: Use of Resources

A2BH : ERER
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Management
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water and other raw materials.
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Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type in total
and intensity.

BENR/RERERBE(RAR) RERTE

Water consumption in total and intensity.

RKEEREE -

Description of energy use efficiency initiatives and results
achieved.

R g IR ARk st A B R PTG AR ©

Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water
that is fit for purpose, water efficiency initiatives and results
achieved.
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Description of the significant impacts of activities on the
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manage them.
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Aspect A4: Climate Change
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The Environment and Natural
Resources — Paperless Office
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KPI A4.1
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Policies on identification and mitigation of significant
climate-related issues which have impacted, and those
which may impact, the issuer.
BRIREHELRAIEGHBITAEEXLENERRIKE
FEEMBUER

Description of the significant climate-related issues which
have impacted and the actions taken to manage them
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Climate Change
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Subject Areas,
Aspect,

General Disclosure

and KPIs
FTEEY  EBHE -
—RIZERAREE
WisE

Description
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Section/Declaration
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Aspect B1: Employment

B1EME : EfE

General Disclosure

—RIE

KPI'B1.1

B A IR R B

KPIB1.2

FASR A MIE 1R B1.2

Information on:

(@) the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer

relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and

promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity,

diversity, anti-discrimination, and other benefits and

welfare.

BT EAEE BERSHE  TERE - RE - TE#

g Zult RESEAREMFERER
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b) HETABEAZENHBEELAOINER -

Total workforce by gender, employment type (for example,
full- or part-time), age group and geographical region.
RIER - RIFEEE (2R RE)  FHRAEMN RS D
MIEB A -

Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and
geographical region.

BRI FRARI MRS D WEERKL X -

Aspect B2: Health and Safety

B2EH : BREHEZZE

Employment and Labour
Practise

BENMETER

Employment and Labour
Practise

ERMSETER

Employment and Labour
Practise

BERNMETER

General Disclosure

—REE
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Information on:

(@) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer

relating to providing a safe working environment and

protecting employees from occupational hazards.

BERRHZ2TEREMMREREEREBELEEN
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Subject Areas,
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and KPIs
FTEEY  EBHE -
—RIZERAREE
WisE
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Section/Declaration
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Aspect B3: Development and Training

B3EMH : BEREI

General Disclosure

—RIE

KPI'B3.1

A4 A I 1R B3

KPIB3.2

FAdR A M5 1R B3.2

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for

discharging duties at work. Description of training activities.

BRARMEERTT TIEBE MM MR BUR © e atss
FEE

The percentage of employees trained by gender and
employee category (e.g. senior management, middle
management).

BRMRIRESREN(WEREEE "REEE) SR
IMEEB DL -

The average training hours completed per employee by
gender and employee category.

BRI R EREERE D  BREETKZIN TR -

Aspect B4: Labour Standards

B4AEME : 8 T %A

Development and Training

R R

Development and Training

R R

Development and Training

TR R

General Disclosure

—RWE

KPI'B4.1

B A IR B4

KPI B4.2

FAdR A ISR BA.2

Information on:

(@) the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer

relating to preventing child and forced labour.

BB IEE T ko8 H4 T :

@ BX: &

(b) EBTFHETABEAZEMHEBEERBMNGER

Description of measures to review employment practices to
avoid child and forced labour.

ft i BB NE AR R ET RIS T

Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when
discovered.
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Labour Standards
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Labour Standards
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4 T2

Fe % (R EEERAR/ —E-_RFFRK

69



Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE HERERERS

Subject Areas,
Aspect,

General Disclosure

and KPIs
FTEEY  EBHE -
—RIZERAREE
WisE

Description

g

Section/Declaration

i) 227

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management

B5EMH : HEHEEE

General Disclosure

—RIE

KPI B5.1
BASAE M FE1R B51

KPI'B5.2

RG4S WIE1ZEB5.2

KPI'B5.3

BAAE AR FE 1R B5.3

KPIB5.4

B4 AR 1R B5.4
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Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the
supply chain
ERMHERENRE TG RARBER

Number of suppliers by geographical region.
RS DB E o

Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers,
number of suppliers where the practices are being
implemented, and how they are implemented and
monitored.

B AHERNED - mERTEBENSHER
B UNMBEBERITRERE -

Description of practices used to identify environmental
and social risks along the supply chain, and how they are
implemented and monitored.

Bl A B R R B ER B R IR B A S R 18 B -
AR BRI IT REEBR 70K ©

Description of practices used to promote environmentally

preferable products and services when selecting suppliers,
and how they are implemented and monitored.
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Aspect B6: Product Responsibility

B6BE : EmEE

General Disclosure

—RIKE

KPI'B6.1

A4 A IS 1R B6.

KPI B6.2
RS E M IE1RB6.2
KPI B6.3
FABAR IR BO.3
KPI B6.4
RASAE M 51T Bo4
KPI B&.5

FAR A WIS 1R B6.S

Information on:

(@) the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer

relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and

privacy matters relating to products and services provided

and methods of redress.

FHMREERNRENERRELS - BE 5% ALk
EEARER AR
@ BX: &

b) BTHETABERFZENRBERLAOINER -

Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to
recalls for safety and health reasons.
EEXCEXERARTRLE2REREHRMARDKN T
DL e

Number of products and service related complaints
received and how they are dealt with.

BEBANERSMRBORFREARBHTL -

Description of practices relating to observing and
protecting intellectual property rights.
it B E N RIBHREES BB -

Description of quality assurance process and recall
procedures.

B 2R ERIERERBWKERF -

Description of consumer data protection and privacy
policies, and how they are implemented and monitored.

OB B & BRHRERARBER - ARARRRTRERITX -

Product Responsibility
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Delivering Unmatched Product
Quality
RESKEEMEER

Complaint Mechanism
AR

Intellectual Property Right
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Delivering Unmatched Product
Quality
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Subject Areas,

Aspect,

General Disclosure

and KPls Description Section/Declaration
FTEES  EBE-

—RXBERBRE

BER it - 1]

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption
B7E®E : RES

General Disclosure  Information on: Anti-corruption
(@) the policies; and
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.
—RWE BRI  81R - BEFRIEREN R&ES
@ EHE:K
b) BEBFHETABEATENEBERNLBROINEH -

KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt Anti-corruption
practices brought against the issuer or its employees during
the reporting period and the outcomes of the cases.

MRAEMIERB7Y RERPAHBETARHESROIEEENE SHLE RES
HFRBE REFAER -

KPIB7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing Anti-corruption
procedures, and how they are implemented and monitored.
MRENIERB7.2 Wl SEERNERER  URBERATRERSE - RES

KPIB7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors ~ Anti-corruption
and staff.
BB MIEIER7.3  HWlMEERETREMNREGTHE - k&S
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Aspect B8: Community Investment

B8EME : HERE

General Disclosure

—REE

KPI'B8.1

B A IR 12 B8

KPI'B8.2

B AE 1R B8.2

Policies on community engagement to understand the
needs of the communities where the issuer operates

and to ensure its activities take into consideration the
communities’ interests.
BEAZ2ERTHRETALEMELETZMBEBRELER
EEEEEMARNEVBUR

Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental
concerns, labour needs, health, culture, sport).
ETEREE(HE BEFEE - LIFTK BFE X
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Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus
area.
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Community Investment
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Community Investment
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Report of the Board of Directors
EEERE

The Directors of the Company are pleased to present their report
together with the audited financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2025.

CORPORATE REORGANISATION AND SHARE
OFFER

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands under the
Companies Act as an exempted company with limited liability on 30
March 2016.

The shares of the Company have been listed on GEM of the Stock
Exchange by way of placing and public offer on 12 April 2017.

On 8 August 2021, 130,000,000 new shares of HK$0.01 each of the
Company were allotted and issued as fully paid to a nominated
shareholder at the issue price of HK$0.086 each under general mandate.
For further details, please refer to the announcements dated 11 June
2021, 16 June 2021, 8 July 2021, 30 July 2021 and 4 August 2021.

On 29 June 2022, the Company has completed a share consolidation
which involves the consolidation of every ten issued and unissued existing
shares of the Company of par value HK$0.01 each into one consolidated
share of the Company of par value of HK$0.10 each.

On 15 September 2022, the Company has completed an allotment and
issue of ordinary shares of the Company pursuant to the right issue on the
basis of one rights share for every two existing shares of the Company,
details of which are disclosed in the prospectus of the Company dated 23
August 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 1 to the
consolidated financial statements. The principal activity of the Group is
sale and transportation of diesel oil and related products in Hong Kong.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The financial performance of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2025 and the financial position of the Group as at that date are set
out in the consolidated financial statements on pages 103 to 107. The
Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend in respect of
the year ended 31 March 2025.
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Report of the Board of Directors
EEERE

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and of the assets and liabilities of
the Group for the last five years is set out on pages 203 to 204 of this
report.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS AND FUTURE
PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS AND
CAPITAL ASSETS

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group did not have any
significant investment, material acquisitions nor disposals of subsidiaries
and affiliated companies save for the section headed “Significant
Investments, Material Acquisitions and Disposals” in this report. The
Group did not have any future plans for material investments and capital
assets as at 31 March 2025.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE SHARE OFFER

On the Listing Date, the Company'’s shares were listed on GEM of the
Stock Exchange. A total of 200,000,000 new shares with nominal value of
HK$0.01 each of the Company (the “Share(s)") were issued at HK$0.32
per share for a total of approximately HK$64.0 million. The net proceeds
received by the Company from the Share Offer, after deduction of the
underwriting commission and related expenses in connection with the
Share Offer, was approximately HK$45.1 million. The net proceeds,
upon receipt by the Company after Listing, has been deposited at a
bank and such net proceeds will be applied in the manners consistent
with the proposed applications set out in the section headed “Future
Plans and Use of Proceeds” in the Prospectus.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year ended 31 March 2025 are set out in note 17 to
the consolidated financial statements.

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Particulars of bank and other borrowings of the Group as at 31 March
2025 are set out in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.

INTEREST CAPITALISED

The Group has not capitalised any interest during the year ended 31
March 2025.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the
year ended 31 March 2025 are set out in note 30 to the consolidated
financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in reserves of the Group and the Company during
the year ended 31 March 2025 are set out in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity on page 107 and note 32 to the consolidated
financial statements, respectively.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group's financial condition, results of operation, business and
prospects may be affected by a number of risks and uncertainties. The
followings are the key risks and uncertainties identified by the Group
relating to our business:

o The Group is dependent on the major supplier (in terms of total
purchases) for the supply of diesel oil. Any shortage or delay in the
supply of diesel oil from it, or any change in its existing marketing
strategies may materially and/or adversely affect the Group's
business and results of operations if we cannot secure alternative
sources of supply immediately.

o The Group's customers are not subject to any minimum purchase
requirement to purchase diesel oil from the Group.
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o A significant portion of the Group's revenue was attributable to
the sale of diesel oil and its profitability may be adversely affected
if demand for diesel oil declines for any reason.

o The demand for our diesel oil would be adversely affected by
the delay in public sector projects caused by failures or delays in
passing funding for public work proposals by committees of the
Legislative Council due to lawmakers’ filibustering.

o The Group's business and results of operations are dependent
on the oil price which are driven by factors beyond the Group's
control and the uncertainty of the crude oil price could have a
material adverse impact on the Group's financial condition and
results of operations.

o Changes in the market conditions and trends in the construction
industry and in the overall economy may affect the Group's
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operations and growth.

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year ended 31 March 2025

and up to the date of this report were as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Fong Chun Man (Chairman)
Ms. Lo Pui Yee (Vice Chairlady)
Mr. Chan Chi Fai (Chief Executive Officer)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Chui Chi Yun, Robert
Dr. Luk Che Chung, Jp
(Appointed with effect from 10 October 2024)
Mr. Wang Anyuan
Mr. Kwong Yuk Lap (Resigned with effect from 10 October 2024)

HE

HZE2025F3A3MBIEFEREEARAREHR

B ARRERNOD

BITES
ET&Y?&E (£/E)
St (81X
REWERLE (FTEAEE)

BUFHITES
BEERCEE
P S HREE A ATt
(R20244F 10510 HEZH(T)
T&uk4t
BSIBSZ S (R20244E10 510 B B#HE)

Fe % (R EEERAR/ —E-_RFFRK

77



Report of the Board of Directors
EEERE

Pursuant to article 84 of the Articles of Association of the Company
(the “Articles”), one-third of the Directors shall retire from office by
rotation and re-election at an annual general meeting of the Company
in accordance with the Articles, provided that every Director shall be
retired at least once every three years. Furthermore, pursuant to article
83(3) of the Articles, any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual
vacancy shall hold office until the first annual general meeting of the
Company after his appointment and be subject to re-election at such
meeting. Accordingly, Mr. Fong Chun Man, our executive Director, Mr.
Chui Chi Yun, Robert, our independent non-executive Director and
Dr. Luk Che Chung, JP, our independent non-executive Director, will
retire from office at the forthcoming annual general meeting ("AGM")
to be held on Monday, 11 August 2025. Mr. Fong Chun Man, Mr. Chui
Chi Yun, Robert and Dr. Luk Che Chung, Jp, being eligible, will offer
themselves for re-election at the forthcoming AGM.

Confirmation of Independence

Each independent non-executive Director has given the Company
an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the
GEM Listing Rules. The Company considers that all the independent
non-executive Directors are independent and meet the independent
guidelines set out in Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS AND LETTERS
OF APPOINTMENT

(a)

Executive Directors

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract
with the Company and shall continue thereafter unless terminated
in accordance with the terms therein. Under the terms of the
service contract, the service contract may be terminated by not
less than three months’ notice served by either party on the
other. The term of service of a Director is subject to retirement by
rotation of Directors as set out in the Articles.

(b) Independent Non-executive Director

Each of the independent non-executive Director has signed a
letter of appointment with the Company which may be terminated
by not less than one month’s notice served by either party on the
other. The term of service of a Director is three years commencing
on the respective dates of their appointments subject to the
provisions on retirement by rotation of Directors as set out in the
Articles.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors has or is proposed to
have a service contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which
is not determinable by the Company or its subsidiaries within one year
without payment of compensation other than statutory compensation.
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EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

The emolument of the Directors is recommended by the Remuneration
Committee by reference to the benchmarking of the market. The
Company also looks into individual Director’'s competence, duties,
responsibilities, and performance.

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the five highest paid
individuals of the Group are set outin notes 13 and 14 to the consolidated
financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the
Group are set out on pages 89 to 95 of this report.

DIRECTORS’ AND CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

Saved as disclosed in note 36 to the consolidated financial statements,
none of the Directors had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, in any transaction, arrangement or contract of significance
to the business of the Group to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party at any time during or at the end of the year
ended 31 March 2025.

As of 31 March 2025, no contract of significance had been entered into
between the Company, or any of its subsidiaries and the controlling
shareholders of the Company or any of its subsidiaries.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

As at 31 March 2025, the Company did not enter into or have any
management and/or administration contracts in respect of the whole or
any principal business of the Company.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the year ended 31 March 2025 and up to the date of this report,
the Directors are not aware of any business and interest of the Directors
nor the controlling shareholders of the Company nor any of their
respective close associates (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) that
compete or may compete, directly or indirectly, with the business of
the Group and any other conflict of interests which any such person has
or may have with the Group during the year ended 31 March 2025 and
up to the date of this report. The independent non-executive Directors
confirmed that the internal control measures in relation to managing
actual or potential conflict of interest of the Group have been properly
implemented.

COMPLIANCE OF NON-COMPETITION
UNDERTAKINGS

On 23 March 2017, Mr. Fong Chun Man and Grand Tycoon Limited
(being controlling shareholders of the Group) entered into a deed of non-
competition (“Deed of Non-Competition”) in favour of the Company
(for itself and each of its subsidiaries), pursuant to which each of Mr. Fong
Chun Man and Grand Tycoon Limited has irrevocably and unconditionally,
jointly and severally, warrants and undertakes with the Company that,
immediately upon the Share Offer becoming unconditional, each of
them shall not, and shall procure each of his/its close associates and any
company directly or indirectly controlled by Mr. Fong Chun Man and
Grand Tycoon Limited (except for the members the Group) shall not,
except through any member of our Group, directly or indirectly (whether
on its own account or with each other or in conjunction with or on behalf
of any person or company, or as principal or agent, through any body
corporate, partnership, joint venture or other contractual arrangement
and whether for profit or otherwise), carry on, engage in, invest or acquire
or hold any rights or be interested or otherwise involved in any business
that is similar to or in competition directly or indirectly with or is likely
to be in competition with any business currently and from time to time
engaged by our Group in Hong Kong and any other country or jurisdiction
to which our Group carries on business or grants franchise from time to
time (“Restricted Business”).
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Mr. Fong Chun Man and Grand Tycoon Limited further undertake that
when he/it or his/its close associates other than any member of the Group
is offered or becomes aware of any new project or business opportunity
(“"New Business Opportunity”) directly or indirectly to engage or
become interested in a Restricted Business, he/it (i) shall promptly
notify our Company of such New Business Opportunity in writing, refer
the same to our Company for consideration first and provide such
information as may be reasonably required by our Company to make an
informed assessment of such New Business Opportunity; and (i) shall
not, and shall procure that the controlled persons or controlled company
not to, invest or participate in any such New Business Opportunity unless
such New Business Opportunity is declined by our Company, or our
Company does not proceed with such New Business Opportunity within
30 business days from the date of the written notice (or if requested by
our Company in writing, such 30 business days period may be extended
to a maximum of 60 business days), and the principal terms of which
he/it and/or his/its close associates invest or participate in are no more
favourable than those made available to our Company.

For further details of the Deed of Non-Competition, please refer to the
section headed “Relationship with Controlling Shareholders — Non-
Competition Undertakings” in the Prospectus.

Mr. Fong Chun Man and Grand Tycoon Limited have both confirmed to
the Company of his/its compliance with the Deed of Non-Competition
during the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report. The
independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the status of
compliance and confirmed that all the undertakings under the Deed
of Non-Competition have been complied by each of Mr. Fong Chun
Man and Grand Tycoon Limited and duly enforced during the Reporting
Period and up to the date of this report.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

For the year ended 31 March 2025, there has been no purchase, sale or
redemption of the Company'’s listed securities by the Company or any
of the subsidiaries.
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DISCLOSURE OF DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS

Interests and short positions of Directors and chief
executive in the shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company and its associated corporations

As at 31 March 2025, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and the chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares
or debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required (i) to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of
Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they
were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO) or (i)
to be entered into the register required to be kept therein, pursuant to
section 352 of the SFO, or (iii) to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules relating
to securities transactions by Directors to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange, were as follows:

EERRoRE

EERESTHRAEBRAR TR HEAEEE
BHRG - HEROREEZFHIHERZR
-

MR2025F3A318  EERARARSITHA
BRARRINHBELE (FTERBFRPE
IEBIEXVER) MR - MBI SEEE P B
BOIRIEZE N BEIENSEXVEFET MDA
MEARRR MBRFTHERSE AR (BIERIE
BHEREEENBBIGEEEESREREE R
R ZARE) (i) B ARIEREF K E &M
FEI2EAFENELMAMNER AR © 8
(iRIEGEM LTI R BIZE5 46165 5.67 156 A
MERRBIRBMRINERETESR S MA
MG AR P MBI TR AR T

Number of Percentage of
Name of Directors Capacity/nature of interest shares held shareholding
EEpA 51 RRtE BERGEHE BREDL
Mr. Fong Chun Man Interest in a controlled corporation (Note 1) 68,897,616 50.1%
(Long position)
FEXEE ReynlrEgEs (MR 68,897,616 50.1%
(45%)
Ms. Lo Pui Yee Interest of spouse (Note 2) 68,897,616 50.1%
(Long position)
BmER Lt fodis (MEE2) 68,897,616 50.1%
(45%)
Notes: Bi%E
1. The shares are held by Grand Tycoon Limited, the equity interest of which is owned 1. ZEROBAEFTARRIAFEE - H100%REH &

as to 100% by Mr. Fong Chun Man. Mr. Fong Chun Man is deemed to be interested
in all the shares held by Grand Tycoon Limited for the purpose of Part XV of SFO.

2. Ms. Lo Pui Yee is the spouse of Mr. Fong Chun Man and is therefore deemed to be
interested in all the shares which Mr. Fong Chun Man is interested for the purpose of
Part XV of the SFO.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2025, none of the Directors and
the chief executive of the Company has any interests or short positions
in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
which were required (i) to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part V of the SFO (including
interests and/or short positions which they were taken or deemed to
have under such provisions of the SFO), or (ii) to be entered into the
register required to be kept therein, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO,
or (iii) to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules relating to securities
transactions by directors to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange.

Interests and short positions of the substantial shareholders
and other persons in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company and its associated corporations

As at 31 March 2025, so far as it is known to the Directors, the following
persons (not being a Director or chief executive of the Company) had
or were deemed to have interests in shares or underlying shares which
(i) were recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
under Section 336 of the SFO, or (ii) which would fall to be disclosed
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO and the
GEM Listing Rules or, (i) who will be, directly or indirectly, be interested
in 10% or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying
rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of any member
of our Group.
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B i EE R EERK R TR AT A S
BT EREBMAMKEQAGMBREAS ERR
BT AR RIRR AR E E10% 8 A A RELS -

Number of Percentage of
Name of Shareholders Capacity/nature of interest shares held shareholding
BRRERHE 51 REmtE BHEROEE BRED
Grand Tycoon Limited Beneficial owner (Note 1) 68,897,616 50.1%
(Long position)
BFARRTF EmEAA (M) 68,897,616 50.1%
(478)
Note: B5E -
1. The shares are held by Grand Tycoon Limited, the equity interest of which is owned 1. ZEROHEFBERRAAFE - H100%KREHTE

as to 100% by Mr. Fong Chun Man. Mr. Fong Chun Man is deemed to be interested
in all the shares held by Grand Tycoon Limited for the purpose of Part XV of SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2025, the Directors have not
been notified by any person who had interests or short positions in the
shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company as recorded in
the register required to be kept pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, or
which would fall to be disclosed under the provisions of Divisions 2 and
3 of Part XV of the SFO.
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Share Option Scheme

The Company has conditionally adopted the share option scheme in
which certain eligible participants including, among others, the Directors
and employees of the Group may be granted options to subscribe for
shares of the Company (“Shares”) on 23 March 2017 (the “Adoption
Date”). The share option scheme became unconditional upon the
Listing Date. Under the terms of the share option scheme, the Board
may, at its discretion, grant options to eligible participants to subscribe
for Shares.

No share options were granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed since
the Adoption Date up to 31 March 2025, and there was no share option
outstanding as at 31 March 2025. Therefore, the Company may grant
options in respect of up to 8,000,000 Shares (or such numbers of Shares
as shall result from a sub-division or a consolidation of such 8,000,000
Shares from time to time) to the participants under the share option
scheme.

Competing Interests

The Directors confirm that none of the Controlling Shareholders or
the Directors and their respective close associates (as defined in the
GEM Listing Rules) is interested in any business apart from the business
operated by our Group which competes or is likely to compete, directly
or indirectly, with our Group's business during the Reporting Period and
up to the date of this report.

Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company adopted a code of conduct regarding directors’ securities
transactions on terms no less exacting than the required standard of
dealings set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules. Having
made specific enquiries of all Directors, the Company confirms that all
of the Directors complied with such required standard of dealings and
its code of conduct regarding directors’ securities transactions as at the
date of this report.
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

Save for one isolated case for non-compliance under the GEM Listing
Rules, details of which are set out in the announcement of the Company
dated 10 August 2021, the Director is aware, the Group has complied
in material respects with the relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the business and operation of the Group and
no material breach of or non-compliance with the applicable laws and
regulations during the year ended 31 March 2025.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 March 2025, the aggregate amount of turnover
attributed to the Group's largest and the five largest customers
accounted for 17.6% and 48.2% (2024: 9.8% and 40.2%) of the total
revenue of the Group, respectively. For the year ended 31 March 2025,
the Group's purchase from the largest and the five largest suppliers
accounted for 33.4% and 84.8% (2024: 23.9% and 70.6%) of the total
purchases of the Group, respectively. At no time during the year ended
31 March 2025 did the Directors, their associates nor any shareholder
of the Company (which to the knowledge of the Directors, owned more
than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) have any interest in the
Group's major customers or suppliers as disclosed above.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND
CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group did not enter into any
transactions which need to be disclosed as connected transactions or
continuing connected transactions pursuant to Chapter 20 of the GEM
Listing Rules.

Details of the material related party transactions are set out in note 36 to
the consolidated financial statements of this report. These related party
transactions did not constitute connected transactions or continuing
connected transactions, or only constituted fully exempted connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions by virtue of the de
minimis exemption, under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Remuneration to key management personnel of the Group, including
Directors described in notes 13 and 14 to the Group's consolidated
financial statements are continuing connected transactions exempt
from the connected transaction requirements under Rule 20.93 of the
GEM Listing Rules.

B FRBERERER

B—RERERT EBTGEM EMAE (A
BFBHENRART A A2021F8A10HHA
) SN BRESEFTAN  HE 2025438318 1E
FE AEBESEATEDETHAERE
BREEFERFEMNMBEIERER - BH
EEREERITETEAERRER -

FERFRHESD

BE2025F3A3NHUEFE AEBEGEAR AKX
EFMERBMAD B ANEE BN 217.6%
48.2% (20244 : 9.8%40.2%) 8 ZE 2025
FIANBUEFE FAEEERARAAMER
ZEIB D RME A S BB 858 2 33.4% % 84.8%
(20245 : 239% 1 70.6%) ° B Z=2025%F3H31
BIEFE BIEAARES HEZBHEBANT
IR (REEAEE AR R BT ANE5%
B)REXFHEBE s ASEFERFHMHERF
AT RS-

BREXZ RSEBERS

HE2025F3A31BILFE  AEBIWERTY
BIEGEM TR AIF20E B E ABEST 55
SEBEZHNEARS -

EXEBAT RSN BENAREHFE MR
FRIEE36 » RIBGEM LR RIFE20% - 25 FE
X HATERBEI HHIFERELS -
2 A RAKR B 2 MBS E T 25 R AREE

AEBGEMBEMRM 13N 14PTI 2 NEE
TETEE (BRES) Z2HMEHR2ET
GEM_ LR B 20.9315GFER 5 4R € M5 4E
FRERS °

Fe % (R EEERAR/ —E-_RFFRK 85



Report of the Board of Directors
EEERE

Corporate Governance

The Company is firmly committed to maintaining and ensuring a high
level of corporate governance standards and will review and improve
the corporate governance practices and standards constantly. During
the year ended 31 March 2025, the Company has complied with the
code provisions set out in the Corporate Governance Code (the “Code
Provisions”) contained in Appendix C1 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Details of the corporate governance practices adopted by the Company
are set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 19 to 37 of
this report.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Share Option Scheme”, no
equity-linked agreement was entered into by the Company during the
year ended 31 March 2025 or subsisted at the end of the reporting year.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this report, the
Company has maintained a sufficient public float as required under the
GEM Listing Rules.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS, SUPPLIERS AND OTHERS

The Group understands the importance of maintaining a good
relationship with its employees, suppliers and customers in order
to meet its employees, immediate and long-term goals. During the
Reporting Period, there was no material or significant dispute between
the Group and its suppliers and customers.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provision for pre-emptive or similar rights under the laws of
Cayman Islands or the Articles which would oblige the Company to offer
new shares on a pro-rata basis to the existing shareholders.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

During the year ended 31 March 2025, a directors’ liability insurance was
currently in place to protect the Directors against potential costs and
liabilities arising from claims brought against the Directors.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business and outlook of the Company as well as
a discussion and analysis of the Group's performance during the year
and the material factors underlying its results and financial position,
including a description of an indication of likely future development can
be found in the management discussion and analysis set out on pages
6 to 7 of this annual report. Those discussions form part of this report.

RELIEF OF TAXATION

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief or tax exemption available to
the shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s securities.

The Company has received no tax relief for the year ended 31 March
2025 (2024: Nil), which is reflected in note 12 to the consolidated
financial statements.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The annual general meeting ("AGM") of the Company will be held
on Monday, 11 August 2025, the notice of which shall be sent to the
shareholders of the Company in accordance with the Articles, the GEM
Listing Rules and other applicable laws and regulations.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

In order to establish entitlements to attend and vote at the forthcoming
AGM, the register of members of the Company will be closed from
Wednesday, 6 August 2025 to Monday, 11 August 2025, both days
inclusive, during which period no transfer of the shares of the Company
will be registered.

Shareholders are reminded to ensure that all completed share transfer
forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged
with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Boardroom
Share Registrars (HK) Limited, at Room 2103B, 21/F, 148 Electric Road,
North Point, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, 5 August
2025.
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ENVIRONMENT POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The principal activity of the sale and transportation of diesel oil and
related products business of the Group is governed by Hong Kong
environmental laws and regulations including the Air Pollution Control
Ordinance (Chapter 311 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and the Water
Pollution Control Ordinance (Chapter 358 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
in Hong Kong.

These laws and regulations cover a broad range of environmental
matters, including air pollution, noise and gas emissions, leakage of
oil products or other hazardous substances. The Group recognises the
importance of environmental protection and has implemented various
environmental protection measures in order to minimise the operation

impact on the environment and natural resources.

The Group will continue to monitor the business operations in order
to ensure that it does not have only significant adverse effect on the
environment and that the Group’s environment protection measures
are adequate to ensure compliance with all applicable current Hong
Kong laws or regulations.

As at the date of this report, no prosecution, penalty or punishment has
been imposed upon the Group for the violation of any environmental
laws or regulations.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed in note 39 to the consolidated financial statements of
this annual report, the Board is not aware of any significant events that
have occurred requiring disclosure.

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statement for the year ended 31 March 2025
has been audited by HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited, who shall
retire at the forthcoming AGM and being eligible to offer themselves
for re-appointment.

By order of the Board

F8 ENTERPRISES (HOLDINGS) GROUP LIMITED
FONG Chun Man
Chairman
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Fong Chun Man (“Mr. Fong"), aged 45, is our founder, executive
Director, Chairman, compliance officer, member of the Nomination
Committee and Remuneration Committee, and is responsible for our
Group's overall corporate management and business development
strategies. Mr. Fong was appointed as an executive Director on 23 March
2017. Mr. Fong established our Group in early 2005 and was appointed as
the director of Great Wall (International) Qil Limited in December 2005.

Mr. Fong has over 20 years of experience in the sale and transportation
of diesel oil and related products. The performance of the Company
is achieved in great level. He was responsible for the Company’s daily
operation, including but not limited to submitting tender proposals and
undertaking construction projects, managing its corporate accounting
and administrative matter, monitoring the logistics of projects and
contacting suppliers and customers, such as authorised agents
appointed by the Oil Majors. Mr. Fong has also been the director of
Jet Good Limited since April 2005, a company engaged in engineering
business in Hong Kong, where he has gained experience in business
operation and management expertise. In addition, Mr. Fong has
acquired Xun Xiang Metalware Company Limited since 2017 to operate
one of the largest scrap iron recycling companies in Hong Kong.

Mr. Fong is an eminent person who enjoys high status and extensive
influence in the Hong Kong. He currently holds a number of important
positions, including a member of the Election Committee of the
Hong Kong Special Administrative Region and a member of the
Standing Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference Guangzhou Committee (FEIARBUAHEEZEMN™
£ 8%), shouldering the responsibility of making recommendations
for national and local development. In terms of social services,
Mr. Fong serves as the executive vice chairman of the Hong Kong
Federation of Guangdong Associations (/8RR E#EE) and the
executive chairman of the Federation of Hong Kong Guangdong
Community Organisations (B8 E Mt E =), as well as the chairman
of the volunteer team of the Hong Kong Guangdong Community
Organisations, committed to promoting exchanges and cooperation
between Hong Kong and the Mainland. In 2023, Fong was awarded the
Medal of Honour in recognition of his long service to the community.
In addition, Mr. Fong is the president of the Hong Kong Road Safety
Patrol, leading the association to ensure public road safety. In the
field of charity, Mr. Fang serves as a director of the board of Pok Oi
Hospital and is committed to giving back to the society. He is also a
vice president of the Hong Kong Real Property Federation and the
life honorary chairman of the Hong Kong Commerce and Industry
Association, making important contributions to Hong Kong's economic
development. In addition, Mr. Fong was also appointed by the
government as the vice chairman of the District Fight Crime Committee
(Sha Tin District), a member of the Sha Tin Rural Committee, the
chairman of the Sha Tin District Youth Community Building Committee,
Honorary President of the Sha Tin District Primary School Branch of
the Schools Sports Federation of Hong Kong, China and an honorary
president of the Hong Kong Girl Guides Association Shatin branch, and
has devoted himself to the local community. Mr. Fong is the spouse of
Ms. Lo.
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Saved as disclosed above, he was not a director in any listed companies
for the last three preceding years.

Note: The English translation of name is for identification purpose only. The official names
of the organisations are in Chinese

Ms. Lo Pui Yee ("Ms. Lo"), aged 46, was appointed as our executive
Director, and vice chairlady on 22 August 2016. Ms. Lo is responsible
for supervising the overall administration and operation of our
Group. She has more than 20 years of experience in the business
administration and marketing area. Ms. Lo joined our Group in June
2016.

Ms. Lo has completed the Hong Kong Advanced Level Examination
in July 1999. Since June 2002, Ms. Lo has gained exposure in the daily
administration, operation and executive management and has been
a sole proprietor of Alpha Communications Company, which carries
on the business of the provision of telecommunication and internet
services, and has been responsible for supervising the business
development and corporate governance. Since 2011, Ms. Lo has
been a director and shareholder of Luxe Tuxedo Limited, an apparel
company offering high-end men'’s formal suit and attire in Hong Kong,
responsible for overseeing the administrative function, enhancing
communication channels between management and staff and product
branding. Ms. Lo is the spouse of Mr. Fong.

In addition, Ms. Lo is also currently a member of the Chinese
People's Political Consultative Conference Guangzhou Nansha
District Committee, an executive committee member of Guangzhou
Federation of Industry and Commerce (EM T TR ¥B & ), an
executive vice president of the Hong Kong Federation of Guangzhou
Women Association (% 7 & N iF B 42 2), an honorary vice president
of the foundation of Kowloon East Association (JLEE R & & 7 H ), an
honorary president of the Hong Kong Girl Guides Association Shatin
branch, the Chairman of the Yau Tsim Mong District Youth Community
Building Committee (R EEFHEEFRZ B 2) and a member of
the Yau Tsim Mong District Fight Crime Committee (5T [& 8% 58
TEER).

Saved as disclosed above, she was not a director in any listed
companies for the last three preceding years.

Note: The English translation of name is for identification purpose only. The official names
of the organisations are in Chinese
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Mr. Chan Chi Fai ("Mr. Chan"), aged 45, was appointed as our
executive Director and chief executive officer on 22 August 2016
and is responsible for the operation of our fleet of tank wagon and
business strategies implementation. Mr. Chan has joined Great Wall
(International) Oil Company since September 2010.

Mr. Chan obtained a higher certificate and a higher diploma in Civil
Engineering from the Hong Kong Institute of Vocational Education in
July 2007 and July 2009, respectively. Mr. Chan also completed the
certificate for Safety Supervisor (Construction Industry), Safety Training
Techniques Course and Safe Working Cycle Course in February 2002,
January 2009 and January 2009, respectively. Prior to joining our
Group, Mr. Chan worked as a foreman in Yuk Shing Engineering Co.,
Limited from March 2000 to February 2007 whose principal business is
construction and engineering, responsible for general site operation
for drainage work and earthwork. From March 2007 to July 2010, Mr.
Chan joined Vibro (H.K.) Limited and was promoted as a geotechnical
field technician, whose principal business is construction, responsible
for ground investigation arrangement and carrying out necessary
testing.

Saved as disclosed above, he was not a director in any listed
companies for the last three preceding years.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chui Chi Yun, Robert (“Mr. Chui”), aged 68, was appointed
as our independent non-executive Director on 23 March 2017. Mr.
Chui is the chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of the
Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee.

Mr. Chui obtained a Bachelor's degree in commerce from the
Concordia University in June 1978 and was awarded the Medal of
Honour by the Government of Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region in 2014. Mr. Chui is currently a practicing certified public
accountant in Hong Kong and is a fellow member of the Hong Kong
Society of Accountants since June 1991 and the Chartered Association
of Certified Accountants since May 1989. Mr. Chui has over 36 years of
experience in the accounting field and is the founder of a Hong Kong
accounting firm, Robert Chui CPA Limited since August 1991.
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Mr. Chui has been appointed as a director of the following listed
companies on the Stock Exchange during the periods indicated below:

BRRER TR RRER TR/ T RA
LHARMES :

Name of listed company (stock code)

Ewm AR EE (RDRR)

Position held
FriEfEmis

Period during which he held
directorship

REEEHE

Dragon King Group Holdings Limited
(stock code: 8493)
EREEBEERAR AR (R : 8493)
Asia Cassava Resources Holdings Limited
(stock code: 841)
TMARZBERERAR AR (RHRE : 841)
National Arts Group Holdings Limited

Independent non-executive
directors

BUFHTES

Independent non-executive
director

BMIFMITES

Independent non-executive

May 2023-October 2023

2023F 5 HE 2023410 A
August 2018-Current

201858 AES
May 2009-November 2022

(stock code: 8228) director
HBEEZERERAF (RO 8228) BYIERITES

Tse Sui Luen Jewellery (International) Limited

(stock code: 417) director
ISR E (HR) BRA A BYIERTES

(Bt 5% « 417)
Wing Lee Property Investments Limited
(stock code: 864)
KAMEZERABR AT (B : 864)

director

BYFRITES

Saved as disclosed above, he was not a director in any listed
companies for the last three preceding years.

Dr. Luk Che Chung, Jp ("Dr. Luk”), aged 63, was appointed as our
independent non-executive Director on 10 October 2024. Dr. Luk is the
chairman of the Nomination Committee and a member of the Audit
Committee.

Dr. Luk is among the first batch of medical graduates from the Chinese
University of Hong Kong in 1986. He holds a master's degree of
public administration from the University of Hong Kong. Dr. Luk is
also the Member of Faculty of Public Health since 2016. He has been
a healthcare executive in the public sector since 1990 with a wide
range of exposure and track record in managing complex and large
healthcare systems, crisis management, human resources management,
corporate governance, corporate communications and media
management, quality and risk management and business development.
He has solid experiences of working with senior professionals, media
and regulatory bodies, government officials, politicians and people on
all fronts, both inside and outside the healthcare sector.
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During his 10 years of services at the Hospital Authority Head Office,
Dr. Luk was responsible for the annual planning of overall operations,
service and facilities planning, development of specialist clinical
services, liaison with the social sector and community, hospital
operations and quality management.

Dr. Luk is currently the vice-chairman of Virtus Medical Group Limited.
Since 1999, Dr. Luk worked as a hospital chief executive, managing
various public hospitals at different times, the main ones being Kwong
Wah Hospital, United Christian Hospital and Queen Mary Hospital.
Since 2005, he also served as the cluster chief executive of Kowloon
East Cluster for 4 years and then Hong Kong West Cluster for 9 years.
Dr. Luk was appointed as the cluster chief executive of Hong Kong East
Cluster and the hospital chief executive of Pamela Youde Nethersole
Eastern Hospital, Wong Chuk Hang Hospital and St. John Hospital
in October 2018. He was responsible for the management of 9,000
staff with a recurrent budget of over HK$8 billion, and the operation
of seven hospitals and 12 general outpatient clinics providing acute
and comprehensive medical services to a population of 0.8 million.
In November 2021, Dr. Luk retired from the Hospital Authority. He
worked as the deputy chief executive officer for Your Health Specialists
Medical Group Limited from November 2021 to September 2022.

Dr. Luk was appointed as an independent non-executive director of
(i) ECI Technology Holdings Limited, a company listed on GEM of the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 8013) since 5 September 2023 and (i) GC
Construction Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 01489) since 5 February 2024.

Over the years, Dr. Luk has been involved in various community work,
including The Chinese University of Hong Kong and some tertiary
institutions, the Medical Council, The Community Chest of Hong Kong,
The Hong Kong Council of Social Service, other various community
and non-governmental organisations.

In recent years, Dr. Luk has been directly involved in the Community
Housing Movement and the Modular Housing Initiative. Dr. Luk
was appointed as a Justice of the Peace by the Hong Kong SAR
Government in 2019 and received the Distinguished Medical Alumni
Award from the Faculty of Medicine of the Chinese University of Hong
Kong in 2020.

Saved as disclosed above, he was not a director in any listed
companies for the last three preceding years.
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Biographies of Board of Directors and Senior Management
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Mr. Wang Anyuan (“Mr. Wang"), aged 55, was appointed as our
independent non-executive Director on 23 March 2017. Mr. Wang is
the chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a member of the
Audit Committee.

Mr. Wang obtained a Bachelor's degree specialising in maritime and
communication accounting from the Shanghai Maritime University
in July 1994. He joined China Merchants Group and served as the
manager of the audit (risk assurance) department from September
1996 to July 2001, the chief financial officer of China Merchants
Securities (HK) Company Limited from July 2001 to January 2007
and general manager of audit (risk assurance) department of China
Merchants Finance Holdings Company Limited from February 2007 to
February 2008. In April 2008, Mr. Wang served BOCOM International
Holdings Company Limited as an executive director and head of China
operation, responsible for the equity sales. From June to December
2009, Mr. Wang served CITIC Securities International as a director
and head of China operation, responsible for their securities business
and had been the account executive of CITIC Securities International
Company Limited from January 2010 to November 2012. In October
2012, Mr. Wang served as a deputy head of brokerage department of
China Investment Securities (Hong Kong) Financial Holdings Limited,
responsible for securities trading. In February 2013, Mr. Wang served
as a responsible officer of China Investment Securities International
Brokerage Limited of Type 1 (Dealing in Securities) regulated activities
as defined in the SFO. In addition, from May 2013 to October 2023, Mr.
Wang served as a business director of Orient Financial Holdings (Hong
Kong) Limited and the wealth management department of China
Merchants Securities (HK) Co., Limited, respectively, and carried out
regulated activities on its behalf. Mr. Wang served as an independent
non-executive director of China Carbon Neutral Development Group
Limited (stock code: 1372) from 18 November 2021 to 23 January
2025 and an independent non-executive director of China Ecotourism
Group Limited (stock code: 1371) from 17 October 2024 to 19 March
2025.

Saved as disclosed above, he was not a director in any listed
companies for the last three preceding years.
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Biographies of Board of Directors and Senior Management
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Cheung Lee Kwok ("Mr. Cheung”), aged 48, is our chief
operation officer and is responsible for overseeing the daily operation
and general financial management of our Group. Mr. Cheung has
joined our Group since April 2016.

Mr. Cheung has over 15 years of experience in operational
management. He obtained a bachelor's degree in mathematics from
the National Central University, Taiwan, in June 2002. Prior to joining
our Group, Mr. Cheung worked as an information technology engineer
in Di Sheng Computer Limited (4 EFR A A*) from March
2004 to July 2005, and from January 2007 to May 2007, responsible
for conducting products testing and providing customer support.
From June 2007 to April 2010, Mr. Cheung worked as an engineer in
Chunghwa Picture Tubes, Ltd. (FZEBE %5 AR 2 7)) whose principal
business is involved in the optoelectronic industry (Taiwan stock
exchange, stock code: 2475, and Luxembourg stock exchange, ISIN
code: US17133M7092), responsible for supervising the production
operation and quality control, as well as managing technicians and
support staffs for improving operational efficiency. Mr. Cheung
then worked in the sale of diesel oil related business in Great Wall
(International) Company for six years from April 2010 to March 2016,
responsible for the daily operations of the sole proprietorship.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Leung Yin Fai (R#&), aged 61, was appointed as the Group's
company secretary on 26 October 2017. Ms. Leung has been a
director of K E Corporate Services Limited (a company secretarial
services provider) since April 2016, the managing director of K E
Management & Consultancy (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. since August 2015
and an independent non-executive director of Lotus Horizon Holdings
Limited (Stock Code: 6063) since March 2020. Ms. Leung was a director
of KCS Hong Kong Limited from August 2008 to October 2014 and an
independent non-executive director of Green leader Holdings Group
Limited (Stock Code: 0061) from April 2014 to January 2020.

Ms. Leung was admitted as a fellow of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants (currently known as Chartered Association of
Certified Accountants) in the United Kingdom in July 1995. Ms. Leung
was also admitted as a fellow member of the CPA Australia in May 2004
and is currently a member of HKICPA. Ms. Leung obtained a master’s
degree in commerce from the University of New South Wales, Australia
in November 2002.

'd%_ll %IEE

RABELE ([REE]) 48578 BEZEARK
MREERE TAEERASEMNHTES
BR—RUBER REEB2016F4H
MARER -

REENLEERE N EBEABISFLES K
R2002F 6 A B G EB AR KERGEE
BB - NAREER - RS HE 82004 F
3HE200547 A + & B 2007 F1H =2007 %
S5A REBAEEMBERARELEMBHRIR
M -BEETERAIARRERERFIE -8
2007 F6 AZ 2010564 A > sRAENPERE
RO BERAR(EEZZEB ARSI HEITE)
(REBEHERSFA WM : 2475 REFRK
BZHAHT BEHMRE - US17133M7092) $E1E
TR BEEBEEEERDGSZH MU
MEBRMERYIEE TUIRFALERE-
RAELBEE B2010F48E2016FE38RE
(B AR SR B HE E T
BEBELLHBELE -

RAME

PEELL 615 R2017F 10426 B EZE
TARAEERAIWE - RLTH2016F4A
—BHARFYEBERAF (—BAFMWMEME
) ZES - B2015F 8 A Ay BN (L
B)BERARZEERH2020F3 8 A%+
BRI AR A E (MRS - 6063) 2 B IE
HITESE - 22+ 200858 A E 2014410
RHEAIEBREERARZEE RN 2014
FLAZE2020F 1 FHMAGZBIERERER
NE (M RSE - 0061) Z BT IEHITES -

R LR1995F7 AESEEEFEMeEt
Mog (RARTIMETMAg WE8E
1o 2+ IRA20044F5 BESRMNEME
AR eeEAR  RARESMASY
8 o B4 +2002F 11 AES RN EER
T REpHEE LB -

Fe % (R EEERAR/ —E-_RFFRK 95



Independent Auditors’ Report
& 3 2 BAT R

BT g3t EH AR A G
HODGSON IMPEY CHENG LIMITED

HLB

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
F8 ENTERPRISES (HOLDINGS) GROUP LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of F8 Enterprises
(Holdings) Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the "Group”) set out on pages 103 to 202,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 March 2025, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity
and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including material
accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
March 2025, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA") and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of
our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the "Code"),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Independent Auditors’ Report
B M % B AT R B

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

BRARETEE

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, FEREFFZTEERBERMOEENE - R A
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial ¥R E N EREN BT RAEEMNSFIE ©
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in  EEZFERAERMBENBRBEATBIHREL
the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a [HEAERFETERN KM TZHELS
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a ~ HIEHBEBHNER -

separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter
HREEITER

How our audit address the key audit matter

BANESTNNEERRETER

Impairment assessment of trade receivables

85 EWRRRER

Refer to Notes 5(b), 22 to the consolidated financial
statements.

A2 AP IBHRRMEESb0) K22

At 31 March 2025, the Group had trade receivables of
approximately HK$77,764,000 (2024: HK$102,975,000) with
allowance for ECL on trade receivables of approximately
HK$16,030,000 (2024: HK$18,764,000).

MR202563 8310 EEEE S EKFIAL R77,764,000
77T (2024 4F : 102,975,000 7T) - & 5 EUGKIETEHRE
B R EX7 16,030,000 7T (2024 F : 18,764,000/87T) °

The determination as to whether trade receivables
are collectable involved high level of management's
judgement. Specific factors management considered
include the age of the balances, business nature of
customers, existence of disputes, recent historical payment
patterns and any other available information concerning
the creditworthiness of counterparties. Management used
these information to determine whether a provision for
ECL is required either for a specific transaction or for a
customer’s balance overall.
EEESEYGIERS TREDS KK T E IR E H & -
EREZRNNTARBIEARER TREBLE &8
BFEFZ OHATNFEXRBE@EEFHEENEM
Hih Al EBER ERECEAEHEENEERGARS
ERXRGHEBERBEPARTIREREEEERE -

Our procedures in relation to management’s ECL
assessment of trade receivables included but not limited
to:
HPMEBRENE S RYIAEREEBETEETH
BFEEENRR

o Understanding the key controls that the Group has
implemented to manage and monitor its credit risk,
and evaluating management’s assessment process
for allowance for ECL;

HiE SEECERMNBERERERAETERE
zHEERR TR ERERFERHMEERBE
BB EBE

o Checking, on a sample basis, the ageing profile of
the trade receivables as at 31 March 2025 to the
underlying financial records and post year-end
settlements to bank receipts;

MR ER2025F3ANBEMP BRBEANE
2 EWRIRRE BN RN F 4 R R RITER IR
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued) BREEITSHEH®
Key audit matter How our audit address the key audit matter
HRETEHE BRI NAEERREETEE
Impairment assessment of trade receivables (Continued) Inquiring of management for the status of each
B 3 B W FOR R E T () of the material trade receivables past due as

at year end and corroborating explanations
from management with supporting evidence,
understanding on-going business relationship with
the customers based on trade records, checking
historical and subsequent settlement records of
and other correspondence with the customers; and
EHEEEAAFHECAPNRBERESHE
WHRIERRA AR EEBIAB B FN@EE  ER
BOLBBRETFOFEEBRR BREBE
Nig@EHEECHBARERR ZHHEMERE R
K

o Assessing the appropriateness of the ECL
provisioning methodology, examining the key
data inputs on a sample basis to assess their
accuracy and completeness, and evaluating the
assumptions, including both historical and forward-
looking information, used to determine the ECL.
AETEHEEREREBIEARSRE  MEEFESL
BA 52 o A BUR DART (L EREME R ST - WA
ETrRMEEBEMANRE (BRBERAREE
BH) o

We found that the management judgement and
estimates used to assess the allowance for ECL on trade
receivables to be supportable by available evidence.
BMER  TEEANTHEZERRFIERREESE
B H b K A E B RIS BB SH o
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the annual report,
but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditors’ report thereon (the “Other Information”).

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the Other Information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the Other Information and, in doing so,
consider whether the Other Information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of the Other Information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.
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AUDITORS’' RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’
report that includes our opinion, solely to you, as a body and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

J Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.
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AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence regarding the financial information of the
entities or business units within the Group as a basis for forming
an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and review of the audit
work performed for purposes of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,

among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit

and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in

internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement

that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding

independence, and to communicate with them all relationships

and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our

independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate

threats or safeguards applied.
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AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period
and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters
in our auditors’ report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances,
we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent
auditors’ report is Lee Pak Kin.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Lee Pak Kin
Practising Certificate Number: P08262

Hong Kong, 27 June 2025
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

REeREREMEZERE X

2025 2024
2025 F 2024 4
For the year ended 31 March 2025 Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
BZE2025F3A31HILFE Mo FET FET
Revenue g 6 345,788 289,980
Cost of sales $HE KA (328,417) (275,705)
Gross profit EF 17,371 14,275
Other income EH At i A 8 2,019 5,494
Other gains or losses H b es sk B8 9 (2,592) (5,267)
Administrative expenses THEX (14,938) (14,266)
Other operating expenses Hiv @M (4,014) (5,250)
Allowance for expected credit losson & @& EBPEEBEEE
financial assets reversed/(recognised)  #[El,/(HER 2,619 (2,621)
Profit/(loss) from operations BERR(BE) 465 (7,635)
Finance costs & A A 10 (1,590) (2,147)
Share of results of an associate FE(E — BB & N R 4 119 921
Loss before taxation BRELAIEE 1 (1,006) (8,861)
Income tax credit Frigfiik e 12 181 213
Loss for the year FREE (825) (8,648)
Other comprehensive loss for FREMZHEEE
the year
Item that may be reclassified HIEA[fEEN DA E B m)
subsequently to profit or loss: HH
Share of other comprehensive JE A — e Bk & 2w LA,
loss of an associate 2 HEE (202) (909)
Other comprehensive loss MRBEF R HA
for the year, net of tax ZHER (202) (909)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

REREREMEZERER

2025 2024
2025 F 2024 5
For the year ended 31 March 2025 Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
BE202563A31HLFE ks FET FHT
Total comprehensive loss FRAXEBRER
for the year (1,027) (9,557)
Loss for the year attributable to ARAREBEABLEFERER
owners of the Company (825) (8,648)
Total comprehensive loss for the KABHEE AEMN
year attributable to owners of FRE2HEEEAR
the Company (1,027) (9,557)
Loss per share attributable ARREE AES
to owners of the Company BRER 16
Basic and diluted (HK cents) R K #5E OBl (0.60) (6.29)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e MR R

2025 2024
2025 F 2024 4
At 31 March 2025 Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
R2025F3 A31H Bt FET FHT
Non-current assets kREBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - RERZE 17 9,482 11,002
Investment property wEWE 18 12,000 14,600
Interest in an associate — B E N AR 19 17,748 17,831
Financial assets at fair value through RO EAERY
profit or loss TREE 20 5,589 5,449
44,819 48,882
Current assets REBEE
Inventories TE 21 2,893 1,260
Trade receivables =) & 22 61,734 84,211
Prepayments, deposits and TERHIE - ek
other receivables H i pE W R IE 23 2,512 1,217
Amount due from an associate JE U — P B i 8 B RRIE 24 11,435 11,679
Pledged bank deposits BHEMIRITER 25 6,156 6,122
Cash and bank balances He RIRTTHER 25 7,607 10,452
92,337 114,941
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade payables B 5 RNFKIE 26 26,413 29,411
Accruals, other payables and EETBR - HiENRIER
deposits received Bz & 27 4,677 4,500
Bank and other borrowings RIT R H M ER 28 14,552 37,190
45,642 71,101
Net current assets RBEEZE 46,695 43,840
Total assets less current liabilities EEHBERABERE 91,514 92,722
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e MR R

2025 2024

2025 F 2024 5

At 31 March 2025 Notes HK$'000 HK$'000

R2025F3 A31H Bt THET FHT
Non-current liabilities FREBEE

Deferred tax liabilities BEERIBEE 29 844 1,025

Net assets BEEFE 90,670 91,697
Capital and reserves EXR#E

Share capital [N 30 13,752 13,752

Reserves e 76,918 77,945

Total equity BRES 90,670 91,697

Approved and authorised for the issue by the board of directors on B 202556 H27 BEE £t/ L IEE T

27 June 2025 and signed on its behalf by: B OUWRUTAIRRESTSEERE:
Fong Chun Man Lo Pui Yee
FEX s
Executive Director Executive Director
HITEE HITEE

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated  B&FMIMIFE AL SR A S HRER MBI D -
financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
REEREHR

Attributable to owners of the Company

AAREE AR
Fair value
through
other
Capital  comprehensive
Share Share Other contribution income Exchange  Accumulated
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Total
BRAFEFA
X Hh2E
RA RGEE Hipfte BRRE e B ZitER @zt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THAT TEL FET THET T T THT TEL
For the year ended 31 March 2025 (Note i) (Note ii) (Note iii) (Note iv) (Note v)
BZ05F3A3BLEE (Bit3ti) (i) (Fiakiii) (Hstiv) (M)
At 1 April 2023 RAB3F4F18 13,752 83,070 —* 24,652 (905) (1,017) (18,298) 101,254
Loss for the year FREE - - - - - - (8,648) (8,648)
Other comprehensiveloss ~ #REMZAKE
for the year - - - - - (909) - (909)
Loss and total comprehensive ERFERZEFRLE
loss for the year - - - - - (909) (8,648) (9,557)
At 31 March 2024 and ROUEIANAR
1 April 2024 02454818 13,752 83,070 -* 24,652 (905) (1,926) (26,946) 91,697
Loss for the year FREE - - - - - - (825) (825)
Other comprehensive loss ~ FAHMZAKE
for the year - - - - - (202) - (202)
Loss and total comprehensive FREERZAFRLE
loss for the year - - - - - (202) (825) (1,027)
At 31 March 2025 R2025%3A31R 13,752 83,070 -* 24,652 (905) (2,128) (27,771) 90,670
Notes: B 5

(iii)

Share premium represents the excess of shares issue over the par value.

Other reserve of the Group represents the difference between the total equity of
the subsidiaries and the aggregated share capital of the subsidiaries pursuant to the
reorganisation where the transfer of the subsidiaries to the Company are satisfies by
issue of new shares from the Company.

Capital contribution reserve represents the amount of the financial impact arisen
from the transfer of business from Great Wall (International) Oil Company (Sole
Proprietorship Business) to Great Wall (International) Oil Limited.

Fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI") reserve comprises the
cumulative net change in the fair value of equity investments designated at FVTOCI.
Exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the

translation of the financial statements of foreign operations outside Hong Kong.

The balance was approximately HK$8.

(iii)

e
R
B

B

B

BIEROBETBBAENSE -

i B

I ) L b o 4 o S5 T B /8 ) A0 A e 48 B B
AR IR E AR R (G M IR 4B B 2 FR R B8 (R
RATARBEBARBEITHBR M) -

BAEMRERRA (ER) LA BEEEE
1) il (W) Tom A 1R 2 A #8357 2 £ 0Bt
BESneE -

RAFE AR EER S ((RAFES AL B
EHSZ 5 )) FEeEETE /RN FEMALMEER
mHEGRRERNTERSEB T -

5 B R RE BB IRIN BN EG I SRR
EENAINEEZE

BREKIRBETT
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

HRERERER

2025 2024
2025 F 2024 5F
For the year ended 31 March 2025 Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
BZE202553HA31HLEE Bt THET FHT
Operating activities RETEY
Loss before taxation B R AT S 18 (1,006) (8,861)
Adjustments for: BUTRBFELFARE
Interest Income FLB WA 8 (39) (54)
Finance costs & A 10 1,590 2,147
Depreciation of property, plant ME - BERBBITE
and equipment 17 1,920 2,165
Loss arising on change in fair value BEMENTEE
of investment property FrEE £ 1R 18 2,600 4,800
Unrealised gain on financial RO EF AR SR
assets at fair value through BERER WS
profit or loss 9 (140) (152)
Gain on disposal of property, HEWE  HERZE
plant and equipment ol g 9 = (5)
Allowance for expected credit loss CRIEEMEHEE
on financial assets (reversed)/ BB RS (B ), R
recognised (2,619) 2,621
Unrealised exchange loss BIRIE N 1S 132 624
Share of results of an associate FEAG — B & QR EE (119) (921
Operating cash flows before EELESBBaZRE
movements in working capital BERE 2,319 2,364
Increase in inventories FEEN (1,633) (857)
Decrease/(increase) in trade receivables & 5 FEUW ZRIE R (3L 0) 25,211 (11,305)
(Increase)/decrease in deposits, e FANFIEREMmER
prepayments and other receivables g (), m (1,298) 4,866
Decrease in trade payables B 5 R RIER D (2,998) (1,407)
Increase/(decrease) in accruals, other FEEtER  HEMEMNZIEL
payables and deposits received Bl eE i, ) 177 (1,269)
Net cash generated from/(used in)  R&EEFTE (FTH)
operating activities REER 21,778 (7,608)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

RERERER

2025 2024
2025 F 2024 5F
For the year ended 31 March 2025 Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
BZE202553A31HLEE Bt E THET FHT
Investing activities REEE
Interest received EFE 5 19
Acquisition of property, plant WHEMZ - BRE REE
and equipment (400) _
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME - BERZE
plant and equipment FR1§sI8 = 30
Net cash (used in)/generated from  R&EE (FTA) FiE
investing activities BEFEE (395) 49
Financing activities REEE
Interest paid B E (1,172) (2,147)
Proceeds from bank and other HRIT R E At 5P 1S 5IE
borrowings 12,676 16,700
Repayments of bank and other ERIRIT R A M AR
borrowings (35,732) (25,099)
Net cash used in financing MEEEAMA
activities REFH (24,228) (10,546)
Net decrease in cash and RERASEEYN
cash equivalents D RA=% ] (2,845) (18,105)
Cash and cash equivalents at the FUORELRESEED
beginning of the year 10,452 28,557
Cash and cash equivalents FRAERAESZEY
at the end of the year
Cash and bank balances Re MIBTTAH 7,607 10,452

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.

BERH P TE B Lt 4R A M IS IR AR -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M RRMNE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #(ZE 20253 31 HIEFE

110

GENERAL INFORMATION

F8 Enterprises (Holdings) Group Limited (the “"Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands under the Companies Law
as an exempted company with limited liability on 30 March 2018
and its shares are listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The registered office of
the Company is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681,
Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands and principal place
of business in Hong Kong is Unit 3304, 33/F, Tower 1, Enterprise
Square Five, 38 Wang Chiu Road, Kowloon Bay, Hong Kong. The
Company’s immediate and ultimate holding company is Grand
Tycoon Limited, a company incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands. Grand Tycoon Limited is controlled by Mr. Fong Chun
Man, a director of the Company.

The Company is an investment holding company and its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in sale and transportation of
diesel oil and related products in Hong Kong.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars ("HK$"), which is the functional currency of the
Company and all values are rounded to the nearest thousands
(HK$'000), except when otherwise stated.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR R MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #(ZE 20253 A31 HIEFE

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

Amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following

amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by Hong

Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") for the

first time, which are mandatorily effective for the annual periods

beginning on or after 1 April 2024 for the preparation of the

consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5
(2020)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants

Amendments to HKAS 7

and HKFRS 7

Supplier Finance Arrangements

The application of the amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards in the current year has had no material impact on
the Group’s financial positions and performance for the current
and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.

2.

ERAMIIREETERME
HEENSTER

RAEAFEREERNLIETE B
BipEEREFER

RAFE  AEBEEXERTHE
Bastilae ((FEestmag]) B
HR2024F4 1B R 2 B HABNFE
HAR o8 Bl AE U S 7] B B B A5 3R o5 28
Blg &R - LURBUAR S TSR -

BRI RE R EXTREvHESRE
ERACHES
BAEGERNE 1SR AEBRBIER
CHES PAERABRE
E5% 2 BBIERT
(2020%)

BAGENF 1R M REN IR

CHES) A
BEGENFETRR  HEFERELH

BANBHREER

ENLACHEN)

RAFEERRIE] T B M B HRE 2R
S EAHAKRBARAFERBEFEZ
MBRRREZBR R, AL EHE TR
RIS NBELEBEATE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M RRMNE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #(ZE 20253 31 HIEFE

2.

112

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

(Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards
in issued but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards that have been

issued but are not yet effective:

HKFRS 18

Amendments to HKFRS
Accounting Standards

Amendments to HKFRS 9
and HKFRS 7
Amendments to HKFRS 9

and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKAS 21

3

4

Presentation and Disclosure
in Financial Statements*

Annual Improvements to HKFRS
Accounting Standards —
Volume11?

Amendments to the
Classification and
Measurement of Financial
Instruments?®

Contracts Referencing
Nature-dependent Electricity®

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture'

Lack of Exchangeability?

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027

The directors anticipate that the application of all the new and

amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards will have no

material impact on the consolidated financial statements in the

foreseeable future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR R MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #(ZE 20253 A31 HIEFE

HEREANEERE

REMBHBRREREE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. #R&
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL REstBREHR
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
3.1 Basic of preparation of consolidated financial 3.1

statements

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued
by the HKICPA. For the purpose of preparation of the
consolidated financial statements, information is considered
material if such information is reasonably expected to
influence decisions made by primary users. In addition,
the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosure required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing
Rules”) and by the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis except for certain property and
financial instruments that are measured at fair values, as
explained in the accounting policies below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.
Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes
in the consolidated financial statements is determined on
such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions
that are within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment,
leasing transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS
16 Leases, and measurements that have some similarities
to fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable
value in HKAS 2 Inventories or value in use in HKAS 36
Impairment of Assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M RRMNE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #(ZE 20253 31 HIEFE

3.

114

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.1

Basic of preparation of consolidated financial
statements (Continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the
asset in its highest and best use.

For investment property which are transacted at fair value
and a valuation technique that unobservable inputs are
to be used to measure fair value in subsequent periods,
the valuation technique is calibrated so that at initial
recognition the results of the valuation technique equals
the transaction price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based
on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which
are described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR R MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #(ZE 20253 A31 HIEFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
Basis of consolidation

The consolidation financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities (including
structured entities) controlled by the Company and its
subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

o has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the
Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income
and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of
during the year are included in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from the
date the Group gains control until the date when the Group
ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M RRMNE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #(ZE 20253 31 HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

116

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies
into line with the Group's accounting policies.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group's equity therein, which represent
present ownership interests entitling their holders to
a proportionate share of net assets of the relevant
subsidiaries upon liquidation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR R MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #(ZE 20253 A31 HIEFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Interest in an associate

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions
of the investee but is not control or joint control over those
policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements
using the equity method of accounting. The financial
statements of associates used for equity accounting
purposes are prepared using uniform accounting policies as
those of the Group for like transactions and events in similar
circumstances. Under the equity method, an investment
in an associate is initially recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost and adjusted
thereafter to recognise the Group's share of the profit or
loss and other comprehensive income of the associate.
Changes in net assets of the associate other than profit or
loss and other comprehensive income are not accounted
for unless such changes resulted in changes in ownership
interest held by the Group. When the Group’s share of
losses of an associate exceeds the Group's interest in that
associate (which includes any long-term interests that, in
substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the
associate), the Group discontinues recognising its share of
further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the
extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.

An investment in an associate is accounted for using
the equity method from the date on which the investee
becomes an associate. On acquisition of the investment in
an associate, any excess of the cost of the investment over
the Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets and liabilities of the investee is recognised as
goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of
the investment. Any excess of the Group's share of the net
fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the
cost of the investment, after reassessment, is recognised
immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the
investment is acquired.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #(ZE 20253 31 HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

118

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Interest in an associate (Continued)

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence
that the interest in an associate may be impaired. When any
objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of the
investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment in
accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing
its recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair
value less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any
impairment loss recognised is not allocated to any asset,
including goodwill, that forms part of the carrying amount
of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is
recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that
the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently

increases.

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over
an associate, it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire
interest in the investee with a resulting gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss. When the Group retains an
interest in the former associate and the retained interest
is a financial asset within the scope of HKFRS 9, the Group
measures the retained interest at fair value at that date
and the fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial
recognition. The difference between the carrying amount
of the associate and the fair value of any retained interest
and any proceeds from disposing of the relevant interest
in the associate is included in the determination of the
gain or loss on disposal of the associate. In addition, the
Group accounts for all amounts previously recognised in
other comprehensive income in relation to that associate
on the same basis as would be required if that associate
had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
Therefore, if a gain or loss previously recognised in
other comprehensive income by that associate would be
reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related
assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or loss
from equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification adjustment)
upon disposal/partial disposal of the relevant associate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR R MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #(ZE 20253 A31 HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Interest in an associate (Continued)

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an
associate but the Group continues to use the equity
method, the Group reclassifies to profit or loss the
proportion of the gain or loss that had previously been
recognised in other comprehensive income relating to that
reduction in ownership interest if that gain or loss would be
reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related
assets or liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an associate of the
Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions
with the associate are recognised in the consolidated
financial statements only to the extent of interests in the
associate that are not related to the Group.

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs of
investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for
by the Company on the basis of dividend received and
receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving a dividend from these investments
if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income
of the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or
if the carrying amount of the investment in the separate
financial statements exceeds the carrying amount in the
consolidated financial statements of investee’s net assets
including goodwill.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provide to the chief operating
decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker,
who is responsible for allocation resources and assessing
performance of the operating segments, has been
identified as the steering committee that makes strategic
decisions.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #(ZE 20253 31 HIEFE

3.

120

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of
the following criteria is met:

J the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as
the Group performs;

o the Group's performance creates and enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

J the Group's performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services that
the Group has transferred to a customer that is not yet
unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in accordance
with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable represents the
Group’s unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only
the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR R MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #(ZE 20253 A31 HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation
to transfer goods or services to a customer for which
the Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to a contract
are accounted for and presented on a net basis.

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or
services to a customer, the Group determines whether the
nature of its promise is a performance obligation to provide
the specified goods or services itself (i.e. the Group is a
principal) or to arrange for those goods or services to be
provided by the other party (i.e. the Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good
or service before that good or service is transferred to a
customer.

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is to
arrange for the provision of the specified good or service
by another party. In this case, the Group does not control
the specified good or service provided by another party
before that good or service is transferred to the customer.
When the Group acts as an agent, it recognises revenue in
the amount of any fee or commission to which it expects
to be entitled in exchange for arranging for the specified
goods or services to be provided by the other party.

Further details of the Group’s revenue recognition policies
are as follows:

Sale of diesel oil and related product, injecting molding
machine and steel products

Revenue is recognised at a point in time when control of
the goods has been transferred, being when the goods
have been delivered to the customers’ specific location.
The normal credit term is 3 days to 150 days upon delivery.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M RRMNE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #(ZE 20253 31 HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. #=x
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued) 3.2

Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date
of initial application or arising from business combinations,
the Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a
lease based on the definition under HKFRS 16 at inception,
modification date or acquisition date, as appropriate.
Such contract will not be reassessed unless the terms and
conditions of the contract are subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee
Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of
the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price
of the non-lease components.

The Group applies practical expedient not to separate
non-lease from lease component, and instead account
for the lease component and any associated non-lease
components as a single lease component.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases of office that have a lease term of 12
months or less from the commencement date and do not
contain a purchase option. It also applies the recognition
exemption for lease of low-value assets. Lease payments
on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are
recognised as expense on a straight-line basis or another
systematic basis over the lease term.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR R MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #(ZE 20253 A31 HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. #=x
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued) 3.2

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as
finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms of
the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee,
the contract is classified as a finance lease. All other leases
are classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the
relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying
amount of the leased asset, and such costs are recognised
as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term
except for investment properties measured under fair value
model.

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract
When a contract includes both leases and non-lease
components, the Group applies HKFRS 15 Revenue from
Contracts with Customers to allocate consideration in a
contract to lease and non-lease components. Non-lease
components are separated from lease component on the
basis of their relative stand-alone selling prices.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted
for under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments from lessees.

Lease modification

Changes in considerations of lease contracts that were not
part of the original terms and conditions are accounted for
as lease modifications, including lease incentives provided
through forgiveness or reduction of rentals.

The Group accounts for a modification to an operating
lease as a new lease from the effective date of the
modification, considering any prepaid or accrued lease
payments relating to the original lease as part of the lease
payments for the new lease.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #(ZE 20253 31 HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

124

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the
dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-
monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing
on the date when the fair value was determined. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost
in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group's
operations are translated into the presentation currency
of the Group (i.e. HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at
the end of each reporting period. Income and expenses
items are translated at the average exchange rates for
the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly
during that period, in which case the exchange rates at
the date of transactions are used. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity under the heading of
exchange reserve (attributed to non-controlling interests as
appropriate).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR R MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #(ZE 20253 A31 HIEFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Foreign currencies (Continued)

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal
of the Group's entire interest in a foreign operation,
or a disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary
that includes a foreign operation, or a partial disposal
of an interest in a joint arrangement or an associate that
includes a foreign operation of which the retained interest
becomes a financial asset), all of the exchange differences
accumulated in equity in respect of that operation
attributable to the owners of the Company are reclassified
to profit or loss.

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary
that does not result in the Group losing control over
the subsidiary, the proportionate share of accumulated
exchange differences are re-attributed to non-controlling
interests and are not recognised in profit or loss. For all
other partial disposals (i.e. partial disposals of associates or
joint arrangements that do not result in the Group losing
significant influence or joint control), the proportionate
share of the accumulated exchange differences is
reclassified to profit or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets
acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation
are treated as assets and liabilities of that foreign operation
and translated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the end
of each reporting period. Exchange differences arising are
recognised in other comprehensive income.

Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are included.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #(ZE 20253 31 HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

126

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on
a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the
grants are intended to compensate.

Government grants related to income that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for
the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the
Group with no future related costs are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they become receivable. Such
grants are presented under “other income”.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #(ZE 20253 A31 HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. eV HRGFREERE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL REFBEER &=
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 EXEHEER (&)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Employee benefits

Retirement benefits costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans
are recognised as an expense when employees have
rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

The Group operates the Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for those
employees employed under the jurisdiction of the Hong
Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF Scheme is a
defined contribution scheme, the assets of which are held
in separate trustee-administered funds.

Under the MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees
are each required to make contributions to the scheme at
5% of the employees’ relevant income, with the employers'
contributions subject to a cap of monthly relevant income
of HK$30,000. The Group's contributions to the MPF
Scheme are expensed as incurred. The Group has no
further payment obligations once the contributions have
been paid. There are no forfeited contributions for the
MPF Scheme as the contributions are fully vested to the
employees upon payment to the MPF Scheme.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #(ZE 20253 31 HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. #=x
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued) 3.2

Employee benefits (Continued)

Short-term and other long-term employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid
as and when employees rendered the services. All short-
term employee benefits are recognised as an expense
unless another HKFRS Accounting Standards requires or
permits the inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave)
after deducting any amount already paid.

Liabilities recognised in respect of other long-term
employee benefits are measured at the present value of
the estimated future cash outflows expected to be made
by the Group in respect of services provided by employees
up to the reporting date. Any changes in the liabilities’
carrying amounts resulting from service cost, interest and
remeasurements are recognised in profit or loss except
to the extent that another HKFRS Accounting Standards
requires or permits their inclusion in the cost of an asset.

For long service payment (“LSP”) obligation, the Group
accounts for the employer MPF contributions expected to
be offset as a deemed employee contribution towards the
LSP obligation in terms of HKAS 19.93(a) and it is measure
on a net basis. The estimated amount of future benefit
is determined after deducting the negative service cost
arising from the accrued benefits derived from the Group's
MPF contributions that have been vested with employees,
which are deemed to be contributions from the relevant
employees.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR R MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #(ZE 20253 A31 HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from profit/loss before
tax because of income or expense that are taxable or
deductible in other years and items that are never taxable
or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding
tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit.
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for
all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets
are generally recognised for all deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profits will be available against which those deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax
assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from the initial recognition (other than
in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit and at the time of the transaction does
not give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill.

3.

GREVEBRREREERE
REFTHEER &)

3.2 EXRERBERER )

BiE

FIT 15 75t 7 52 5 B 50 A 75 78 SR
FEFR IR B AR

IR BB AR F ERAR D
MEHE o R B M B ER B A
A,/ BEIEzEEREMFEE
MR K A R A R
PA K2 4 SR 88 78GR B =k 4 2R A~ Al 3K
2MIER - ARARANHAKRIERE
BHREPRAEERIARLEE
TR R E

ERERIBERRIGRAMFERER
NEENBENREENB NG
BRERAVZMNBEHENERRZ
BMoBEEREAGB - RSERAAN
ERERNEREZE - BEEREE
E—REERME A NBRRZ
B Z AR BE IR &0 A] ) A bR B
ERMBHRART G M AR - i
ERERREEAER (EBAH
BRON D8 RRTUS A &5
NXHMEERBEERZHE
B N A R 55 B AR B % AT 3K %R B
BEZHE MABEEEREEER
BETTHER LI WEEE
HREBENEAER TS
RIEERARE -

Fe % (R EEERAR/ —E-_RFFRK 129



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M RRMNE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #(ZE 20253 31 HIEFE

3.

130

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments
and interests are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against
which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences
and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be
recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which
the liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax
rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR R MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #(ZE 20253 A31 HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Taxation (Continued)

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model,
the carrying amounts of such properties are presumed to
be recovered entirely through sale, unless the presumption
is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the
investment property is depreciable and is held within a
business model whose objective is to consume substantially
all of the economic benefits embodied in the investment
property over time, rather than through sale.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied to the same taxable entity by the same taxation
authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that
are held for use in the production or supply of goods or
services, or for administrative purposes. Property, plant
and equipment are stated in the consolidated statement
of financial position at cost, less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment
losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
assets less their residual values over their useful lives,
using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives,
residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at
the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item
of property, plant and equipment is determined as the
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #(ZE 20253 31 HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

132

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

The property, plant and equipment are depreciated over
their estimated useful lives, after taking into account of their
residual value, on a straight-line basis at the following rates
per annum:

Leasehold improvement Over the lease terms

Motor vehicles 30%
Office equipment 30%
Oil barge 10%
Tug 10%

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are
reassessed at each reporting date.

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost,
including any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent
to initial recognition, investment properties are measured
at fair value, adjusted to exclude any prepaid or accrued
operating lease income.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of
investment properties are included in profit or loss for the
period in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or
when the investment property is permanently withdrawn
from use and no future economic benefits are expected
from its disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition
of the property (calculated as the difference between the
net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset) is included in profit or loss in the period in which the
property is derecognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #(ZE 20253 A31 HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. #r
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)
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3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued) 3.2
Impairment of property, plant and equipment

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment to
determine whether there is any indication that those assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated
in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if
any).

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment
are estimated individually. When it is not possible to
estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset,
the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating-units ("CGU") to which the asset belongs.

In testing a CGU for impairment, corporate assets are
allocated to the relevant CGU when a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be established, or
otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of CGUs
for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can
be established. The recoverable amount is determined for
the CGU or group of CGUs to which the corporate asset
belongs, and is compared with the carrying amount of the
relevant CGU unit or group of CGU.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M RRMNE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #(ZE 20253 31 HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. #=x
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued) 3.2

Impairment of property, plant and equipment
(Continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future
cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a CGU) is reduced to its recoverable
amount. In allocating the impairment loss, the impairment
loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-
rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the
unit or the group of CGUs. The carrying amount of an asset
is not reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs
of disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable)
and zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would
otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro
rata to the other assets of the unit or the group of CGUs.
An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or CGU or a group of CGUs) is
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount,
but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have been determined
had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or
a CGU or a group of CGUs) in prior years. A reversal of an
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR R MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #(ZE 20253 A31 HIEFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value with absorption cost. Cost is determined using the
weighted average method. Net realisable value represents
the estimated selling price for inventories less all estimated
costs of completion and costs necessary to make the sale.
Costs necessary to make the sale include incremental costs
directly attributable to the sale and non-incremental costs
which the Group must incur to make the sale.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event,
it is probable that the Group will be required to settle the
obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate
of the consideration required to settle the present
obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking
into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the
obligation. When a provision is measured using the cash
flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying
amount is the present value of those cash flows (where the
effect of the time value of money is material).

When some or all of the economic benefits required to
settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third
party, a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually
certain that reimbursement will be received and the amount
of the receivable can be measured reliably.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #(ZE 20253 31 HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

136

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Contingent assets and liabilities

Contingent assets

Contingent assets arise from unplanned or other
unexpected events that give rise to the possibility of an
inflow of economic benefits to the Group and they are not
recognised in the consolidated financial statements. The
Group assesses continually the development of contingent
assets. If it has become virtually certain that an inflow of
economic benefits will arise, the Group recognises the
asset and the related income in the consolidated financial
statements in the reporting period in which the change
occurs.

Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a present obligation arising from
past events but is not recognised because it is not probable
that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits
will be required to settle the obligation or the amount of
the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.

Where the Group is jointly and severally liable for an
obligation, the part of the obligation that is expected to be
met by other parties is treated as a contingent liability and
it is not recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

The Group assesses continually to determine whether an
outflow of resources embodying economic benefits has
become probable. If it becomes probable that an outflow
of future economic benefits will be required for an item
previously dealt with as a contingent liability, a provision
is recognised in the consolidated financial statements in
the reporting period in which the change in probability
occurs, except in the extremely rare circumstances where
no reliable estimate can be made.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #(ZE 20253 A31 HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. #r
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)
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3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued) 3.2
Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated
statement of financial position include:

(@)  cash, which comprises of cash on hand and demand
deposits, excluding bank balances that are subject to
regulatory restrictions that result in such balances no
longer meeting the definition of cash; and

(b) cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term
(generally with original maturity of three months
or less), highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible to a known amount of cash and which
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value. Cash equivalents are held for the purpose of
meeting short-term cash commitments rather than for
investment or other purposes.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash
equivalents as defined above.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases or
sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised
on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the time frame established by regulation or
convention in the market place.
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3.

138

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value except for trade receivables arising from
contracts with customers which are initially measured in
accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial
assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss ("FVTPL")) are added to
or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition
of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense over
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and
payments (including all fees and points paid or received
that form an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through
the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability,
or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.

Financial assets
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial

assets
Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

. the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows;
and

J the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to

cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR R MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #(ZE 20253 A31 HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial

assets (Continued)

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at FVTOCI:

° the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both selling and
collecting contractual cash flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at
FVTPL, except that at the date of initial recognition of a
financial asset the Group may irrevocably elect to present
subsequent changes in fair value of an equity investment
in other comprehensive income if that equity investment
is neither held for trading nor contingent consideration
recognised by an acquirer in a business combination to
which HKFRS 3 Business Combinations applies.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the near term; or

o on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern of
short-term profit-taking; or

J it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as
a hedging instrument.
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e M RRMNE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #(ZE 20253 31 HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

140

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial

assets (Continued)

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial
asset that are required to be measured at the amortised
cost or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates
or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial
asset from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on
the credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that
the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset
from the beginning of the reporting period following the
determination that the asset is no longer credit-impaired.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as
FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the
end of each reporting period, with any fair value gains
or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or
loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any dividend or
interest earned on the financial asset and is included in the
“other gains and losses” line item.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR R MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #(ZE 20253 A31 HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. e B HRERGREERE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL RETHERER (&
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued) 3.2 EXRETERER (B
Financial instruments (Continued) SRIA(E)
Financial assets (Continued) THEE (&)
Impairment of financial assets SREERE

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss (“ECL") model on financial assets
(including trade receivables, deposits and other receivables,
amount due from an associate, pledged bank deposits
and bank balances). The amount of ECL is updated at each
reporting period to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL")
represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected
to result from default events that are possible within 12
months after the reporting period. Assessment are done
based on the Group's historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general
economic conditions and an assessment of both the current
conditions at the reporting period as well as the forecast of
future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables without significant financing component.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
in which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised
is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a
default occurring since initial recognition.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #(ZE 20253 31 HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)
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3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as
at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on
the financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition.
In making this assessment, the Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without undue
cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly:

e an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

o significant deterioration in external market indicators
of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit
spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

J existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to
cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to
meet its debt obligations;

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor; or

J an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR R MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #(ZE 20253 A31 HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. #e K BRREREERE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL RETTBRER &
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued) 3.2 EXRETERER (B
Financial instruments (Continued) SRMIA(E)
Financial assets (Continued) EHEE &)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued) EREERE(B)
Significant increase in credit risk (Continued) ZE R ARG ()
Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, o F S LA R - KEE
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased B&R - HMENNFaRE®30 8 -
significantly since initial recognition when contractual AEERREVITZERBUKRE X
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the fEIg N MR AEEERSIEA
Group has reasonable and supportable information that ENENBETRBANYIENEAS
demonstrates otherwise. 1Rl -
The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the ZIKE B rFHEEANEEER
criteria used to identify whether there has been a significant R RNBIEMNEERLS AN
increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to B WETZEERE (WMEE) K
ensure that the criteria are capable of identifying significant MR E AT ER T o EE A H
increase in credit risk before the amount becomes past AEERRES AREEM -
due.
Definition of default BHTE
For internal credit risk management, the Group considers TJL W ‘M:. ERBRERMmME A%
an event of default occurs when information developed - fid A1 B I 5T sk B A8 SR
internally or obtained from external sources indicates that ﬁ ﬁ’é E’] BHBREBATKA
the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the ERHNEREA(BERAER)E
Group, in full. 2o RIEAEROEN -
Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default T bExxwmf REBRAE M
has occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days eHMEESHEROOR - AlFELE
past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable BH MEWMAEEESERZEN
information to demonstrate that a more lagging default BRBETREBREENENZEE
criterion is more appropriate. BERRERISERNR -
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3.

144

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events of default that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset have
occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes observable data about the following events:

J significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the

borrower;

° a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

° the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or

contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;

o it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

o the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when
the amounts are over 2 years past due, whichever occurs
sooner. Financial assets written off may still be subject
to enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event.
Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR R MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #(ZE 20253 A31 HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. e B HRERGREERE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL RETHERER (&
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued) 3.2 EXRETERER (B
Financial instruments (Continued) SRIA(E)
Financial assets (Continued) THEE (&)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued) EREERE(B)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data adjusted by forward-
looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased
and probability-weighted amount that is determined with
the respective risks of default occurring as the weights.
The Group uses a practical expedient in estimating ECL
on trade receivables using a provision matrix taking into
consideration historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
forward looking information that is available without undue
cost or effort.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with
the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate determined
at initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL for certain trade receivable are considered
on a collective basis taking into consideration past due
information and relevant credit information such as forward
looking macroeconomic information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when formulating
the grouping:

° Past-due status;
o Nature, size and industry of debtors; and
J External credit ratings where available.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

146

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to
ensure the constituents of each group continue to share
similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is
credit-impaired, in which case interest income is calculated
based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their
carrying amount, with the exception of trade receivables
where the corresponding adjustment is recognised through
a loss allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another
entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset's carrying
amount and the sum of the consideration received and
receivable is recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #(ZE 20253 A31 HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Classification as financial liabilities or equity

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified as
either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with
the substance of the contractual arrangements and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all
of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company
are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue
costs.

Financial liabilities
All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Financial liabilities (including bank and other borrowings,
trade payables and accruals, other payables and deposits
received) are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount
of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration
paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #(ZE 20253 31 HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. LK HXRGBREERE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL REFBERER &2
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued) 3.2 EXRETERER (B
Related parties transactions BHAERS
A party is considered to be related to the Group if: WEBIAT AL BIGERERSE
EHRE:
(a) A person or a close member of that person’s family is (@) fWEBIATAZL BlsZALsk
related to the Group if that person: ZANTHI AR EE R
JE
(i) has control or joint control over the Group; (i) 20 ) Bk 2% 6] 5 I AN
;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or iy HAEBEEARFE

7758k

(i) is a member of the key management personnel (i) REAEEFKE
of the Group or of a parent of the Group. NAENEZEREKE °

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following b) WHFEUTEMGHE  BIE
conditions applies: A EAHE

(i)  the entity and the Group are members of the () ZEEEAEBER
same group (which means that each parent, —&BeKE QA (A
subsidiary and fellow subsidiaries is related to EEHAR - MBRAAR
the others); BRWERRRELZ

M B /E)

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the i)y —HEEAES—ETBE
other entity or an associate or joint venture of a ol RN A
member of a group which the other entity is a ¥(HEZ—EBARKE
member; NAIMEEETKE

NRANBERAHE
EE)

(i) both entities are joint ventures of the same third (i) MEZTEHAER—F
party; =HMEERE

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity ivv —HEBREF=F7E
and the other entity is an associate of the third BHeEhE M5 —
entity; ERAARZE=TE

BB E A A
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #(ZE 20253 A31 HIEFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Related parties transactions (Continued)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group. If the Group is
itself such a plan, the sponsoring employees are
also related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity); or

the entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the Company’s
parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family

members who may be expected to influence, or be

influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity

and include:

(a)

(b)

(c)

that person’s children and spouse or domestic

partner;

children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner;

and

dependents of that person or that person’s spouse or
domestic partner.

A transaction is considered to be a related party transaction

when there is a transfer of resources or obligations between

the Group and a related party, regardless of whether a

price is charged.
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4,

150

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in Note 3, management is required to make
judgments, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. The estimates and underlying assumptions
are based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision
affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future
periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

The following are the critical judgments, apart from those
involving estimations, that the management have made in the
process of applying the entity’s accounting policies and that have
the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements.

Deferred taxation on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax arising from
investment properties that are measured using the fair value
model, the directors have reviewed the Group’s investment
property portfolios and concluded that the Group's investment
properties are not held under a business model whose objective
is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits
embodied in the investment properties over time. Therefore, in
determining the deferred taxation on investment properties, the
directors have determined that the presumption that the carrying
amounts of investment properties measured using the fair value
model are recovered entirely through sale is not rebutted. The
Group has not recognised any deferred tax on changes in fair
value of investment properties as the Group is not subject to
any income taxes on the fair value changes of the investment
properties on disposal.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period that may have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and

liabilities within the next financial year.

Allowance for ECL for trade receivables

Trade receivables with significant balances and credit-impaired

are assessed for ECL individually.

In addition, the Group uses practical expedient in estimating
ECL on trade receivables which are not assessed individually
using a provision matrix. The provision rates are based on
aging of debtors as groupings of various debtors taking into
consideration the Group's historical default rates and forward-
looking information that is reasonable and supportable available
without undue costs or effort. At every reporting date, the
historical observed default rates are reassessed and changes in

the forward-looking information are considered.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The
information about the ECL and the Group's trade receivables are

disclosed in Note 5(b).

Fair value measurement of investment property

Investment property is stated at fair value based on the market
values, being the estimated amount for which property could
be exchanged on the date of valuation between a willing buyer
and a willing seller in an arm'’s length transaction or the valuation
performed by an independent valuer. In determining the fair
value, the valuer has based on method of valuation which involves
certain estimates and assumptions. In relying on the valuation
report, the management has exercised their judgements and is
satisfied that the method of valuation is reflective of the current
market conditions. Should there be any changes in assumptions
due to change of market conditions, the fair value of the

investment property will be adjusted accordingly.

As at 31 March 2025, the carrying amount of the Group's

investment property is HK$12,000,000 (2024: HK$14,600,000).
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 5. 2T A
(a) Categories of financial instruments (a) TRTEER
2025 2024
2025 & 2024 F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Financial assets SREE
At amortised cost biog: 1IN
— Trade receivables — E G EWNAE 61,734 84,211
— Deposits and other receivables — ke REAMEWRIE 1,318 996
— Amount due from an associate — JE UGB N B 08 11,435 11,679
— Pledged bank deposits — BEHIRITER 6,156 6,122
— Cash and bank balances — R RIRTTEH 7,607 10,452
88,250 113,460
At fair value BN FE
Financial assets at FVTPL BAFEFFAEBGNESHEE 5,589 5,449
Financial liabilities SREE
At amortised cost - 317N
— Trade payables — B EMNFIE 26,413 29,411
— Accruals, other payables and —EEER - EMENIE
deposits received ke ize 4,677 4,500
— Bank and other borrowings —RIT R EMER 14,552 37,190
45,642 71,101
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies by MERKBREEEEREE

152

The management monitors and manages the financial risks
relating to the operations of the Group through internal
risks reports which analyse the exposures by degree and
magnitude of risks. These risks include market risk (including
interest rate risk and foreign currency risk), credit risk and
liquidity risk.
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

The Group's major financial instruments include trade

receivables, deposits and other receivables, amount due

from an associate, pledged bank deposits, bank balances,

financial assets at FVTPL, trade payables, accruals, other

payables and deposits received and bank and other

borrowings. Details of these financial instruments and the

policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below.

Management manages and monitors these exposures to

ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely

and effective manner.

(i)

Market risk

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk
in relation to fixed-rate bank and other borrowings.
The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate
risk in relation to variable-rate bank balances and
variable-rate bank and other borrowings. The Group
cash flow interest rate risk is mainly concentrated on
the fluctuation of interest rates on bank balances and
Hong Kong Inter-Bank Offered Rate ("HIBOR") and
HK$ prime rate as determined by the lender arising
from the Group's HK$ denominated borrowings.
The Group aims at keeping borrowings at variable
rates. The Group manages its interest rate exposures
by assessing the potential impact arising from any
interest rate movements based on interest rate
level and outlook. The management will review the
proportion of borrowings in fixed and floating rates
and ensure they are within reasonable range.

A fundamental reform of major interest rate
benchmarks is being undertaken globally, including
the replacement of some interbank offered rates
("IBORs") with alternative nearly risk-free rates. Details
of the impacts on the Group's risk management
strategy arising from the interest rate benchmark
reform and the progress towards implementation of
alternative benchmark interest rates are set out under
"interest rate benchmark reform” in this note.
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5.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

(i)

F8 ENTERPRISES (HOLDINGS) GROUP LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2025

Market risk (Continued)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates for the
variable-rate bank borrowings. The analysis is
prepared assuming the financial instruments
outstanding at the end of the reporting period were
outstanding for the whole year. A 50-basis point (2024:
50-basis point) increase or decrease in variable-rate
bank borrowings are used when reporting interest
rate risk internally to key management personnel
and represents management’s assessment of the
reasonably possible change in interest rates. Bank
balances are excluded from sensitivity analysis as the
management considers that the exposure of cash
flow interest rate risk arising from variable-rate bank
balances is insignificant.

If interest rates had been 50 basis points higher/
lower and all other variables were held constant, the
Group's post-tax loss for the year ended 31 March
2025 would increase/decrease by approximately
HK$61,000 (2024: HK$153,000). This is mainly
attributable to the Group's exposure to interest rates
on its variable-rate bank borrowings.

Foreign currency risk

The Group operates in Hong Kong and transactions
are mainly denominated in HK$ and Renminbi
("RMB"). Foreign currency risk arises from future
commercial transactions, which are denominated in
a currency that is not the functional currency of the
Group.
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 5. ﬁﬁﬂlﬂ@%)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) MEEREKBEEEEREE (&)
(Continued)
(i)  Market risk (Continued) () WEERGE)
Foreign currency risk (Continued) SNE B B2 (42)
At the end of each reporting period, the carrying REREH R - NEE LA
amounts of the monetary assets and liabilities of the R (WIEhaE &) sHED
Group, which are denominated in RMB, that is not the EEAENBENEREND
functional currency are as follows: T
Assets Liabilities
iE &fE
2025 2024 2025 2024
2025 F 20244 2025 % 2024
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FTAERT FTERT FET
RMB ARE 11,444 11,687 - -
The Group currently does not have a foreign currency HUAINESTENEEREE
hedging policy in respect of assets and liabilities mmE - A% ERE &I
denominated in foreign currency. The Group will HAERK - AEEKTYE
monitor its foreign currency exposure closely and BH HINGE [ B - N0 R B R
will consider hedging significant foreign currency ZRERERINE Rz o
exposure should the need arise.
The following table details the Group's sensitivity TRAMAEBEBITHEA
to a 5% increase and decrease in HK$ against RMB. REEX EARTES%HE
5% is the sensitivity rate used which represents BRE - S% R EIREHEX
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible Al REE B E L AT A PR BV R
change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity R WBRES T EBRE
analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency NEFIMER REREEIE
denominated monetary items and adjusts their B K s B R B AN fE X
translation at the end of the reporting period for a 5% FHRHHBREETHA
change in foreign currency rates. A positive number B TREBRTMETL
below indicates a decrease in post-tax loss where HK$ ARMEEZES% - Bk E 18R
weakens 5% against RMB. For a 5% strengthening Do A THARBEHESS
of HK$ against RMB, there would be an equal and mE  KEBEEBESER
opposite impact on the post-tax loss and the number REEEERNTZE  T%X
below would be negative. HTERAH -
2025 2024
2025 F 2024
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHET
If HK$ strengthens against RMB by 5% i 7T H A REFE 5% (478) (488)
If HK$ weaken against RMB by 5% BT ARER1E5% 478 488
Fet¥ (BER)EBMBERAR/ T _AFFH 155
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

(i)

F8 ENTERPRISES (HOLDINGS) GROUP LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2025

Credit risk and impairment assessment

The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to
trade receivables, deposits and other receivables,
amount due from an associate, pledged bank
deposits and bank balances. At 31 March 2025 and
2024, the Group's maximum exposure to credit
risk, which will cause a financial loss to the Group
due to failure to discharge an obligation by the
counterparties arising from the carrying amounts of
the respective recognised financial assets as stated in
the consolidated statement of financial position. The
Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements to cover its credit risks associated with
its financial assets.

Trade receivables

Credit evaluations are performed on all customers
requiring credit terms. These evaluations focus on
the customer’s past history of making payments when
due and current ability to pay, and take into account
information specific to the customer as well as to the
economic environment.

The Group's exposure to credit risk is influenced
mainly by the individual characteristics of each
customer and therefore significant concentrations
of credit risk primarily arises when the Group has
significant exposure to individual customers.
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5.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

(i)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Trade receivables (Continued)

In respect of trade receivables arising from the sale
and transportation of diesel oil and related products
in Hong Kong, the Group has a concentration of credit
risk in certain individual customers. At the end of each
reporting period, the Group has concentration of
credit risk as 17% (2024: 23%) and 49% (2024: 57%) of
the total trade receivables was due from the Group's
largest customer and the five largest customers
respectively within the sale of diesel oil business.
The directors closely monitor the risk exposure of
the customers and would take appropriate action to
ensure the risk exposure is acceptable.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management
has delegated a team responsible for determination
of credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring
procedures to ensure that follow up action is
taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the
management reviews the recoverability of each trade
receivable at the end of each reporting period to
ensure that adequate allowance for ECL are made for
irrecoverable amounts. The Group applies simplified
approach on trade receivables to provide for the ECL
prescribed by HKFRS 9. The Group measures loss
allowances for trade receivables at an amount equal
to lifetime ECL, which is calculated using a provision
matrix. As the Group’s historical credit loss experience
does not indicate significantly different loss patterns
for different customer segments, the loss allowance
based on past due status is not further distinguished
between the Group's different customer bases.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

(i)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Trade receivables (Continued)

The following table provides information about the
exposure to credit risk for trade receivables which
are assessed on a collective basis by using provision
matrix within lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired). Trade
receivables that are credit-impaired were assessed

5. 2RI A%

(b)

(i)

BHEREEREREEK@E)

EE R R RR ARG ()

EZENHA ()

TREHEEREHBEHE
EER (XEEERE) AX
PR Rl R AT
M 5 EYGENEE R R
BEF-BEEERENES

individually. FEM OB 7T I RIETA «
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
EHEEE BREAE EiaEE
At 31 March 2025 % HK$’000 HK$'000
R2025%3A31H % T FTERT
Current (not yet past due) BIER (RigH) 2.63 27,683 729
1-90 days past due #EI1 =90 H 3.54 17,632 624
91-180 days past due BEI91E 180 H 8.98 18,191 1,633
181-365 days past due #HI181 =365 H 57.18 2,836 1,622
Over 365 days past due BEI365 A A I 100.00 267 267
Credit-impaired =ERE 100.00 11,155 11,155
77,764 16,030
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
TEHIEE X BRE A BERE
At 31 March 2024 % HK$'000 HK$'000
20243 H31H % FHET FET
Current (not yet past due) BIER (kg ) 2.07 51,424 1,065
1-90 days past due #AHEI1 £ 90K 3.17 20,287 643
91-180 days past due #H91 2= 180 H 10.68 11,373 1,214
181-365 days past due #HF 181 =365 H 41.61 6,934 2,885
Credit-impaired =ERE 100.00 12,957 12,957
102,975 18,764

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on
historical observed default rates over the expected
life of the debtors and are adjusted for forward-
looking information that is available without undue
cost or effort. The grouping is regularly reviewed by
management to ensure relevant information about
specific debtors is updated.
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5.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

(i)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Trade receivables (Continued)

At 31 March 2025, the Group recognised allowance
for ECL of HK$4,875,000 (2024: HK$5,807,000) on
trade receivables, based on collective assessment.
Allowance for ECL of HK$11,155,000 (2024:
HK$12,957,000) was made on credit-impaired trade

receivables.

The following table shows the movement in lifetime

ECL that has been recognised for trade receivables

under the simplified approach:

5. 2RI A%
(b) MEEMRETEEERKE (&)

(i)

EE R R RR ARG ()

B ZENIE (&)

B2025F3 8318 K&
EREERBITHERE S
FERREBHEEHBE
1%4,875,0007% 7T (2024 7F :
5,807,000 JT) ° B ot %
EEERBENE S EKR
HELTEBREERERE
11,155,000 % 7T (2024 % :
12,957,000/ 7T) °

DEEE RS
5 B MR IR B R ) 2 A TE
EEERED :

Lifetime ECL  Lifetime ECL
(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired) Total
2HEHREE 2 HTE
B8 (& FEEE
FEHE) (BEEEHE) wE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHEIT FHET FET
At 1 April 2023 M2023F4A1H 3,112 13,397 16,509
Transfer to credit-impaired EREEERE (233) 233 -
Allowance for ECL recognised/ ERREHEE
(reversed) BB REE(EE) 2,928 (20) 2,908
Written-off il - (653) (653)
At 31 March 2024 and 2024 F3 318 &
1 April 2024 2024418 5,807 12,957 18,764
Allowance for ECL reversed EHEEERE
BEgm (932) (1,802) (2,734)
At 31 March 2025 M2025%€3A31H 4,875 11,155 16,030
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

(i)

F8 ENTERPRISES (HOLDINGS) GROUP LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2025

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Trade receivables (Continued)

Trade receivables are written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that
there is no reasonable expectation of recovery
include, amongst others, the failure of a debtor to
engage in a repayment plan with the Group, and a
failure to make contractual payments for a period
greater than agreed contract terms.

Allowance for ECL on trade receivables are presented
within operating profit. Subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously impaired are credited against the
same line item.

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the
Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from trade
receivables are set out in Note 22 to the consolidated
financial statements.

The management monitored the financial background
and creditability of those debtors on an ongoing
basis. The Group seeks to minimise its risk by dealing
with counterparties which have good credit history.
Majority of the trade receivables that are not yet past
due have no default payment history. In this regard,
the directors consider that the Group's credit risk is
significantly reduced.
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5.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

(i)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Deposits

For deposits, the Group makes periodic individual
assessment on the recoverability of deposits based
on historical information about the counterparties and
supportive forward-looking information. The Group
believes that there is no significant increase in credit
risk of these amounts since initial recognition and the
Group provided impairment based on 12m ECL. At
31 March 2025, an accumulated allowance for ECL
on deposits amounted to HK$20,000 was recognised
(2024: HK$17,000), with ECL rate of 1.6% (2024: 1.7%).

Other receivables

For other receivables, the Group makes periodic
individual assessment on the recoverability of
other receivables based on historical information
about the counterparties and supportive forward-
looking information. The Group considers that
there is no significant increase in credit risk for other
receivables with gross carrying amount of HK$57,000
(2024: HK$39,000) since initial recognition and the
Group provided impairment based on 12m ECL.
Other receivables with gross carrying amount of
HK$3,650,000 (2024: HK$3,650,000) is credit-impaired
and the Group provided impairment based on lifetime
ECL. At 31 March 2025, an accumulated allowance for
ECL on other receivables amounted to HK$3,650,000
was recognised (2024: HK$3,650,000), with ECL rate of
98.5% (2024: 98.9%).

5. 2RI A%
HEERETEEERKE (&)

(b)

(i)

Fe % (R EEERAR/ —E-_RFFRK

FERKBRBETS(E)
7w
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K ZEFREBENEERRIL
EBEEN BAEEIEE
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161



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M RRMNE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #(ZE 20253 31 HIEFE

5.

162

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

(i)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Amount due from an associate

The Group regularly monitors the business
performance of the associate. The Group's credit
risks in this balance is mitigated through the value
of the assets held by the associate and the power
to participate the relevant activities of the associate.
The management believes that there is no significant
increase in credit risk of this amount since initial
recognition and the Group provided impairment
based on 12m ECL. For the year ended 31 March
2025 and 2024, the Group recognised ECL by
assessing the credit risk characteristics of amount
due from an associate and the prevailing economic
conditions. At 31 March 2025, an accumulated
allowance for ECL of HK$140,000 (2024: HK$28,000)
was recognised, with ECL rate of 1.2% (2024: 0.2%).
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5.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

(i)

(iii)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Pledged bank deposit/bank balances

Credit risk on pledged bank deposits and bank
balances are limited because the counterparties are
reputable banks with high credit ratings assigned
by credit agencies. The Group assessed 12m ECL
for pledged bank deposits and bank balances by
reference to information relating to probability of
default and loss given default of the respective credit
rating grades published by external credit rating
agencies. Based on the average loss rates, the 12m
ECL on pledged bank deposits and bank balances are
considered to be insignificant and therefore no loss
allowance were recognised.

Liquidity risk

The Group is exposed to minimal liquidity risk as a
substantial portion of its financial assets and financial
liabilities are due within one year and it can finance
its operations from existing shareholders’ funds and
internally generated cash flows.

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a level of bank balances and
cash deemed adequate by management to finance
the Group's operations and mitigate the effect of
fluctuations in cash flows. Management monitors
current and expected liquidity requirements on a
regular basis.

5. 2RI A%
HEERETEEERKE (&)

(b)

(i)

(iii)
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5.

164

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

5. 2RI A%

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) BEREKEERERBKE)
(Continued)
(iii) Liquidity risk (Continued) (i) RBELSEM (&)
The following tables detail the Group’s remaining TR EEHRIEIT A
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial TREBENSOINHBEN
liabilities based on the agreed repayment terms. DIRBHEERRARR T
The tables have been drawn up based on the RERSBMBENRMERR
undiscounted cash flows of the financial liabilities ERERBAEENRETE
based on the earliest date on which the Group can H T RFEAHRE - A8
be required to pay. Specifically, bank and other AR E K E R G
borrowings with a repayment on demand clause are E@fﬁf?&ﬁ@,fﬁthﬁj\ﬂ’i
included in the earliest time band regardless of the R B - A m R 1T BT
probability of the banks choosing to exercise their {50 HRE B AT R M o E A 3F
rights. The maturity dates for other non-derivative TTHEERBENIHA IR
financial liabilities are based on the agreed repayment BHEERBEE -
dates.
The tables include both interest and principal cash TEBEMNEREXEHS
flows. To the extent that interest flows are floating ME - WMAERERFEF
rate, the undiscounted amount is derived from = AIKRBEIR & BIEHRE
interest rate at the end of the reporting period. REFEEH o
More than ~ More than
Weighted ~ Ondemand one year but two years but Total
average or within less than lessthan ~ More than undiscounted Carrying
interest rate oneyear  two years five years five years cash flow amount
mE EZX BA-F BARE RERRE
FH7= g-FR  EOREE EIREF BREF REAH REE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
% TERT TET TER ThR TER TER
At 31 March 2025 ®202553A31A
Non-derivative financial liabilities ~ F{T£ & BEE
Trade payables EC)ANEY - 26,413 - - - 26,413 26,413
Accruals, other payables and [EEEBR  EMERFER
deposits received Blize - 4,677 - - - 4,677 4,677
Bank and other borrowings RIREMER 43 14,552 - - - 14,552 14,552
45,642 - - - 45,642 45,642
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5.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

5. 2RI A%

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) BKEREKEERERBKE)

(Continued)

(iii) Liquidity risk (Continued)

(i) RBELSER(E)

More than More than

Weighted ~ Ondemand  one yearbut  two years but Total
average or within less than less than More than  undiscounted Carrying
interest rate one year two years five years five years cash flow amount
g EE3K BB fabeliks AERE €
THH=E d—FR  BEIRWE  BIREEF BBLE nERE REE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
% T TEL T TEL T TEL
At 31 March 2024 M04E3IA3A
Non-derivative financial liabilities 3 {74 2 BAE
Trade payables EC ) ANEY - 29411 - - - 29411 2941
Accruals, other payables and [EEEBR  EMERFER
deposits received Bliks - 4,500 - - - 4500 4,500
Bank and other borrowings RIREMER 59 37,190 - - - 37,190 37,190
71,101 - - - 71,101 71,101

Fe % (R EEERAR/ —E-_RFFRK
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5.

166

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(Continued)

(iii)

5. 2RI A%

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) BEREKEERERBKE)
Liquidity risk (Continued) (iiiy RBESEAR(E)
Bank and other borrowings with a repayment on B 5 1 B SR B R IR R A ER 1T
demand clause are included in the “on demand or K E b & FREE A A £ R H
less than 1 month” time band in the above maturity DA R E R DR —1E
analysis. At 31 March 2025, the aggregate carrying RIBERMAN - R202563 A4
amounts of these bank and other borrowings 3B ZFERITREAMER
amounted to HK$14,552,000 (2024: HK$37,190,000). 42 BR TH B £ 14,552,000 7 7T
Taking into account the Group's financial position, the (2024 4 : 37,190,000/ ) °
directors do not believe that it is probable that the ERINRNEHTBMRR &
banks/counterparties will exercise their discretionary ERBEBIT/HF A
rights to demand immediate repayment. The directors BT EEIE# ERANK
of the Company believe that such bank and other BR-ARAEZRE  Z
borrowings will be repaid within eight years (2024: ERTREMEZTER RS
nine years) after the end of the reporting period in HAR 18 )\ (20244 © NL5F)
accordance with the scheduled repayment dates set NIZRERDEAENTETE
out in the borrowings agreements, details of which BERAHEE  FHHANT
are set out in the table below: *®
Maturity analysis — Bank and other borrowings with PS5 — Wi E KB E
a repayment on demand clause based on scheduled & 5k B9 #R 17 I H it 1B 3K (B
repayments RENEE)
More than More than
one year but  two years but Total
Within less than less than  More than undiscounted Carrying
oneyear  two years five years five years cash flow amount
BB-F BBmE RER
-  EORWE ELREFE BBIF REREAH RAEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THT TR THT TR TR
At 31 March 2025 R2025%3A318 5,817 3,591 3,437 2,960 15,805 14,552
At 31 March 2024 20243318 22,573 7,080 5972 4,205 39,830 37,190
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5.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(c)

(Continued)
(iv) Interest rate benchmark reform

Several of the Group's HIBOR bank borrowings may
be subject to the interest rate benchmark reform. The
Group is closely monitoring the market and managing
the transition to new benchmark interest rates,
including announcements made by the relevant IBOR
regulators.

HIBOR

While the Hong Kong Dollar Overnight Index Average
("HONIA") has been identified as an alternative to
HIBOR, there is no plan to discontinue HIBOR. The
multi-rate approach has been adopted in Hong Kong,
whereby HIBOR and HONIA will co-exist.

Fair value measurements of financial instruments

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and financial
liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring
basis

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities are
determined as follows:

(i)  The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities
with standard terms and conditions and traded in
active markets are determined with reference to
quoted market bid prices and ask prices respectively,
and

(i) The fair value of other financial assets and financial
liabilities are determined in accordance with generally
accepted pricing models (e.g. discounted cash flow
analysis using observable and/or unobservable
inputs).
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5.

168

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(c)

5. 2RI A%

Fair value measurements of financial instruments (c) EMIAENAFEFTEE)

(Continued)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and financial BEEMEEL N FETEHF

liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring FELHEERTHMEE L FHE

basis (Continued) (4)

The Company uses the following hierarchy for determining RARMERUTERBEEE R

and disclosing the fair values of financial instruments: BEReBIAQTE:

()  Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived iy SFIHRAFEDUBREE
from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for FaEEERMISZ®ME (K
identical assets and liabilities. KHEAB)GE -

(i) Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived (i) SF2HAFETIAB1RAE
from inputs other than quoted prices included within MBI A BURS
Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liabilities, E AFHEBWABBREER
either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived BEITREBEERPERE (AE
from prices). %) ME BlRBER) S

H oo

(iiiy  Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived (i) IR RFE T B E I
from valuation techniques that include inputs for the AR HEBREWIFUTHEE
asset or liability that are not based on observable MGREBERBIEZEESE
market data (unobservable inputs). B A BUE (TR E 28 A

IR -
Fair value of the Group's financial assets are measured at AEEBCREENRFEAEE
fair value on a recurring basis. BHEENANTERE -
Fair value at
RUATBHHATE
Valuation Significant
Fair value techniques unobservable
Financial assets 31 March 2025 31 March 2024 hierarchy and key inputs inputs
2025% 2024 fhERER IRFUBER
SREE 3A31H 3A31A ATEER TZHAER ZBAEE
HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT THT
Financial assets at FVTPL:
BATEFABGENEREE
— Key management personnel life 5,589 5449 Level2 Quoted redemption N/A
insurance policies F2R value by insurance ok
—TEEBABASRE company
TRER 2 B AR A
BOERE
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(c)

(d)

Fair value measurements of financial instruments
(Continued)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and financial
liabilities that are not measured at fair value on a
recurring basis

The carrying amounts of the Group's financial assets and
financial liabilities carried at amortised cost were not
materially different from their fair values at 31 March 2025
and 2024.

Capital risk management

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities will
be able to continue as a going concern while maximising
the return to shareholders through the optimisation of
the debt and equity balance. The Group's overall strategy
remains unchanged during the reporting period.

The capital structure of the Group consists of total
borrowings and equity attributable to owners of the
Company, comprising share capital, reserves and retained
profits as disclosed in the consolidated financial statements.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure
regularly. The Group considers the cost of capital and the
risks associated with each class of capital, and balance its
overall capital structure through the payment of dividends
and injection of capital.

The following is the gearing ratio at the end of each
reporting period:

5. 2RI A%

(c)

(d)

ETMIENAFEE @)

FEBEEEMBEEL R FETELN
FrEEEHEERETHBEELF
]

AEESRMEERSRAGKRES
85 K A B BR TE (B B R 2025 F
2024 F3 AN AN AT ELES
KER -

EXERER

AEEEBRHEER NHERER
ARELE REEBELER
ST StV S Al SN E &
AEBNERRBENREHEE

B AE M B REAIBE A&
BHNEARBREAERRAR
AEAARGED  EFEER
K HEERREEN -

ARREEEHEHNERRE -
AEBEEEEERNKAR AR
BIEAREBRMER & BIKMY
BERTEFEERBENRE -

UTAEBRERRNEERGL

R

=
2025 2024
2025F 2024 F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Total borrowings (Note (a)) BEFK (3T (@) 14,552 37,190
Total equity (Note (b)) Bz (b)) 90,670 91,697
Gearing ratio BEAMBELHX 16.0% 40.6%
Notes: Bt EE -
(a) Total borrowings represent bank and other borrowings as set out in (a) EEFIEM 28 T IR 1T M B 1
Note 28; and B e
(b) Total equity includes share capital and reserves at the end of each (b) BREDPESRE RO R -

reporting period.
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6. REVENUE Wz
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with REEFENNREDF
customers
2025 2024
2025 F 2024 5F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Type of goods mmEs
Sale of diesel oil and related products: B 4L M MBI 2 oo
Diesel oil SH 340,573 284,891
Marine diesel oil iy P S 3,423 3,714
Lubricant oil BB 1,792 1,375
Total F 345,788 289,980
Timing of revenue recognition W 2 SR Y R
A point in time K 345,788 289,980
Performance obligations for contracts with customers EFEHNERER

Details of performance obligations for contracts with customers

are set out in Note 3.
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7.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The information reported to the directors, who are the chief
operating decision-makers, for the purpose of resource allocation
and assessment of performance does not contain discrete
operating segment financial information and the directors
reviewed the financial results of the Group as a whole. Accordingly,
only entity-wide disclosures, major customers and geographic
information are presented.

Geographical information

The Group's operations are located in Hong Kong during the
years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024. The Group's revenue
from external customers based on the location of customers are
detailed below:

7 EER

BARARRTHERANNES (D
BHEAKE) ERNENLEREE
STHMEEHBHHER  AEEREE
EREMAEE GBS - Al
SHERRERE TEESRLTE
or

B & ¥

HE2025F K 2024 F3 31 HIEFE »
AEBNEBFURNES - AEEEEP
FrfE b 8] 5 2k B SRR % = By Uk &5 1B 10
T

Revenue from
external customers

REIMDEF W=
2025 2024
2025 2024 £
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET AT
Hong Kong BB 345,788 289,980

Information about the Group’s non-current assets is presented
based on the geographical location of the assets are detailed
below:

AEBREEMEMIE D2 EIER
PEEMHEBENFENT

Non-current assets

ERBEE
2025 2024
2025 £ 2024 F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FAT
Hong Kong BB 21,482 25,602
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC") REAREMBE([HE]) 17,748 17,831
39,230 43,433

Non-current assets excluded financial assets at FVTPL.

SEREEET B RA T A ABEN
SRAE -
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7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 7. DEER (&)
Information about major customers EBETEEFMNER
Revenue from customers of both years contributing over 10% of REZMEFE BEFRPERMIAEERAK
the total revenue of the Group are as follows: AR 10% MM ER A
2025 2024
2025 F 2024 4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THETT
Customer A EEA 60,696 N/A 3 F 2
Customer B! ZFB! 36,906 N/AE R 2
Notes: Bt 3T
! Revenue from sale of diesel oil and related products in Hong Kong. ! REEHE SO RABME K E »
2 The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of the total revenue 2 FEFE W 2 N AL A SR B 48 W 55 10% BA | o

of the Group.

8. OTHER INCOME 8. HAWA
2025 2024
2025 2024 F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Bank interest income HRITHAE WA 39 54
Transportation services fee EBRREE 1,686 3,464
Rental income from diesel vehicle KELSHBENHASKA 26 1,060
Rental income from investment property  REIEEWMENTE S A 86 444
Government grants (Note) AT R B (BT 3E) 141 219
Sundry income FETEBA 41 253
2,019 5,494
Note: B 5
There was no unfulfilled condition and other contingencies attached to these % 55 TR 48 Bh 6 A BN 75 A ] R ARV IR (P s B b 3k
government grants. NEME-
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9. OTHER GAINS OR LOSSES

9. HKWHENEE

2025 2024
2025 2024 F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
TET FHET

Unrealised gain on financial assets at BAVEFABRNEREE
FVTPL B3R I 140 152

Loss arising on change in fair value of KEMERNTEEHEENEE

investment property (2,600) (4,800)

Gain on disposal of property, HEME  BERZEEHE
plant and equipment - 5
Exchange loss & X EE (132) (624)
(2,592) (5,267)

10. FINANCE COSTS 10. BEE A

2025 2024
2025 F 2024 5
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FETT
Interest expenses on bank borrowings RITIEFRAF R 1,061 1,123
Interest expenses on other borrowings HAnfE A B H X 529 1,024
1,590 2,147

Fe % (R EEERAR/ —E-_RFFRK
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11.

12.

174

LOSS BEFORE TAXATION

1. BRB AT 18

2025 2024
2025 £ 2024 F
HK$/000 HK$/000
FExT FAT
Loss before taxation has been BB ATEEC R
arrived at after charging/(crediting): (Bt N) FHI&E :
Directors’ emoluments (Note 13) FBEH(FI5E13) 3,582 3,307
Other staff costs: BB TR :
— Salaries and other benefits —HEe REMER 8,216 7,399
— Retirement benefits scheme — RIKEFIFT B K
contributions 319 287
8,535 7,686
Auditors’ remuneration % B4 A & B
— Audit services — ZER 500 600
Cost of inventories sold BEFERA 320,512 265,315
Depreciation of property, plant and M - BB REEITE (FE17)
equipment (Note 17)
— Cost of sales — HEKAR 1,916 2,097
— Administrative expenses — TR 4 68
1,920 2,165
Allowance for ECL on financial assets CRMEERHEEEHEREG
(reversed)/recognised (@), 1R
— Trade receivables — B Sl sIE (2,734) 2,908
— Deposits and other receivables — e R EMEWRIE 3 (93)
— Amount due from an associate — Bl —FEE 2 AR A 112 (194)
(2,619) 2,621
Expenses relating to short-term leases HEMHEEENAY 1,771 3,806
INCOME TAX CREDIT 12. FTBHIER
2025 2024
2025 £ 2024 4F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FExT FATT
Deferred tax (Note 29) PEEFLIE (M FE29) 181 213
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #(ZE 20253 A31 HIEFE

12. INCOME TAX CREDIT (Continued)

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime of Hong Kong
Profits Tax, the first HK$2 million of assessable profits of
qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and assessable
profits above HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. Hong Kong
Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% on the estimated assessable
profit for both years.

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made for
the year ended 31 March 2025 and 2024 as the Group has no
assessable profits arising in Hong Kong or taxable profits were
wholly absorbed by estimated tax losses brought forward.

The income tax credit for the year can be reconciled to the loss
before taxation per the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income as follows:

12.

rEHER &)

RIEE 7B NS 5 8 /R AR B RS 35 R
B AERSEEBNE2EEATLE
aR A g A G 12 8.25% By B R ELEL - T 2
B&EBITIA LB ERE S N A% 16.5%
MR RPN - BENGH R M EFE A
AHERBAE165% 5 -

ARAEEMERNEBEEERTGEF
R EEF AN E 2 AT AR EETH
IH B 18 - O 4 Bt 8 = 2025 F & 2024
FIANBIEFEZHBNESHIELE
& -

FAMGHELEGABEERAME®E
Yeek KR FTSIEORR B AT B R A AR AN TS

2025 2024
2025 & 2024 F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THExT FET
Loss before taxation RRBE AT B 18 (1,006) (8,861)
Tax at domestic income tax rates REMAEHEFENTIE (166) (1,462)
Tax effect of income not taxable for BARBRMANT BT E
tax purpose (24) (28)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for A HIF A MBI 2
tax purpose 478 863
Tax effect of share of results of DIEBME R REENR B E
an associate (20) (152)
Tax effect of deductible temporary RER ARG R EELY
differences not recognised M2 30 497
Utilisation of deductible temporary FRABTFETERRAN
differences previously not recognised AN e R =5 (153) (47)
Tax effect of the tax losses not recognised RIERIHIBEBHNH KT E 14 721
Utilisation of tax losses previously not BRI R RN E R
recognised (340) (605)
Income tax credit for the year FHNAEHE SR (181) (213)

Fe % (R EEERAR/ —E-_RFFRK
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13. DIRECTORS’' EMOLUMENTS 13. EEHM
For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE2025F3A31HLEE
Retirement
Salaries benefits
Directors' and other Discretionary scheme
fees benefits bonuses contributions Total
FeRk EREF
ok HiEF MisTEAL s EIR R @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAL TEL TER TEL TERT
Executive directors HITES
Mr. Fong Chun Man FEXEE - 871 - 18 889
Ms. Lo Pui Yee BERL - 871 - 18 889
Mr. Chan Chi Fai, chief executive officer FREEBE 4
(1TBEH) - 1,143 283 18 1,444
Independent non-executive directors B FH{TES
Mr. Chui Chi Yun, Robert SCnE 120 - - - 120
Mr. Kwong Yuk Lap (resigned on BB AL 5 A (7 2024
10 October 2024) F10A10RET) 63 - - - 63
Dr. Luk Che Chung, JP (appointed on ~ FEFTRE4 -
10 October 2024) At
(7220245
10A10BEET) 57 - - = 57
Mr. Wang Anyuan FRTEE 120 - - - 120
360 2,885 283 54 3,582
For the year ended 31 March 2024 BE2024F3A31HLEE
Retirement
Salaries benefits
Directors’ and other  Discretionary scheme
fees benefits bonuses  contributions Total
Hek BIRER
EEHS H {2 7 miETEa SRR @ar
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT FTAET TAET FTAT FTAET
Executive directors HTES
Mr. Fong Chun Man HEXEE - 799 - 18 817
Ms. Lo Pui Yee SRt - 799 - 18 817
Mr. Chan Chi Fai, chief executive officer BRG#% 4
(fTBEH) - 1,038 257 18 1,313
Independent non-executive directors B FHTES
Mr. Chui Chi Yun, Robert EHCEE 120 - - - 120
Mr. Kwong Yuk Lap BBy LE 120 - - - 120
Mr. Wang Anyuan FTRLEAE 120 - - - 120
360 2,636 257 54 3,307
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #(ZE 20253 A31 HIEFE

13.

14.

DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

The executive directors’ and the chief executive officer’s
emoluments shown above were mainly for their service in
connection with the management of the affairs of the Company
and the Group.

The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown

above were mainly for their services as directors.

The executive directors and the chief executive officer of the
Company are entitled to bonus payments which are determined
based on their duties and responsibilities in the Group.

During the year ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, there was no
arrangement under which a director or the chief executive officer
of the Company waived or agreed to waive any remuneration.

During the year ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, no emoluments
have been paid by the Group to any of the directors or the chief
executive officer as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group as compensation for loss of office.

EMPLOYEES EMOLUMENTS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT EMOLUMENTS

The five highest paid individuals included three (2024: three)
executive directors of the Company for the year ended 31 March
2025, details of whose emoluments are set out above in Note 13.
The aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the remaining
two (2024: two) highest paid employees who are neither a
director nor chief executive of the Company are as follows:

13.

14.

EEHM )

A EPIREITE S AT UL Y 3 BN =
EEABRFREEARARASEER
BRAKIRT o

EXFRBMIFATEENFMEER
BEERESRERERBGHFTM -

RRABRATEZRITREREEZA
A DIRBRERASEZBHELEE
BRE -

HE2025F 202463 A31 B ILEE -
WEANTEEHITRERREXRAE
WETAME 228 -

HE2025F 20243 A31 HILFEE -
NEEBE S A T ERE Sk
TR EBIMASRIIAKRE®%
R EEE) S IE A Bk B (E o

ﬁﬁﬁﬂ&%&%ﬁkéﬁ

HE2025F3A831BItFE > AE&D
FMALTBERRR =4 (20244F : =
B)HNTEE BEFHFBERN LX
FIEE13 c 82 TR (2024 4F : MR) feim
FES GEARBEFHEZITHA
B) M E@EL T

2025 2024
2025 F 2024 £
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHx FH
Salaries and other benefits FrehEMETN 1,444 1,314
Discretionary bonuses B 54T 358 325
Retirement benefits scheme contributions 3R K#&F| 51 2 5% 36 36
1,838 1,675
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14.

15.

178

EMPLOYEES EMOLUMENTS AND SENIOR

1M EEFHMREREBAESR

MANAGEMENT EMOLUMENTS (Continued) B ()
The number of non-director highest paid employees whose HEMBENATHEEANNFEST T I
emoluments fell within the following bands is as follows: B B ABNT -
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
N - AE
Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ % 1,000,000 % 7T 1 2
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7 7T, % 1,500,000% 7T 1 -
2 2

The number of the senior management (excluding directors)

FHBRATHEANSREEAR

whose emoluments fell within the following bands is as follows: (TEEES)AHNOT :
Number of Number of
individual individual
AH AE
Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ % 1,000,000/ 7T - 1
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7T % 1,500,000 % 7T 1 -
1 1

None of the above highest-paid individuals waived or agreed to
waive any emoluments during the year ended 31 March 2025 and
2024.

During the year ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, no emoluments
have been paid by the Group to any of the above highest-paid
individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group as
compensation for loss of office.

DIVIDENDS

The directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend
for the year ended 31 March 2025 (2024: Nil).
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R EEEN S IE BB B (E o
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16. LOSS PER SHARE 16. BREE
The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share RRRHEBEARMERERNREBEER
attributable to owners of the Company is based on the following THRA T EUERETE -
data:
2025 2024
2025 2024 F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Loss BE
Loss for the year attributable to owners of FtETEEREAR L EEER
the Company for the purposes of mE  AREEE A
basic and diluted loss per share JEIEE A E B (825) (8,648)
2025 2024
2025 F 2024 F
‘000 ‘000
T IR T
Number of shares RO E
Weighted average number of ordinary A B EBRERR
shares in issue for the purposes of HEEEmMES -
basic and diluted loss per share BT E B AR E N 8L 137,520 137,520
Diluted loss per share for both years were the same as the basic HAMEFEHRESBITEET R
loss per share as there was no potential ordinary shares in issue EHtmEFEN TR EEIEEGRE
for both years. REHERR
Fe¥ (R KEARAAF/ —_E_RFFR 179
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17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

180

17. ¥ - BERKRE

Leasehold Motor Office
improvement  Oil barges Tug vehicles  equipment Total
BEMREE  KHBM b RE BARE A5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR THR THR THR TR
Cost A
At 1 April 2023 R02BF4A1H 662 18,000 - 10,437 47 29,146
Disposal e - - - (169) - (169)
At 31 March 2024 and RA24F3A318
1 April 2024 R2024%54A1H 662 18,000 - 10,268 47 28977
Addition e - - 400 - - 400
At 31 March 2025 R202553831 A 662 18,000 00 10268 7 93
Accumulated depreciation: R IfE
At 1 April 2023 R2023F4A18 662 5,396 - 9,857 39 15,954
Charge for the year FRTH - 1,800 - 361 4 2,165
Eliminated on disposal R ERH - - - (144) - (144)
At 31 March 2024 and R2024E3R31A
1 April 2024 R2024E4R1H 662 7,196 - 10,074 43 17,975
Charge for the year FRZM - 1,800 10 106 4 1920
At 31 March 2025 M2025%3A31R 662 8,996 10 10,180 47 19,895
Carrying amount; REE:
At 31 March 2025 R2025F3831R - 9,004 390 88 - 9,482
At 31 March 2024 RA24F3A318 - 10,804 - 194 4 11,002

At 31 March 2025, the Group's oil barges with carrying amounts
of HK$9,004,000 (2024: HK$10,804,000) were pledged to secure
the Group's loan facilities. The pledge was released subsequent
to the end of the reporting period.

At 31 March 2024, the Group’s motor vehicles with carrying

amount of HK$194,000 were pledged to secure the Group's bank

borrowings.
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HZE2025F3 8318 AEEEAEEAS
9,004,000 7T (2024 4 : 10,804,000 75
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18. INVESTMENT PROPERTY

18. REYH*

2025 2024
2025 2024 F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TAT
Fair value AEE
At 1 April n4H18 14,600 19,400
Loss arising on change in fair value RERERNDATEEHEELD
recognised in profit or loss B8 (2,600) (4,800)
At 31 March M3 A31H 12,000 14,600
Unrealised loss on change in fair value of & EWMEAFEEZSHELEDN
investment property REIREE (2,600) (4,800)

The Group's investment property has been pledged to secure
the Group's borrowings.

Fair value measurement

The Group's investment property was measured at fair value
at 31 March 2025 and 2024. The valuation was carried out by
an independent qualified professional valuer, International
Valuation Limited (“IVL") which has among its staff members with
appropriate qualifications and recent experience in the locations
and categories of property being valued. The directors have
discussion with IVL on the valuation assumptions and valuation
results when the valuation was performed at the end of each
reporting period.

In estimating the fair value of the investment property, the
highest and best use of the investment property is their current
use.

AEENREYERCHEER  UBER
SEBR -

AFEFE

N5 [ #3527 2025 FF 1 2024 F 3
B3 BRAFEANE - HEIEBYA
BEREEGEMBRERIHBER AR ([HE
DT BTN EEAGEEERK
W EMEREM I KB R AT K
B oERCRESMEGRETHAERRE
Bl mbERERHEER -

W REMEN R FER REWE
MERsk&aEREAERKAE -
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18. INVESTMENT PROPERTY (Continued) 18.

Fair value measurement (Continued)

Fair value measurement of the Group's investment property
located in Hong Kong is categorised into Level 3 fair value
hierarchy. Valuation techniques and inputs used in fair value

measurement are as follow:

BEWME )

DNV ETE(E)

AEBURFBNREWMEN R FER
BEESBREIBPLTFESER A FE
ATEMMAREERM REAZENT

Valuation Relation of significant unobservable
techniques Significant unobservable input inputs to fair value
EXTUEERAYER
B EXTUBEERARE ATENRE
Commercial property Income Capitalisation rate, taking into account the Aslight increase in the capitalisation

located in Hong Kong
UNENEEINSESYES

capitalisation
method
WAE %

capitalisation of rental income potential,
nature of the property, and prevailing
market condition, of 3.9% (2024: 3.3%).
AREREESBAED DERERER
T BALEE39%(2024F :33%) °

Monthly market rent, taking into account
the differences in location, and individual
factors such as location, floor level,
building age, size and conditions of the
properties, at an average of HK$33 (2024:
HK$34) per square foot.

ERINEEZZ NS EE  BE K
NEMERREEREE - 8 ATHHE
ERTFHEFHRRIBET (20245 : 34
B e
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rate used would result in a significant
decrease in fair value, and vice versa.

FEANER L EBEEMEER A TE
KIETFE - RZIFA o

A'significant increase in the monthly
market rent used would result in a
significant increase in fair value, and
vice versa.

FEANEAmEHE NEEMEEHA
FEAELN R2HA -
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19. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE 19. REtE AR ER
2025 2024
2025 2024 F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FH5 FHT
Cost of investment in an associate RE— L DA A 18,507 18,507
Share of post-acquisition loss and other DG UIER BB K Hth 2 EEE
comprehensive loss (765) (682)
Exchange alignment b 5 38 B 6 6
17,748 17,831
Details of the Group's associate at the end of the reporting AEERREHARNBEQGFFBEOT
period are as follows:
Proportion of
ownership interest
Place of Principal place of  and voting power
Name of entity incorporation  business held by the Group Principal activities
AEERANFEREER
BEREH AR FTEEXBE REBERELH TEXH
2025 2024
2025 2024
Jiangxi Xinji Power Technology The PRC The PRC 19.70% 19.70%  Manufacturing, sale and
Company Limited* H i distribution of steel products

("Jiangxi Xinji")
IRHEDHHRRERAF
(NTA#E])

*  For identification purposes only

MERRE HERDH

* EHBT

Fe % (R EEERAR/ —E-_RFFRK
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19. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued) 19. REEE QRN RER (8

EABERNTANMBENBRE
BERAASEERE 2 ARNMEE R
ZHEHINWT - THMBERRELRE
BV BREEA S ENRRBZE R
A RERAIREE -

Summarised financial information of material associate

Summarised financial information in respect of the Group's
material associate is set out below. The summarised financial
information below represents amounts shown in the associate’
financial statements prepared in accordance with HKFRS

Accounting Standards.

Jiangxi Xinji IFHE
2025 2024
2025 & 2024 F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FET FAETT
Non-current assets ERBEE 69,236 72,902
Current assets MENEE 52,085 48,005
Current liabilities ER=NE (31,231) (30,396)
Non-current liabilities EREBARE = -
2025 2024
2025 F 2024 £
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Revenue for the years Fl e 352,897 267,325
Profit for the years FREN 604 4,673
Other comprehensive loss for the years FREMZEEE (1,025) (4,614)

Total comprehensive (loss)/income FARALE(BE) WamiEsH

for the years (421) 59
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19. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued)

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to
the carrying amount of the interest in the associate recognised in

19. REEZE DRI ER (&©)

bR BA S E R B B AR A B IS K P R
REIOHE = A A A e A AR T (B 2 A1 A

the consolidated financial statements: AR -
2025 2024
2025 F 2024 FF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHERT FHET
Net assets of Jiangxi Xinji AFEFERNFEE 90,090 90,511
Proportion of the Group's ownership AEBEMNIEFER
interest in Jiangxi Xinji PRAERERE L 19.7% 19.7%
The Group's share of net assets of REBESETIEFED
Jiangxi Xinji FEE 17,748 17,831
Carrying amount of the Group's REBNIANED
interest in Jiangxi Xinji e r BRE (A 17,748 17,831

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

20.

20. %’A$EE‘U&E§E’9$E&§

2025 2024
2025 2024 F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FET

Key management personnel life insurance E=ZEEE A B ASRE
policy 5,589 5,449

Analysed for reporting purposes as: RERBHONA
Non-current JFERH 5,589 5,449
Fe¥ (R KEARAAF/ —_E_RFFR 185
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20.

21.

186

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued)

The Group entered into life insurance policies with insurance
companies to insure against the death and permanent disability
of executive director. Under the policy, the beneficiary and
policy holder are the Company, Great Wall (International)
QOil Limited ("Great Wall”), a wholly owned subsidiary of
the Company, and the total insured sum is approximately
US$3,150,000 (2024: US$3,150,000) (equivalent to HK$24,570,000
(2024: HK$24,570,000)). The contracts will be terminated on the
occurrence of the earliest of the death of the key management
personnel insured or other terms pursuant to the contracts.
The total insurance premium paid at the inception of the policy
was approximately US$768,000 (2024: US$768,000) (equivalent
to approximately HK$5,990,000 (2024: HK$5,990,000)). The
total initial premium charge paid was approximately US$38,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$309,000). The Group may
request a surrender of the contracts at any time and receive
cash back based on the cash value at the date of withdrawal,
which is determined by the gross premium paid at inception plus
accumulated guaranteed interest earned and minus insurance
premium charged. A guaranteed interest rate for the first five
years ranges from 4.10% to 4.25% per annum applied to the
contracts, followed by the a minimum guaranteed interest rate
of 2% per annum for the following years until termination. The
fair value is based on redemption value quoted by the insurance

20. ERFEFABEENEHE

E &)

AEBERBAREE —MHASRE
RATEETFTHRKABEERR IR
BRE SHARREFBAAEARD
ARARBZENB R R (BEK)
BmARAR ([RHK])  BRFARELY
753,150,000 7T (2024 4F : 3,150,000 3=
7T) (#8572 24,570,0007% 7T (2024 £ -
24,570,000 7)) - & KR Z R E
DEBREEAEGHBABREAGLEM
GFHREMTFALKIE UNEREEES
) c MIREFIARE I NHRBESE
49 /768,000 3 7T (2024 4F : 768,000
7T) (FEE 7 495,990,000 7T (2024 4F :
5,990,000/ 7)) - ENWHIHRREER
4288 %) /5 38,0003 7T (FE & 7 £9.309,000
BIL) c AEB AR ERKER TR
BRREAHRSEERRLRE  AEE
ERERIGHE X THREARBEMNE &
A REHREF BRATHNBRREE T -
BRARAHNE AFREEFENT4.10
EZE425[F B FEAREREST
FlE2B HEKRIEAIE - ATFEER
RANRFTREREENE -

companies.
INVENTORIES 21. 78
2025 2024
2025 F 2024 £
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Finished goods RIS 2,893 1,260
All inventories were stated at the lower of cost and net realisable BT &SR A E ] &5 % E 2 RIK
value. HHER o
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22. TRADE RECEIVABLES 22. EZRRIIE
2025 2024
2025 F 2024 FF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHER TET
Trade receivables B Z IR 77,764 102,975
Less: allowance for ECL, net o FREMEEE IR EIE R (16,030) (18,764)
61,734 84,211
(a) Ageing analysis (@) BRED
The following is an ageing analysis of trade receivables UTRRRERRIZEZAZ
presented based on the invoice date at the end of the 58 E 5 W R IR R e D AT -

reporting periods:

2025 2024
2025 2024 F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Within 30 days 30BA 16,059 27,749
31 to 60 days 31£260H 20,601 12,702
61 to 90 days 61290H 4,049 14,313
91 to 120 days 912120H - 10,174
121 to 150 days 1212 150H 4,626 7,218
Over 150 days B 150 H 32,429 30,819
77,764 102,975
The Group’s average credit term with its customers is, in REBRAZFHFTHEER—
general, 3 days to 150 days. The Group seeks to maintain MA3IEZEIS0A - REB B Y
strict control over its outstanding receivables. Overdue 1 R U5 (5] B JRE LS K TE 4 FF R AR 1
balances are reviewed regularly by senior management. Hl oM SEARREEETH
EE -
(b) ECL assessment on trade receivables by EZEVRRENTAHEEER
B
During the year ended 31 March 2025, a reversal of HZE2025F3ANBILEFE &
allowance for ECL on trade receivables of approximately SEWHREBENTEREEEERE
HK$2,734,000 was recognised to profit or loss (2024: B 8] 492,734,000 78 7T A 18 75 g
allowance for ECL of HK$2,908,000 was recognised). R(2024F - EERFBHAEEEIE

52,908,000 7T ) ©

Details of ECL assessment on trade receivables are set out FHEBZRUFENTEHEES
in Note 5(b). BRHAFIBE K FESD) ©
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23. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER

188

23. ENRE REREMERRK

RECEIVABLES b= |
2025 2024
2025 £ 2024 F
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET AT
Deposits, net of allowance for ECL Re (HIREHEEEERE)

(Note (i) (BFEEG)) 1,261 957
Prepayments (Note (ii)) TR FRIE (BT 5E (i) 1,194 221
Other receivables, net of allowance H b fE U FRIE (0B 78 B

for ECL (Note (iii)) BB EEE) (M i) 57 39

2,512 1,217
Analysed for reporting purposes as: HEBMEBINA
Current mED 2,512 1,217
Notes: B 5E -
(i) Deposits mainly represent rental deposits and utility deposits. (i) BeTEEASEERARBEIES -

At 31 March 2025, an accumulated allowance for ECL on deposits of
approximately HK$20,000 was recognised (2024: HK$17,000).

(if) Prepayments mainly represent prepayment for purchase of diesel oil,

prepaid rent and prepaid insurance.

(iii) At 31 March 2025, an accumulated allowance for ECL on other receivables of
approximately HK$3,650,000 was recognised (2024: HK$3,650,000).

Details of ECL assessment on deposits and other receivables are

set out in Note 5(b).

F8 ENTERPRISES (HOLDINGS) GROUP LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2025

(i)

(iii)

MR2025F3A31H EERZESTEREER
18 25 5 #920,0007% JT (2024 £ : 17,000
BIT) °
BRREEEABELLENTENE - BN
e REMRBE -

R2025F3A31H  BERREMEKKE
®) T8 HA {5 B B 18 2 5T 8 & 49 3,650,000 % 7T
(2024 4 : 3,650,000 L) ©
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24. AMOUNT DUE FROM AN ASSOCIATE

25.

Amount due from an associate is unsecured, non-interest
bearing, and repayable on demand.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, an allowance for ECL on
amount due from an associate of approximately HK$112,000 was
recognised to profit or loss (2024: reversal of allowance for ECL of

24. FEWHE N R FR
UM EDRREAEER 28 RA
BRERE -

HE2025F3A31BIEFE - U
BANRRENTEHEEEBREGBY
112,000 7T (2024 F - %ﬁﬁﬂﬁfﬁéﬂéﬁé

HK$194,000). ##E[B1 194,000 7T) B R iR
Details of ECL assessment on amount due from an associate are JEUG B = R RSB TR Hi(E B S 1B AT
set out in Note 5(b). EdE %ZE/\\WES (b)
PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS/CASH AND BANK 25. EEHHRITER RE KRBT
BALANCES EER
2025 2024
2025 F 2024 F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Pledged bank deposits EHERRITER 6,156 6,122
Cash and bank balances Be RIBITEH 7,607 10,452
13,763 16,574
At 31 March 2025, the Group's cash and bank balances MR2025F 3 A31H @ KEBU AR
denominated in RMB was RMB8,000 (2024: RMB8,000) (equivalent BEMRE RRITHER B ARKS0007T

to HK$9,000 (2024: HK$8,000)). RMB is not a freely convertible
currency in the PRC and the remittance of funds out of the PRC is
subject to the foreign exchange control promulgated imposed by
the government of the PRC. The Group's cash and bank balances
denominated in RMB which are located in Hong Kong are not
subject to the foreign exchange control.

Cash and bank balances comprise cash at bank and cash on hand
held by the Group. Bank balances earn interests at floating rate
based on daily bank deposit rates and is placed with creditworthy
banks with no recent history of default.

The pledged bank deposits were pledged as collateral for bank
facilities and carried interest at a range of 0.25% to 0.50% (2024:
range of 0.25% to 1.00%) per annum.

Fe % (R EEERAR/ —E-_RFFRK

(2024 % : AR#8,0007T) (FHE 79,000
75 7T (2024 4F : 8,000 7T)) - AR
FRVIETERLRNES  BEQE
AR B 8 8 <7 R B BT R A M) SNEE B
fil e REBIUARBEFENR S RIEIT
BERURES  TZINEEFHRR -

R RRTHERERBTERRAEE
FENTFHERE - RITERKRERART
TSN R A F B M R BRERA S - F R
HW B R0 8k B 5B R IFAVERTT o

EEERTEREEBAERTRE
MEFRR WAFFENT02EF
0.50/E (2024 : > F025[EFE1.00E)
E‘#/%\ °
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26. TRADE PAYABLES 26. E5 EARIA

2025 2024

2025 F 2024 4F

HK$’'000 HK$'000

THET FHET

Trade payables B 5 e I8 26,413 29,411

HEBRTHFOEERRZ/BIE0
BeATRARBEHRREZAHZS
HVE 5 e IR AR Bk AT

The average credit term from suppliers is up to 3 to 90 days. The
following is an ageing analysis of trade payables presented based
on the invoice date at the end of the reporting periods:

2025 2024
2025 F 20244

HK$'000 HK$000

FTER FET

Within 30 days 30H A 8,550 11,389
31 to 60 days 31E 608 8,308 6,604
61 to 90 days 61290H 315 3,286
Over 90 days #8390 A 9,240 8,132
26,413 29,411

27. ACCRUALS, OTHER PAYABLES AND 27. BotER - HEARERE
DEPOSITS RECEIVED iz &

2025 2024
2025 & 2024 F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THExT FHETT
Accruals FEETEA 1,304 1,849
Other payables H fth fE AT k1B 630 900
Amount due to a director N —REFHA 2,078 1,622
Deposits received [ e 569 129
Rental and other deposit received EYEe REMRE 96 -
4,677 4,500

Amount due to a director is unsecured, non-interest bearing, and BN—Z2EEFAR/EER RERA

190
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= =
28. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 28. IRITRHMAERK
2025 2024
2025 F 2024 5
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FET
Secured bank borrowings (Note (i) B RIR T E R (M EEG) 12,513 26,840
Secured other borrowings (Note (ii)) B E A 30 (5 (i) 2,039 10,350
14,552 37,190
The carrying amounts of borrowings that A & 2 KEZ KRN ER
contain a repayment on demand clause (BFMERBAE) MEREE -
(shown under current liabilities) but AN TIEIEER
repayable:
Within one year —F R 5,339 21,432
Within a period of more than one year but —%F A E{E B EMF
not exceeding two years 3,329 6,519
Within a period of more than two years but M4 A RN E 7 F
not exceeding five years 3,039 5,301
Within a period of more than five years AFMNRE 2,845 3,938
14,552 37,190
Notes: BT
(i) At 31 March 2025, term loan of HK$4,750,000 (2024: HK$7,125,000) is interest (i) M2025%63A8318  EHE 554,750,000?5
bearing at 1.5% per annum above 1-month HIBOR, secured by investment 7C (20244 :7,125,0008 7T) & — {0 A &&
property and pledged bank deposits of the Group, guaranteed by the RITEIEFBINEFEISEE S - AL
Company and maturing in March 2027. At 31 March 2025, the effective EREYELERBBITFERIERF AR
interest rate of the term loan was 5.46% (2024: 5.98%) per annum. A RIELR > 182027 4 3 A ZHA o A 20254 3
A3H EHEXNERFN X RB546E
(20244 : 5.98[F) °
At 31 March 2025, term loan of HK$7,763,000 (2024: HK$8,645,000) is interest M2025%3A8318 - EHE %&7,763,0007?5
bearing at 3.00% (2024: 3.63%) per annum, guaranteed by the HKMC 7T (20244 : 8,645,0007% 7r,) 42 4F 7l % 3.00
Insurance Limited and Mr. Fong Chun Man and maturing in October 2032. [E (2024 : 3.63[E) 5t B - AEBILERBRA
i%élﬁﬁ K5 & X e EYER - 2032410 A
EA e
At 31 March 2024, invoice discounting facilities of HK$10,506,000 are interest " 2024 5 37)13 1H ’/7% ZahEmE
bearing at 1.5% per annum above HIBOR for a period equal in length to the 10,506,000 78 7T 12 Z /8 R 17 [F 5 4 £ 00 < 7
loan period, secured by investment property and pledged bank deposits of EKI1S5ELE - FHEE RIS UARE
the Group, guaranteed by the Company andymaturing within four months. At BB ERBERBROIFRIEERR - BAA
31 March 2024, the effective interest rate of the invoice discounting facilities NEFER N E A R o 102024 5 3 A
ranged from 6.18% to 6.85% per annum. B BRMHBMENERFN XN TF6.18
EZE685E
At 31 March 2024, installment loans of HK$518,000 are interest bearing at E§2024¢3ﬂ 31H 5 HIE 55180007 7T
2.25% per annum, guaranteed by Mr. Fong Chun Man, secured by motor BEME225E B -\ AT EERE
vehicles of the Group and matured in July 2024. %E"EBI/HL RNEBEHTBEEEIT - R 20245F7
FH o
At 31 March 2024, installment loan of HK$46,000 is interest bearing at 2.00% R202443 A 31 H - 55 BB 7R46,000/8 T2
per annum, guaranteed by Mr. Fong Chun Man, secured by motor vehicle of FERE200E5 B BT EXFEERR I
the Group and matured in June 2024. AZRE BT BRI - 702024 6 AFIER
(ii) At 31 March 2025, installment loan of HK$2,039,000 (2024: HK$4,594,000) is (i) 202593 4318 R 5 H 32,039,000 78
interest bearing at 1% per annum above HK$ prime rate as determined by 7L (2024 : 4,594,00078 7T ) 2 & A E E
the lender, guaranteed by the Company, Mr. Fong Chun Man and HKMC BTHEENRMENEIEFE - AR
Insurance Limited and maturing in December 2025. At 31 March 2025, the Al HEXEEREBLZBRBERRAR
effective interest rate of the installment loan was 6.75% (2024: 7.38%) per EER 54‘2025551 A F| 848 - 72 20254F 3
annum. A3H  DHEFNEREFNER6TSE
(20244 : 7.38[F) °
At 31 March 2024, installment loans of HK$5,756,000 are interest bearing 7220243 A 31 8 5 8 B 5 495,756,000
at 1% per annum above HK$ prime rate as determined by the lender, BITIRE R AEE OB TR EEF X NF
guaranteed by a subsidiary of the Company, secured by oil éarges of the P E S mARE—RKBRRER -
Group and maturing in June 2025. At 31 March 2024, the effective interest S LA 7K 55 [ A 52 0 B /R SR K 20254
rate of the installment loan was 7.38% per annum. The Group has fully repaid 6 AFIH - 7202493 A31H - 7 HIE KA
the installment loans during the year ended 31 March 2025. BFREF MR I7.38[E o AL EE N EZ 2025
FIANBIUEFEZHEEDBHENR -
Fet¥ (BER)EBMBERAR/ T _AFFH 191
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29.

30.

192

DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

29. EEBIBEEE

The followings are the major deferred tax balances recognised LATR B8 220254 K& 2024 F 3 A 31
and movements thereon during the years ended 31 March 2025 HIEFERRNFEREHIBERLE
and 2024: 2

Accelerated

tax

depreciation

R IE T

HK$'000

FET

As 1 April 2023 M2023F4A1H 1,238
Credited to profit or loss AR (213)
As at 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 20243 A31 B R2024F4 A1 H 1,025
Credited to profit or loss SFAER (181)
At 31 March 2025 R2025%3A31H 844
At 31 March 2025, the Group has unused tax losses of 2025 3A31H  ASEHAXAEFHA
approximately HK$43,082,000 (2024: HK$45,055,000) available T T8 J&5 18 49 43,082,000 7T (2024 4F ¢
for offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset has been 45,055,000/ 7T) A L4 85 R 210% K © B
recognised due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. PR TEOR R HOR MR - 81 S\ RERR

The tax losses may be carried forward indefinitely.

EREHIREE - HAREAERNES -

SHARE CAPITAL 30. A
Number of
Share HK$'000
R EE THExT
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each BREEO0.1E T (2024 F :
(2024: HK$0.1 each) SREEI BT NEEBR
Authorised: EIE
At 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2025 M2024%3A318K
20253 H31H 200,000,000 20,000
Issued and fully paid: ERITRAE:
At 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2025 MR2024%F3HA318 K
20253 H31H 137,520,190 13,752
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THE COMPANY

31. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

31. AR A BRI T

2025 2024
2025 £ 2024 4F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Nz FHE T FATT
Non-current assets FRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RBRRIZIEE - -
Property, plant and equipment ME - BE R 9,394 10,804
9,394 10,804
Current assets RBEE
Prepayment, deposits and other FENRIE - e &M
receivables H th & W KA 87 108
Amounts due from subsidiaries JRE ML Bf /B8 2 B R IE 12,855 16,392
Cash and bank balances He RIBITA 178 93
13,120 16,593
Current liabilities RBER
Accruals and other payables FERTE A M E MR FRIR 2,151 3,054
Other borrowings Hip g - 5,756
Amount due to a subsidiary &t —FE B B A B Fk A 3,876 -
6,027 8,810
Net current assets REBEEZFE 7,093 7,783
Total asset less current liabilities EE#ABERTBAERE 16,487 18,587
Non-current liabilities FEREBEE
Deferred tax liabilities EEIERE 844 1,025
Net assets EEFE 15,643 17,562
Capital and reserves BEARRFE
Share capital [ 30 13,752 13,752
Reserves B 32 1,891 3,810
Total equity wmrEs 15,643 17,562

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on

27 June 2025 and signed on its behalf by:

Fong Chun Man

FEX

Executive Director

HITEF

DR20255F6 27 BEESSHE N F
BETEN - WA THEERREE

Lo Pui Yee

Executive Director

HITEF

Fe % (R EEERAR/ —E-_RFFRK
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32. RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

194

32. AR A

Share  Accumulated

premium losses Total

IR % 8 Rt EE #at

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FHET FET

At 1 April 2023 M2023F4H1H 83,070 (76,650) 6,420
Loss and total comprehensive loss F R E 18 Kk 2 HEE

for the year 1R - (2,610) (2,610)
At 31 March 2024 and MR2024F3 318K

1 April 2024 2024 F 4 A1 H 83,070 (79,260) 3,810
Loss and total comprehensive loss FREE R HEE

for the year 4 RE - (1,219 (1,919

At 31 March 2025 7202563 A31H 83,070 (81,179) 1,891

At 31 March 2025, the Company had distributable reserves
of HK$1,891,000 (2024: HK$3,810,000) in accordance with the
Companies Law, Chapter 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and
revised) of the Cayman Islands.

F8 ENTERPRISES (HOLDINGS) GROUP LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2025
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ERE22F (1961 F I EM - K45 E
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33. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 33. XEHBA A
Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at the end of the RBERR - ARRNEZEWEB R A
reporting period are as follows: BT

Proportion of

Place and Principal Issued and  ownership interest and
date of place of paid up capital or  voting power held by the
Name of subsidiary incorporation operations  registered capital Group Principle activities
E ERTRAR AEEFANMARE
KB AR A AEMBIBHR AR X EXGEMES BERRERELH TEEH
2025 2024
20255 2024 F
% %
Great Wall Hong Kong, Hong Kong HK$1 100 100  Sale and transportation of
22 December 2005 diesel oil and related
products
=271 BB BB 18T SR EEEREE
200512 5228 LEg
Eastern Champion Hong Kong, Hong Kong HK$1 100 100 Property investment
Investment Limited 26 May 2021
Bk 0 1B MERE
20215 A 26H
The above subsidiaries are indirectly held by the Company. FMERARBEARRHEERS -
None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding at REXR BEMNBATEEMKREEN
the end of the year. B ES -
The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group, which, in the LRI EERREIEFELREEES
opinion of the directors, principally affected the results or assets LEENAEENBAR - EERE
of the Group. To give detail of other subsidiaries would, in the REEMHBERFNFEELEN TR -

opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive lengths.

Fe % (R EEERAR/ —E-_RFFRK 195
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34.

35.

196

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefits scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under
the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance.
Under the MPF Scheme, employees are required to contribute 5%
of their monthly salaries or up to a maximum of HK$1,500 (2024:
HK$1,500) and they can choose to make additional contributions.
Employers’ monthly contributions are calculated at 5% of the
employee’s monthly salaries or up to a maximum of HK$1,500
(2024: HK$1,500) (the “mandatory contributions”). Employees are
entitled to 100% of the employer’s mandatory contributions upon
their retirement at the age of 65, death or total incapacity.

The retirement benefits scheme contributions arising from the
MPF Scheme charged to the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income represent contributions
paid or payable to the funds by the Group at rates specified in
the rules of the schemes.

At 31 March 2025 and 2024, there was no forfeited contribution
under any defined contribution schemes available which may be
used by the Group to reduce the existing level of contributions,
nor any contribution under any defined contribution schemes was
forfeited by the Group for both years.

The contributions paid and payable to the schemes by the Group
are disclosed in Note 11.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme on 23 March 2017
(the “Share Option Scheme”). The Share Option Scheme became
effective on the date of the Company’s listing (12 April 2018) and,
unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in force for
ten years from that date.

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to attract and retain
the best available personnel, to provide additional incentive
to employees (full-time and part-time), directors, consultants,
advisers, distributors, contractors, suppliers, agents, customers,
business partners or service providers of the Group and to
promote the success of the business of the Group.
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34. BIRERFHE

35.

AEBBEARFNMELTESEEHZ
Y-ETHEER B EAES R
BREE ([RERFTE]) - BRIERES
E - REBEMEEZ AHHR%
Bt FEE A 1,500% 7T (2024 £ ¢ 1,500
B HEI A EEBELEIMEE
BEZBARZIDIEEBEEE AH%
FE - R REE A1,50008 5T (2024
F 1,500 L) ([aslftsx])) - BB
5FRIEIR - s e 2 8 Ak T 1EAE

B AT 2ZEEUEE AEEH 2586l ¢

Eo
A °

RiFE B MEM2E R ERINRA R
RSB EL R IRER T & R IE AR
SRR ERATANLERESEN
T B K -

20259 K 20243 431 H - #EET[
TEREEFGETE TR QU AT (AR
B AERLDIBERHIOKE  RWREFE
TS W AT A] 78RR AR BT 81 T A (1t

Eo
A °

REE A RN S R E R M
11

BB IR M T &

ARARBER2017F3 A 238 FRMN—1A
BT 8) ([BEARAERTE)) - BERR T
BRALNT ETHE(2018F 48 128)
R BRIESERBEIERT  BRIEE
ZHBETTFRN—EER -

EREASEERI RBRERESH
AR -RAAXREEES (2BEFRE) &
EBAA BB DWHE - AERE
HER - K2 TP BEEHRRS
HEBRERIEZB AR EDAEEZE
TSI H A -
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35. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The basis of eligibility of any participant to the grant of any
option shall be determined by the board (or as the case may
be, including, where required under the GEM Listing Rules, the
independent non-executive directors) from time to time on the
basis of the participant’s contribution or potential contribution to
the development and growth of the Group.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all options granted and to be granted under the
Share Option Scheme is 8,000,000 shares (or such number of
shares as may result from a subdivision or consolidation of such
8,000,000 shares from time to time), representing 10% of the
shares of the Company in issue as at the date of adoption of
the Share Option Scheme and after share consolidation of the
Company on 29 June 2022. The maximum number of share
issuable under share options granted to each eligible participant
in the Share Option Scheme (including both exercised and
outstanding options) within any 12-month period is limited to
1% of the shares of the Company in issue. Any grant or further
grant of share options in excess of this limit must be separately
approved by shareholders in general meeting. Any grant of share
options under the Share Option Scheme to a director, chief
executive or substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any
of their associates, must be approved by the independent non-
executive directors (excluding any independent non-executive
director who is the grantee of the option). In addition, any share
options granted to a substantial shareholder or an independent
non-executive director of the Company, or to any of their
associates, which would result in the total number of share issues
and to be issued, upon exercise of all options already granted
and to be granted (including options exercised, cancelled and
outstanding), to such person under the Share Option Scheme
and any other share option schemes of the Company to such
person in any 12-month period up to and including the date of
the grant in aggregate over 0.1% of the shares of the Company in
issue and with an aggregate value (based on the closing price of
the Company'’s share at the date of each grant) in excess of HK$5
million, such further grant of options is required to be approved
by shareholders of the Company at a general meeting of the
Company, with voting to be taken by way of poll.

35. BIRAERTEl(2)

E=xg (BBERME (fMGEM LR Al
E3K) > RBREBILIIFRTES) AT
RIEZ2EEHAEEBRIIERAEL
K AT RE VR B B BUR TE X LA fB AL
M2 EEEE -

AITERBEERETZRE RS TREY
R EEREmA] FTEITHRMEE £
R /8,000,000 f% (% T 2 #r 3k & O 7%
£ 8,000,000 Bz f& 170 Al RE EE E MV B B I (9
HEB)  (HRERER B B &R 2022
FOABARBBRMEHEBEARARAE
BEITIRD A 10% » I 1218 B AR
BEAENBREERI2EERTNE
B (B IEEITE R M AR TTE A B IR E)
Fri# R ey a] FETRDEE LR AAR
AT BITRMDNI% - R B #E— %
AR IA I PR A B AR i 7B B R SR PO AR R
AREeLEBHE -RMARTEE 17K
AEREBRENRFEOTMBHE AR
HEERR RSB T BB IR AR B L IEH
TEE(TREAS BBEREARAD
ERBULIENITES) #EE o Lo @)
TERRRNBUIERTESREESB
B 1T {) B B2 A HH 1) B AR T 2B B A
HERTHH (8FE%E) EER12E
BEREIA - bt A £ RITER K B AR
FTEIRA QR AW EMBRETEDE
BREBTFTERNEZIBERE (RIEETT
- B RN ARITEERE) fWm
EATBITRETEITNRDEHRE
HEBBAQAREBETRMHA0.1% : & (1R
BRONSBHHABBUTENE) BE
MBS E&B I BIREINE L EREA
BRBERRRBERERAS EUEERR
FORHLE -
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35.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The offer for the grant of share option must be accepted within
seven days inclusive of the day on which such offer was made.
The amount payable by the grantee of an option to the Company
on acceptance of the offeror the grant of an option is HK$1. An
option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the
Share Option Scheme at any time during a period as the Board
may determine which shall not exceed 10 years from the date of
grant subject to provision of early termination thereof. There is
no requirement of a minimum period for which an option must
be held before it can be exercised. The subscription price of a
Share in respect of any particular option granted under the Share
Option Scheme shall be a price solely determined by the board
and notified to a participant and shall be at least the higher of: (i)
the closing price of the shares as started in the Stock Exchange's
daily quotations sheet on the ate of grant of the option, which
must be a business day; (ii) the average closing prices of the
Shares as stared in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets
for the five business days immediately preceding the date of
grant of the option; and (iii) the nominal value of a Share on the
date of grant of the option.

At 31 March 2025 and 2024, there was no outstanding share
options under any share option scheme. No share option was

granted, exercised, lapsed, expired or cancelled during the years
ended 31 March 2025 and 2024.
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35. B AERTEl (2

BHBERENENRMELEREDR
H (B¥h% B) B B REM - BAE
RN B B A B 0 B L A A0 P S
MARAZMIET - EEATRES
A BEEE MM - BER AR IBIE A AT
IR TT R IR - T EM G
BE G AR TF YR ABREARL
IERSCPrARRR - R0 I 4 A A RE A i J&
TTEANEDFHERORE - REBR
RERT B e (A4 TE B IR WO B 1 7R
BEREFeIRETLANZEE
BABERTIREE « () RERER
HABWMEREXR) RBRME AR
BRARAOBDEHE : (IREZBER
BELAMMAEESXBEBIAER
WERAROB FHUTE K
REERER L AR EE

720254 K 2024F3 531 H - B
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36. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 36. EXBB AR S

Save as disclosed in elsewhere in the consolidated financial BRar & B 75 ¥R 3% E i 75 P d BR & O
statements, the Group had also entered into the following RERRE - AEB I A TNEKE
material related party transactions during the reporting period: BHRS
(a) Related party transactions (a) BBERS
2025 2024
2025 2024 F
Name of party Nature of transaction HK$'000 HK$'000
ezl pag REME FET TAT
Jet Good Limited ("Jet Good”) (Note) Rental expenses 315 664
H=ARAA(E=Z ) (M) eMY
Gain on disposal of property,
plant and equipment - 5
HEME - WE RN
(b) Related party balances (b) PRBEETS 48R
2025 2024
2025 F 2024 £
Name of party Nature of balance HK$'000 HK$'000
B 28 EHRME FET TAT
Jet Good (Note) Prepayments 374 132
= (Misk) AR FIE
Deposits 442 437
g

Note: Mr. Fong Chun Man, an executive director and ultimate controlling
shareholder of the Company, has beneficial interests in Jet Good.
Hence, Jet Good is related company and connected entity of the
Company under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

For the transactions constitute connected transactions
under the GEM Listing Rules, please refer to the sections
headed "Connected Transactions and Continuing
Connected Transactions” under the “Report of the Board
of Directors”.

MEeE -

B

52

ARBRITEERERELZEBRBERT
EXEERYTHEE DT - B
It RIEGEM E TR BIE20% - 8
TRANTMBEB AR L EBERE -

FLGEM £ T8 A T8 T 1B A B
SRS BLHEEER

SIETIHERXRGRBEBER
Z]—8e

Fe % (R EEERAR/ —E-_RFFRK 199



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M RRMNE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #(ZE 20253 31 HIEFE

36. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

37.

200

(c)

(d)

Personal guarantee and securities provided by key
management personnel

At 31 March 2025 and 2024, Mr. Fong Chun Man, an
executive director of the Company, provides personal
guarantee and life insurance policy of insured sum
amounted to US$2,600,000 which Mr. Fong Chun Man is
the insured person as securities for loan facilities granted to
the Group.

Compensation of key management personnel

The directors of the Company and senior management are
identified as key management personnel of the Group and
their remunerations during the reporting period are set out
in Notes 13 and 14.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

Assets with the following carrying amounts have been pledged to

6. EXEBERS (&)

(c)

(d)

37.

HEIEEEBASRMENEALE
R & 3K

2025 20243 A31H K
NEMITES HEEERHEME
AR MR % & 2,600,000 % 7T B
AERE (FEXEERZRA) -
EAARSEEERENRE TR -

FTEEBABNHE
ARREERGRERERET
RAEENTIEZERAR  KF
R EHENFHERNMEI3R
14 ©

EERHA

ERATREEEEFER  UERA

secure the loan facilities of the Group as follow: EEERFE R
2025 2024
2025 F 2024 4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FET
Financial assets at FVTPL BRAFEGFAERNEREE
— Key management personnel life —FEEBABATRE
insurance policy 4,677 4,564
Investment property WEMHE 12,000 14,600
Pledged bank deposits EEARITIER 6,156 6,122
Motor vehicles TE - 194
Oil barges (Note) S B A (P =E) 9,004 10,804
31,837 36,284

Note:

The pledge of oil barges was released subsequent to the end of reporting
period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #(ZE 20253 A31 HIEFE

38. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 38. IETEETELBENHIER

FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Bank and
other
borrowings
RITREA
B
HK$'000
FET
At 1 April 2023 20234 A1 1 45,589
Changes from financing cash flows: REBMERERENED
Proceeds from bank and other borrowings RIT R E A IE RIS 3KIR 16,700
Repayment of bank and other borrowings BEFITREMMERK (25,099)
Interest paid BFE (2,147)
Total changes in financing cash flows MERSREEE A (10,546)
Other changes: HibhEE) -
Interest expenses MERX 2,147
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 2024 F3 A31H K
20244 A1H 37,190
Changes from financing cash flows: REMERERENZE :
Proceeds from bank and other borrowings R1T R H A TP 1S R 12,676
Repayment of bank and other borrowings EBEBITMNEMER (35,732)
Interest paid BFE (1,172)
Total changes in financing cash flows MERSREL IR (24,228)
Other changes: HmmEs)
Interest expenses FERZ 1,590
At 31 March 2025 M2025F3H31H 14,552
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #(ZE 20253 31 HIEFE

39.

40.

202

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 22 May 2025, Great Wall , an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, as the creditor, and a debtor entered into a
settlement agreement, pursuant to which, Great Wall agreed
to acquire and the debtor agreed to transfer a machine to
Great Wall for a consideration of HK$1,100,000. Pursuant to the
settlement agreement, the consideration shall be set off against
receivables owed by the debtor to Great Wall which amounted
to approximately HK$1,200,000. The remaining balance of
the receivables amounted to approximately HK$100,000 shall
be waived by Great Wall. The acquisition of the machine
was completed upon signing of the settlement agreement.
Thereafter, ownership of the machine was transferred to Great
Wall and the receivables was deemed to be settled in full.

Upon completion of the aforesaid acquisition, Great Wall, as
the vendor, and a purchaser, entered into the sale and purchase
agreement, pursuant to which, Great Wall agreed to sell and
the purchaser agreed to purchase the machine acquired in the
aforesaid acquisition for a consideration of HK$1,100,000. The
disposal of the machine was completed upon signing of the sale
and purchase agreement.

AUTHORISATION FOR ISSUE OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENT

The consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 27 June 2025.
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Financial Summary

MBHE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #(ZE 20253 A31 HIEFE

RESULT

”

For the year ended 31 March
BE3A3MALEE

2021 2022 2023 2024 2025
2021 F 20224 20234 20244 2025
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FETT FET FETT FETT FHER
(Restated)
(FZE51))
Continuing operations RERKEEK
Revenue Wz 357,753 357,471 429,940 289,980 = 345,788
Cost of sales HE MR (332,420)  (352,579)  (413,699)  (275,705) (328,417)
Gross profit EH 25,333 4,892 16,241 14,275 17,371
Profit/(loss) for the year from RERBEGEEBTN
continuing operations FREF(BE) 7,592 (39,257) (4,837) (8,648) (825)
Discontinued operations BRILREEL
(Loss)/profit for the year from REBKRIEEEEBRD
discontinued operations FR(EE),ar (2,133) 7,370 - - -
Profit/(loss) for the year FriH (B 5459 (31,887)  (4837)  (8,648) (825)
Attributable to TH AL
Owners of the Company ZI/NECIEZZ =N 6,387 (31,217) (4,837) (8,648) (825)
Non-controlling interests IR (928) (670) - - -
Profit/(loss) for the year FRHA/(FHB) 5,459 (31,887) (4,837) (8,648) (825)

Fe % (R EEERAR/ —E-_RFFRK
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Financial Summary

MBHRE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #(ZE 20253 31 HIEFE

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE

At 31 March

W3 A31H
2021 2022 2023 2024 2025
20214 2022 5 20235 2024 20254
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$000 HK$'000
FHBT T T T FRET

Non-current asset EREBEE 59,896 49,722 55,708 48,882 44,819
Current assets MEEE 154,726 131,411 128960 114,941 92,337
Non-current liabilities ERBEE 561 468 1,238 1,025 844
Current liabilities mEAE 82,023 85,295 82,176 71,101 45,642
Net current assets MEEEFE 72,703 46,116 46,784 43,840 46,695
Net assets BEFE 132,038 95,370 101,254 91,697 90,670

The summary above does not form part of the audited consolidated — _EAUBEE B EEZAR G M HEIRERA—7D
financial statements.

Such summary was prepared as if the current structure of the ARABIEHVEREIBIIAEERITRENZ
Group had been in existence throughout these financial years and ~ FHRFECDFH - WIRER S M BFREKM TS
is presented on the basis as set out in Note 3 to the consolidated ~ FTEEVEEZ7 -

financial statements.
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